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CORPORATE CHART

£ B8 R B
AT 24TH JUNE, 2011 R-E——F A _+0H

ITC Corporation Limited

BHRERSEBTRLF

(372-HKSE &

)

(1189-HKSE & BB 2 AT )

61%

Paul Y.
Engineering
Group Limited
REZEEE
BRARFA]

(577-HKSE & BB FT )

Hong Kong listed &% £
Overseas listed 584 £

(Stock code - Listing place B85 — Lt 7)

(199-HKSE & B2 7 )

15% 26% 24% 21%
Rosedale PYI ITC Burcon
Hotel Corporation Properties NutraScience
Holdings Limited Group Corporation
Limited RELH Limited (BU-TSX)
S AR A R EEE Srams e
b Hﬁﬁ RG] (498-HKSE Z B2 Ff7 ) ﬁ BT
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ITC Corporation Limited

BHLRKREBTRLF

(372-HKSE & 852 F )

15% 26% 24%
Rosedale PYI ITC
Hotel Corporation Properties
Holdings Limited Group
Limited REELEE Limited
A ARA R EEE
PR A R AT (498-HKSE & #8227 ) BRAT
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Engineering
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(Stock code - Listing place B85 — Lt )
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
TRBEZF

~ HARVEST 4% {
et O

SHARING

¢ DELIVER VALUE |

| am pleased to present to shareholders the annual report of ITC
Corporation Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
"Group”) for the year ended 31st March, 2011.

BUSINESS REVIEW

"The Distribution of Hanny Shares Represents
a Significant Return to Our Shareholders.”

For the year ended 31st March, 2011, the Group reported a loss
of HK$593 million atftributable to owners (2010: loss HK$6 million).
The current year’s loss was mainly due to a non-cash loss of
HK$830 million arising from the distribution of Hanny Holdings
Limited ("Hanny") shares to the shareholders. Without such non-
cash loss, the Group would have achieved a profit of HK$237
million for the year. Such improvement was due to the increase
in profit aftributable to the Group’s strategic investments.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
TRBEE

Analysis of the Group’s performance is as follows:

i % % M A R A H

AEBRRZOMWAT -

2011 2010
HKS$'M HKS'M
—E——-F —E-FF
BEET H&E8T
Profit (loss) attributable to strategic BRARRIEREZ
investments: A (E51E)
Hanny 57 (19) @1
ITC Properties R E 140 8
PYI REE 54 40
Rosedale e 101 (84)
Burcon Burcon (10) 11
266 (46)
Net (loss) gain from other investments HiiRE R EEB 2
and operations (E518) W 558 (29) 40
Profit (loss) before distribution DIRADE N (E8) 237 ©)
Loss on distribution of Hanny shares Ik 38 ELR% D T A% R
to shareholders < 18 (830) -
Loss attributable to owners WA AEILEE (593) ©)
Distribution of Hanny Shares to Shareholders ZIREE G T RE
In order to reward the shareholders, the board of directors of AOERE AR rEsse((EFg]) RFERE

the Company (the "Board”) recommended the distribution of
9.3 Hanny shares to them for their holding of every 10 shares
of the Company (the "Distribution”). The Distribution was
approved by the shareholders in September 2010 and was
completed in November 2010. The value of the Group’s Hanny
shares distributed was HK$1,161 million and was being equity-
accounted at its net asset value prior to the Distribution. As
the accounting rules require the Distribution to be recognised
in accordance with the market price of Hanny shares as at
the date of Distribution and Hanny shares were frading at a
deep discount to the underlying asset value at that fime, the
aforementioned non-cash loss of HK$830 million was recorded.

The Distribution has transformed the underlying value of the
Group’s sfrategic investments into shareholder value and
successfully unlocked value for the shareholders by allowing
them to directly participate in Hanny's growth prospects, adding
liquidity to their interests as well as providing them with the
flexibility to gain direct control over their interests in Hanny.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
TRBEE

The Distribution included those Hanny shares received by the
Group in November 2010 as a result of the Group’s acceptance
of Hanny's offer to repurchase its 2% convertible notes due
in June 2011 (the "Hanny Notes”) satfisfied by the issuance
of Hanny shares at HKS$0.50 per share. The Group accepted
Hanny's repurchase offer for its entire holding of Hanny Notes in
an aggregate principal amount of HK$231 million, out of which
Hanny Nofes in an aggregate principal amount of HK$42 million
was acquired by the Group at a discounted consideration of
HK$31 million in April 2010.

The Group ceased to share the results of Hanny on the date of
approval of the Distribution in September 2010. Accordingly, the
HK$19 million loss from Hanny represented the Group’s share
of Hanny's loss from the beginning of the financial year up fo
September 2010. Following the completion of the Distribution in
November 2010, the Group'’s interest in Hanny dropped to 0.1%.

LISTED STRATEGIC INVESTMENTS

ITC Properties Group Limited ("ITC Properties”)

ITC Properties is principally engaged in property development
and investment in Macau, Mainland China and Hong Kong,
golf resort and leisure operations in Mainland China, securities
investment and loan financing services.

In November 2010, the Group acquired from Hanny group the
entire holding of about 76 million shares of ITC Properties at
a consideration of HK$176 million pursuant to an agreement
made in September 2010. Such acquisition represented 13.5%
shareholding interest of ITC Properties as at the date of the
aforesaid agreement, after which the Group further acquired
an aggregate of about 21 million shares of ITC Properties on
the open market at an aggregate consideration of HK$46
million. Due to the aforesaid acquisitions and placement by ITC
Properties of its 94 million new shares in June 2010, the Group’s
interest in ITC Properties increased from 7.8% to 24.7% during the
year.

In March 2011, the Group accepted the convertible note
repurchase offer of ITC Properties in the aggregate principal
amount of HK$64 million held by the Group. As a result, the
Group received a new convertible note issued by ITC Properties
in the principal amount of HK$70.4 million as the consideration
for the repurchase offer.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
TRBEE

ITC Properties recorded a profit of HK$80 million attributable
to its owners for the year ended 31st March, 2011, compared
with a profit of HK$103 million last year. Current year’'s profit
mainly comprised the increase in fair value of its investment
properties in Hong Kong attributable to the robust performance
of property market and the compensation from cancellation of
land acquisition at Henggin, Zhuhai of Mainland China. During
the year, since the Group acquired shares of ITC Properties from
Hanny and on the open market, the Group recorded a gain of
HK$155 million. Such gain was offset by a loss of HK$15 million on
the dilutive effects from the 94 million new share placement of
ITC Properties in June 2010.

Paul Y. Engineering Group Limited ("Paul Y. Engineering”)

Paul Y. Engineering is an intfernational engineering and property
services group with three core business functions: management
contracting, property development management and property
investment in Hong Kong, Macau and Mainland China. It
serves a wide spectrum of distinguished clients, including the
government and major enterprises.

PYI Corporation Limited ("PYI")

Based in Hong Kong, PYI focuses on infrastructure investment in,
and the operation of, bulk cargo ports and logistics facilities in
the Yangtze River region of Mainland China. It also engages in
land and property development in association with port facilities.
In addition, PYl provides comprehensive engineering and
property-related services through Paul Y. Engineering.

During the year under review, the Group’s inferests in PYI
remained unchanged at 26.7%. PYl recorded a profit attributable
to its owners of HK$200 million for the year ended 31st March,
2011 compared with HK$149 million last year. The improved
result was mainly attributable to the contribution from Jiangyin
Sunan International Container Terminal of HK$90 million (2010:
Nil) resulting from the bargain purchase by PYI for its additional
15% interest from 25% to 40% and confinuous cost control
measures during the year. As a result, the profit contributed by
PYl increased from HK$40 million to HK$54 million.

Rosedale Hotel Holdings Limited ("Rosedale”)

Rosedale is principally engaged in hotel operation in Mainland
China and Hong Kong and also frading of securities. Rosedale
is managing a 4-star business hotel chain in Mainland China
and Hong Kong, namely Rosedale on the Park, Rosedale Hotel &
Suites, Beijing, Rosedale Hotel & Suites, Guangzhou, Times Plaza
Hotel, Shenyang and Luoyang Golden Gulf Hotel. In addition,
Rosedale is running a budget hotel chain under the brand name
“Square Inn” in Mainland China.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
TRBEE

During the period from May to July 2010, the Group acquired
an aggregate of 26 million shares of Rosedale on the open
market at a total consideration of HK$16 million with an aim
to take advantage of the potential up-side from Rosedale’s
plans to expand its business in Mainland China’s flourishing
hospitality industry. In September 2010, Rosedale completed its
repurchase offer in respect of all the outstanding 2% convertible
exchangeable notes due in June 2011 (the "Rosedale Notes”).
The Group, as a result, received HK$100 million by electing
the cash option for all its holding of the Rosedale Notes in an
aggregate principal amount of HK$114 million. These Rosedale
Notes were originally acquired by the Group at an aggregate
discounted consideration of HK$90 million over a number of
fransactions in 2009 and have been “outf-of-the-money” since the
first date of acquisition by the Group.

The effects from the open market purchases mentioned above
were reduced by the dilutive effects from the issuance of
about 112 million new Rosedale shares to holders of Rosedale
Notes whom elected the shares option pursuant to Rosedale’s
repurchase offer. As a result, the Group’s effective interest in
Rosedale increased from 15.4% to 15.8% during the year.

For the year ended 31st December, 2010, Rosedale recorded
a profit of HK$468 million attributable to its owners, compared
with a loss of HK$358 million for the last corresponding year. The
significant improvement was mainly resulted from the substantial
gain on disposal of its 90% equity interest in its travel business.
Accordingly, the Group shared a profit of HK$66 million for the
year compared with last year's loss of HKS55 million. On the
acquisition of 26 million shares of Rosedale on the open market,
the Group recorded a gain of HK$74 million. However, as a result
of the aforesaid issuance of new Rosedale shares, the Group
recorded a loss of HK$39 million on the dilutive effects.

Burcon NutraScience Corporation ("Burcon”)

Burcon is a leader in nutrition, health and wellness in the field
of functional, renewable plant proteins. Since 1999, Burcon
has developed a portfolio of composition, application, and
process patents originating from its core protfein extraction
and purification technology. Burcon has licensed its CLARISOY®
soy protein technology to Archer Daniels Midland Company
("ADM"), a leader in the global food ingredient industry listed
in the U.S., on an exclusive, worldwide basis for the production,
marketing and sale of CLARISOY® soy proteins. CLARISOY® is a
revolutionary soy protein which is 100% soluble and completely
transparent in acidic solutions. Burcon is also developing
Supertein™ and Puratein® canola protein isolates with unique
functional and nutritional aftributes. Supertein™ and Puratein®
are the first canola protein isolates to have attained self-
affrmed Generally Recognised as Safe ("GRAS”) status in the
U.S. In August 2010, Burcon received a no objection letter from
the U.S. Food and Drug Administration indicating that these
canola protein isolates are GRAS under the infended conditions
of use as an ingredient across a variety of food and beverage
applications.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
TR B EZ

The Group’s interest in Burcon decreased from 21.6% to 21.1%
due fo exercise of share options by other parties during the year.

Burcon continues to be a development-stage company and
reported a loss of 8.4 million Canadian dollars for the year ended
31st March, 2011 as compared to a loss of 6.7 million Canadian
dollars in last year. The increase in the loss amount was mainly
due to the recognition of non-cash stock-based compensation
costs of 3.7 million Canadian dollars (2010: 2.7 million Canadian
dollars). The loss shared by the Group was HK$14 million for the
year.

The Group’s shareholding interests in the major listed strategic

AEBEPBurconZ EZ H21.6% NEE21.1% 0 R
AAEEMATRAFTERITEEZERE -

BurconiA—RHIEREREREEMN AR REZE
T——F = A=+—HILFEE5E188,400,000
ot - A& RIER1S E5186,700,00000 7T - EE1E
CHENFERAABRIERS 2 BRE/HELAN
3,700,000f07C (=& —Z 4 : 2,700,000/07T) ° &
F [ ) 7N £2 B # 15 /5 1814,000,000/%8 T °

AEERE S iR RIEEAE A 2 B

investments are summarised below: A/ u N
Effective interest
As at the
Name of As at date of this
investee company Place of listing Stock code 31.3.2011 report
BRER
FrR&E R R-B——F REHE
ZE8 LB BB =R=t+-A B
ITC Properties Hong Kong Stock Exchange 199 25.0% 25.0%
B E BBBA
Paul Y. Engineering Hong Kong Stock Exchange 577 16.5% 16.5%
RERE BB (Note) (Note)
(Hrit) (W)
PYI Hong Kong Stock Exchange 498 26.7% 26.7%
RE BBB
Rosedale Hong Kong Stock Exchange 1189 15.8% 15.8%
is) BBB
Burcon Toronto Stock Exchange and BU 21.1% 21.1%
Frankfurt Stock Exchange WKN 157793
Toronto Stock Exchange &
ERRBERR S
Note: The Group's effective interest is held through PYI. M AEBZEZBRRERS -
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ITC CORPORATION LIMITED #& # 4 3% % B & B & 7

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
TRBEE

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31st March, 2011, the Group’s total assets and equity
attributable to owners decreased by 26% and 30% to HK$2,479
million and HK$2,130 million respectively, as compared to last
year. The decrease was mainly due to the Distribution during
the year, which arose because the market value of the Hanny
shares distributed was significantly below its carrying value when
previously recorded as an interest in associates on the Group’s
financial statements.

With respect to liquidity, the Group adopts a prudent funding
and treasury policy with regard to its overall business operations
such that adequate funding is maintained to match with
cash flows required for working capital and seizing investment
opportunities.

As at 31st March, 2011, current assets and current liabilities of
the Group was HK$99 million and HK$268 million respectively.
The current liabilities included the Company’s convertible notes
which was reclassified from non-current liabilities as these notes
will mature within one year from the year end date. Accordingly,
the Group’s current ratio was 0.4 as at the year end date.

GEARING RATIO

As at 31st March, 2011, bank deposits, bank balances and cash
was HK$9 million and the total bank loan facilities drawn by the
Group was HK$90 million of which HK$48 million is repayable
within one year or on demand. All of these bank loan facilities
were at floating inferest rates. Loan from a director of HK$46
million is repayable within one year and at floating interest
rates. In addition, the Group recognised HK$162 million as the
liability component of its convertible notes which were issued in
November 2009 with a 2-year maturity and a 5% annual interest.
The conversion price was HK$0.5 per share as at 1st April, 2010,
and was subsequently adjusted to HKS0.3 per share on 22nd
October, 2010 due to the Distribution.

Accordingly, the Group’s gearing ratio was 13.6% as at 31st
March, 2011 (2010: 4.2%), calculated on the basis of net
borrowings, being the excess of borrowings over bank deposits,
bank balances and cash, of HK$289 million over the equity
attributable to owners of HK$2,130 million.

EXCHANGE RATE EXPOSURE

Most of the assets and liabilities of the Group are denominated
in Hong Kong dollars, hence the Group’s exposure to
fluctuations in foreign exchange rates is minimal and no foreign
exchange hedging instruments are used.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETRBEE

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31st March, 2011, properties with an aggregate carrying
value of HK$313 million were pledged to a bank to secure
general facilities granted fo the Group.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31st March, 2011, the Group had no contingent liabilities,
except that on disposal of an associate, the Group had given
an indemnity to the purchaser relating to unrecorded taxation
liabilities, if any, and the affairs and business of the associate up
to the date of disposal.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31st March, 2011, the Group had a total of 67 employees.
It is the Group’'s remuneration policy that the employees’
remuneration is based on the employees’ skill, knowledge
and involvement in the Company’s affairs and is determined
by reference to the Company’'s performance, as well as
remuneration benchmark in the industry and the prevailing
market conditions. The ultimate objective of the remuneration
policy is to ensure that the Group is able to attract, retain and
motivate a high-calibre team which is essential to the success
of the Company. The Group also offers benefits to employees
including discretionary bonus, training, provident funds and
medical coverage. The share option scheme is established for
the eligible participants (including employees) but no share
options were granted during the year. There were 29,447,750
outstanding share options granted by the Company as af 1st
April, 2010. Due to lapse of share options during the year, there
were no outstanding share options of the Company as at 31st
March, 2011 and as at the date of this report.

MAJOR EVENTS AFTER THE YEAR ENDED 31ST
MARCH 2011

Approval of Mandate for Disposal of Burcon Shares

In order to allow flexibility in effecting future disposal(s) of Burcon
shares expeditiously when market conditions are favourable,
the Board, in March 2011, proposed to obtain advance
shareholders’ approval for the possible disposal of a maximum
of all 6.3 million shares of Burcon held by the Group at the
minimum disposal price of C$9.0 (subject to adjustments in the
event of a share consolidation or share subdivision by Burcon)
within twelve months from the date of the approval. The proposal
was approved by the shareholders of the Company in May 2011
and the Group has not disposed of any Burcon shares since the
approval and up to the date of this report.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
TRBEE

SECURITIES IN ISSUE

As a result of the issue of shares arising from conversion of the
Company’s convertible notes during the year, the total number
of issued shares with par value of HK$0.01 each is 777,028,676 as
at 31st March, 2011 and as at the date of this report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

Notwithstanding the Group'’s loss of HK$593 million for the year
ended 31st March, 2011, the Board has resolved to recommend
the payment of a final dividend of HK1.0 cent per ordinary
share (2010: HK1.0 cent) as the Board considered that the loss
was mainly due to the non-cash loss of HK$830 million from
the distribution of shares of Hanny to the shareholders of the
Company during the year. Without such non-cash loss, the
Group would have achieved a profit of HK$237 million for the
year.

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final
dividend of HK1.0 cent per ordinary share for the year ended 31st
March, 2011 (2010: 1.0 cent) to shareholders of the Company
whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company as at the close of business on Tuesday, 30th August,
2011. The proposed final dividend is expected to be paid to
shareholders of the Company by post on or about Tuesday, 11th
October, 2011 following approval at the forthcoming annual
general meeting. The proposed final dividend is conditional
upon the passing at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company of an ordinary resolution to approve the final
dividend.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Friday, 26th August, 2011 to Tuesday, 30th August, 2011, both
dates inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be
registered. In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend,
all transfers of shares of the Company accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Secretaries Limited
at 26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong for registration by no later than 4:00 p.m. on
Thursday, 25th August, 2011.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
TRBEE

OUTLOOK

The Mainland China and Asian markets continue to prosper in
the first half of 2011 though there are still many uncertainties
in the global economy. The recovery of the U.S. and certain
European countries remains uncertain and challenging with an
increasing risk of inflation caused by excess global liquidity affer
the U.S. quantitative easing measures. The Board believes Hong
Kong will confinue to benefit due to its close ties and proximity
with Mainland China and the Group’s strategic investments,
ITC Properties, PYl, Paul Y. Engineering and Rosedale, will be
standing on a vantage point due to their exposure and presence
in Mainland China.

One of the Group’s strategic investments, Burcon, achieved
promising milestones in the past few months. In March 2011,
Burcon announced that it entered info a license agreement with
ADM for exclusive, worldwide production, marketing and sale
of CLARISOY®. In order to take advantage of Burcon’s continual
growing prospect and to allow flexibility in effecting future
disposal of Burcon shares expeditiously in case of favourable
market terms and conditions, the Board has obtained a disposal
mandate from the shareholders for the possible disposals
of Burcon shares. There is no assurance that the Board will
eventually proceed with the aforesaid disposals. The Board will
act in the interest of the shareholders when opportunities arise.

Based on the aforementioned, the Board is cautiously optimistic
on the business outlook and will confinue to pursue its long tferm
strategy of exploring potential investments in an aggressive, yet
cautious, manner in the interest of the Group.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity
to thank the shareholders for their continuous support to the
Company and extend my appreciation fo all management and
staff members for their contribution and dedication throughout
the year.

Dr. Chan Kwok Keung, Charles
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24th June, 2011
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SECRETARY

EERMEEEGSN

DIRECTORS

Chan Kwok Keung. Charles, aged 56, is the Chairman of
the Company. He joined the Group in February 1997 and is
responsible for the Group’s corporate strategies and planning.
Dr. Chan holds an Honorary Degree of Doctor of Laws and a
Bachelor’'s Degree in Civil Engineering and has over 31 years’
internatfional corporate management and strategic investment
experience in a diversified range of businesses including
construction, property, infrastructure, entertainment and
media, hotel and related business, information technology,
pharmaceutical and health products. Dr. Chan is a non-
executive director of PYl Corporation Limited (0498.HK)
and has become a non-executive director of Television
Broadcasts Limited (0511.HK) since 1st April, 2011. Dr. Chan
was the chairman and executive director of Hanny Holdings
Limited (0275.HK) until September 2008. Dr. Chan is the sole
director and beneficial owner of Chinaview International
Limited and Galaxyway Investments Limited which are
substantial shareholders of the Company as disclosed in the
section headed ‘Interests and short positions of substantial
shareholders/other persons recorded in the register kept under
section 336 of the SFO” in the directors’ report. He is the father
of Mr. Chan Yiu Lun, Alan and the elder brother of Mr. Chan
Kwok Chuen, Augustine, who are both executive directors of the
Company.

Chau Mei Wah, Rosanna, aged 56, is the Deputy Chairman
and Managing Director of the Company, a member of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company and a director of
various subsidiaries of the Group. She joined the Group in
February 1997 and is responsible for the Group’s operations and
business development. Ms. Chau has over 31 years’ experience
in international corporate management and finance. She holds
a Bachelor's Degree and a Master’'s Degree in Commerce and
has professional accounting qualifications and experience
in different jurisdictions. She is a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the CPA
Australia, and a member of the Certified General Accountants’
Association of Canada. Ms. Chau is a director of Burcon
NutraScience Corporation, the securities of which are listed on
the Toronto Stock Exchange (BU.TSX) and the Frankfurt Stock
Exchange (WKN 157793-FWB).
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Chan Kwok Chuen, Augustine, aged 52, joined the
Company as an executive director in November 1997 and is also
a director of various subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Chan holds
a diploma in arts and has over 28 years’ experience in frading
business in the PRC. Mr. Chan is the managing director of Hanny
Holdings Limited (0275.HK). Mr. Chan is the younger brother of
Dr. Chan Kwok Keung, Charles, the Chairman of the Company
and the sole director and beneficial owner of Chinaview
Internatfional Limited and Galaxyway Investments Limited which
are substantial shareholders of the Company, and is the uncle of
Mr. Chan Yiu Lun, Alan, an executive director of the Company.

Chan Fut Yan, aged 57, joined the Company as an executive
director in December 1997 and is also a director of various
subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Chan has over 38 years’
experience in the local construction field specialising in planning
of construction business. He is also the managing director of ITC
Properties Group Limited (0199.HK) and is the deputy chairman
and an executive director of Paul Y. Engineering Group Limited
(0577.HK).

Cheung Hon Kit, aged 57, joined the Company as an
independent non-executive director in December 1999 and
was appointed as an executive director in September 2001. Mr.
Cheung graduated from the University of London with a Bachelor
of Arts Degree. He has over 33 years’ experience in real estate
development, property investment and corporate finance.
He has worked in key executive positions in various leading
property development companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Cheung
is the chairman and an executive director of ITC Properties
Group Limited (0199.HK) and Rosedale Hotel Holdings Limited
(1189.HK) and is also an independent non-executive director of
Future Bright Holdings Limited (0703.HK). He is an independent
non-executive director of Infernational Entertainment
Corporation (1009.HK), the listing of the shares of which has
been transferred from Growth Enterprise Market to Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 27th September,
2010.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SECRETARY

EERMEEEGSN

Chan Yiu Lun, Alan, aged 27, joined the Company as an
executive director in March 2009 and is also a director of
various subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Chan graduated from
Trinity College of Arts and Sciences of Duke University, United
States of America, with a Bachelor of Arts Degree in Political
Science - Internatfional Relafions. He previously worked in the
Investment Banking Division of The Goldman Sachs Group,
Inc. Mr. Chan is an executive director of ITC Properties Group
Limited (0199.HK) and is a director of Burcon NutraScience
Corporation ("Burcon”), the securities of which are listed on
the Toronto Stock Exchange (BU.TSX) and the Frankfurt Stock
Exchange (WKN 157793-FWB). He is also an alternate director
to Dr. Chan Kwok Keung, Charles in PYl Corporation Limited
(0498.HK). Mr. Chan is an advisor to the Bisagni Environmental
Enterprise (BEE Inc.). He was an alternate director to Ms. Chau
Mei Wah, Rosanna at Burcon until April 2010. Mr. Chan is a son
of Dr. Chan Kwok Keung, Charles, the Chairman of the Company
and the sole director and beneficial owner of Chinaview
International Limited and Galaxyway Investments Limited which
are substantial shareholders of the Company. Mr. Chan is also
a nephew of Mr. Chan Kwok Chuen, Augustine, an executive
director of the Company.

Chuck, Winston Calptor, aged 55, joined the Company as
an independent non-executive director in November 2001. He
is also the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a
member of the Audit Committee of the Company. Mr. Chuck
graduated from the University of Western Ontario, Canada with a
Bachelor of Arts Degree. He is a practising solicitor in Hong Kong
and has over 29 years’ experience in the legal fields. He is also
an independent non-executive director of Starlight International
Holdings Limited (0485.HK).

Lee Kit Wah, aged 55, joined the Company as an independent
non-executive director in July 2004. He is also the Chairman
of the Audit Committee and a member of the Remuneration
Committee of the Company. Mr. Lee graduated from University
of Toronto with a Bachelor's Degree in Commerce. He is a
fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong. He is a member of the
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. He
has been practising as a certified public accountant in Hong
Kong since 1988 and is the managing director of an accounting
firm. Mr. Lee is also an independent non-executive director of
Sinocom Software Group Limited (0299.HK).
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Hon. Shek Lai Him, Abraham, sss Jr, aged 66, joined the
Company as an independent non-executfive director in June
2006 and is also a member of the Audit Committee of the
Company. Mr. Shek graduated from the University of Sydney,
Australia with a Bachelor of Arts Degree. Mr. Shek has been a
member of the Legislative Council of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China
representing the real estate and consfruction functional
constituency since 2000. Currently, Mr. Shek is a Court member
of Hong Kong University of Science and Technology and the
University of Hong Kong. He is also a director of The Hong
Kong Mortgage Corporation Limited and the Vice Chairman
of the Independent Police Complaints Council in Hong Kong.
Mr. Shek was appointed as a Justice of the Peace in 1995 and
awarded Silver Bauhinia Star in 2007. Mr. Shek was appointed
as the vice chairman, an independent non-executfive director
and a member of the audit committee of ITC Properties Group
Limited (0199.HK) with effect from 30th September, 2010 and
a member of the remuneration committee of ITC Properties
Group Limited (0199.HK) with effect from 1st December, 2010.
He was appointed on 10th September, 2010 as an independent
non-executive director of Kosmopolito Hotels International
Limited (2266.HK), which has become a listed company on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 11th October,
2010. He was also appointed as an independent non-executive
director, a member of the audit committee, the chairman of
the remuneration committee and a member of the nomination
committee of China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
(1313.HK) with effect from 1st January, 2011. Mr. Shek is also an
independent non-executive director of NWS Holdings Limited
(0659.HK), Midas International Holdings Limited (1172.HK),
Paliburg Holdings Limited (0617.HK), Lifestyle International
Holdings Limited (1212.HK), Chuang’s Consortium International
Limited (0367.HK), Titan Petrochemicals Group Limited (1192.HK),
Country Garden Holdings Company Limited (2007.HK), MTR
Corporation Limited (0066.HK), Hsin Chong Construction Group
Ltd. (0404.HK), Chuang’s China Investments Limited (0298.HK),
Hop Hing Group Holdings Limited (0047.HK) and SJM Holdings
Limited (0880.HK). He is also an independent non-executive
director of Eagle Asset Management (CP) Limited, the manager
of Champion Real Estate Investment Trust (2778.HK). He is
also an independent non-executive director of Regal Portfolio
Management Limited, the manager of Regal Real Estate
Investment Trust (1881.HK). Mr. Shek was an independent
non-executive director of See Corporation Limited (0491.HK) until
September 2008.

SECRETARY

Lee Hon Chiu, aged 49, is the Company Secretary and the
Chief Financial Officer of the Company and is also a director of
various subsidiaries of the Group. He joined the Group in May
2008 and is responsible for the Group’s finance, accounting
and company secretarial functions. Mr. Lee has over 24 years’
experience in auditing, accounting and financial management.
He holds a Bachelor’'s Degree in Business Administration and
is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and also a certified public accountant
(practising) in Hong Kong.
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The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance practices and procedures. The Company
believes that good corporate governance practices are essential
for effective management to enhancing shareholders’ value. The
corporate governance principles of the Company emphasise
a quality Board, sound internal controls, and fransparency and
accountability to all shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has, throughout the year ended 31st March, 2011,
complied with the code provisions of the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices (the "Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”)
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong
Stock Exchange”).

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has continued to adopt the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out
in Appendix 10 fo the Listing Rules (the "Model Code") as its
own code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the
directors of the Company (the “Directors”). All Directors have
confirmed, following specific enquiry by the Company, that they
have complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code throughout the year ended 31st March, 2011.

The Company has also continued to adopt a code of
conduct governing securities transactions by employees who
may possess or have access to unpublished price sensitive
information of the Company or its securities.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

THE BOARD

The members of the Board are individually and collectively
responsible for the leadership and control, and for promoting
the success, of the Company by directing and supervising
the Company’s affairs. As at the date of this report, the Board
comprises nine Directors, including the Chairman, the Deputy
Chairman and Managing Director, four other executive Directors,
and three independent non-executive Directors. The Board has
a balanced composition of executive and independent non-
executive Directors so that strong independent elements are
included in the Board, enabling the Board fo exercise judgment
independently and make decision objectively in the interests
of the Company and its shareholders as a whole. Biographical
details of the Directors, showing a good balance of professional
expertise and diverse range of experience among them, are set
out on pages 15 to 18 of this annual report. The Board members
have no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship with each other, except that Dr. Chan Kwok Keung,
Charles is the elder brother of Mr. Chan Kwok Chuen, Augustine
and Mr. Chan Yiu Lun, Alan is a son and a nephew of Dr. Chan
Kwok Keung, Charles and Mr. Chan Kwok Chuen, Augustine
respectively.

The Board has delegated the Executive Board with authority
and responsibility for handling the management functions
and operations of the day-to-day business of the Company,
while reserving certain key matters for the approval by the
Board. The types of decisions to be taken by the Board include
annual and interim period financial reporting and conftrol,
equity fund raising, declaration of interim dividend and making
recommendation of final dividend or other distributions,
noftifiable fransactions under Chapters 14 and 14A of the Listing
Rules and making recommendation for capital reorganisation or
scheme of arrangement of the Company.

During the year under review, four regular Board meetfings were
held with at least fourteen days’ notfice given to all Directors
and additional Board meeting(s) were held as and when
necessary. Directors are provided with relevant information to
make informed decisions. The Board and each Director have
separate and independent access to the Company’s senior
management. A Director who considers a need for independent
professional advice in order to perform his/her duties as a
Director may convene, or request the secretary of the Company
to convene, a meeting of the Board to approve the seeking of
independent legal or other professional advice.
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The aftendance of each individual member of the Board, the
Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee at the
respective meetings during the year under review, on a named
basis, is set out in the following fable:

EFg BHRZEEN

= %ﬁ@ﬂ*%@ X &
FEZEEGR LR

ERAEET JE@

i%”’

Meetings Attended/Eligible to attend

HEEE SERHEEZER
Audit Remuneration
Board Committee Committee

Name of Directors EENA BEEXg ERZEE® FMZEE®
Executive Directors HITEE
Chan Kwok Keung, Charles (Chairman) PRED 5% (/%) 1/4
Chau Mei Wah, Rosanna A

(Deputy Chairman and Managing Director) (BlE/EFEFLILHE) 4/4 2/2
Chan Kwok Chuen, Augustine bR B 42 2/4
Chan Fut Yan Bk 136 & 3/4
Cheung Hon Kit o 2 5 3/4
Chan Yiu Lun, Alan BoR 122 Bk 2/4
Independent non-executive Directors BN TEEF
Chuck, Winston Calptor EEE 4/4 2/2 2/2
Lee Kit Wah P 4/4 2/2 2/2
Shek Lai Him, Abraham VR 4/4 2/2
CHAIRMAN AND MANAGING DIRECTOR TERESARE

The roles of the Chairman and Managing Director are
segregated and are held by different individuals. The Chairman
is responsible for the Group’s strategic planning and the
management of the operations of the Board, while the
Managing Director takes the lead in the Group’s operations and
business development. There is a clear division of responsibilities
between the Chairman and Managing Director of the Company
which provides a balance of power and authority.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive Directors are appointed for
a specific ferm, subject to re-election, which will run until the
conclusion of the third annual general meeting from the date
of their last re-election and in accordance with the Company’s
Bye-laws. One of the independent non-executive Directors has
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise as required under Rule 3.10
of the Listing Rules. The Company has received the annual
confirmation of independence from each of the independent
non-executive Directors as required under Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company considers all independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.
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NOMINATION, APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The Board as a whole is responsible for the appointment of
new Directors and Directors’ nomination for re-election by
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) at the
general meeting. Under the Company’s Bye-laws, the Directors
shall have the power to appoint any person as a Director at
any fime either fo fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an
addition to the existing Board who is subject to retirement and
re-election at the first general meeting or first annual general
meeting respectively after his/her appointment. All Directors
are subject to retirement and re-election by the Shareholders
on a rotation basis and pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws,
at each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for
the time being shall retire from office by rotation such that each
Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years at the annual general meeting. Pofential new
Directors are idenfified and submitted to the Board for approval.
The nomination of Directors should be taken into consideration
of the candidate’s qualification, ability and potential
contribution to the Company. A candidate to be appointed
as independent non-executive Director must also satisfy the
independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. No
Board meeting was convened during the year under review for
the appointment of new Director.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Board has set up a Remuneration Committee of the
Company with a majority of the members being independent
non-executive Directors. As at the date of this report, the
Remuneration Committee comprises fwo independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Chuck, Winston Calptor
(Chairman of the Remuneration Committee) and Mr. Lee Kit
Wah, and the Deputy Chairman and Managing Director, Ms.
Chau Mei Wah, Rosanna.

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee
include making recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors
and the senior management and on the establishment of
a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy
on such remuneration and reviewing and determining the
remuneration packages of the executive Directors and the
senior management. The terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee, which follow closely the requirements of the code
provisions of the Code, have been adopted by the Board,
are posted on the Company’'s website. The Remuneration
Commitftee is provided with sufficient resources to discharge its
duties.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee had
principally performed the followings: making recommendation to
the Board on Directors’ fees for the approval by the Shareholders
at the annual general meeting, approving/recommending
the directors’ fees of Directors and reviewing and approving
the discretionary bonus of executive Directors and the senior
management of the Company.
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With the recommendation of the Remuneration Committee, the
Board sets the remuneration policy of Directors and the senior
management of the Company. The Remuneration Committee
shall consult the Chairman and/or the Managing Director of the
Company about its proposals relating fo remuneration packages
of the Directors and the senior management of the Company.
The emoluments of the Directors and the senior management
of the Company are based on their individual skills, knowledge
and involvement in the Company’s affairs and are determined
by reference to the Company’s performance, as well as
remuneration benchmark in the industry and the prevailing
market conditions. The ultimate objective of the remuneration
is fo ensure that the Company is able to attract, retain and
motivate a high-calibre team which is essential to the success of
the Company.

Details of the remuneration of Directors are set out on note 7 to
the consolidated financial statements. During the year under
review, no Director or any of his associates was involved in
deciding his/her own remuneration.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee of the
Company consists of three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Lee Kit Wah (Chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr.
Chuck, Winston Calptor and Mr. Shek Lai Him, Abraham. The
Audit Committee is chaired by Mr. Lee Kit Wah, who is a qualified
accountant with extensive experience in financial reporting and
conftrols.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include reviewing
the Company’s financial reporting system and internal conftrol
procedures (including the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and
financial reporting function, and ftheir training programmes
and budget), reviewing the Group’s financial information
and reviewing the relafionship with the external auditor of the
Company. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee, which
follow closely the requirements of the code provisions of the
Code, have been adopted by the Board, and are posted on
the Company’s website. The Audit Committee is provided with
sufficient resources to discharge its duties.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee reviewed
and made recommendation for the Board’s approval of the
draft audited financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31st March, 2010 and the draft unaudited interim
financial statements of the Group for the six months ended
30th September, 2010, discussed the accounting policies and
practices which may affect the Group with the management
and the Company’s external auditor, made recommendation
on the re-appointment of external auditor for the approval of the
Shareholders in the annual general meeting of the Company,
reviewed the fees charged by the external auditor; and reviewed
the internal control system of the Group.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu ("Deloitte”), the Group’s
principal auditor, was re-appointed by the Shareholders at
the annual general meeting of the Company held on 28th
September, 2010 as the Company’s external auditor until the
next annual general meeting. For the year ended 31st March,
2011, the total fee paid/payable in respect of statutory audit
and non-audit services provided by Deloitte is set out in the
following table:

BB B =

RARBAE_Z—TFAA T NBETZER
BEAGL AEEZTBRAUENETEY « BER

SEHENTT ([1E8 ) BIRRBEIE AR RE 28
ZHE  THETERRAFAGRL REE
“E—FZA=+T-BULEFE ®HEHMAEH
ZEERBRIIRBRBZEN BN ZERR
BHIIN K

Fee paid/payable
B ERER
for the year ended 31st March,

Services rendered FT 12 {4t AR 7% BE=A=1T—HLEE
2011 2010
HK$’000 HKS$°000
—E——fF —E-ZF
FET FET
Audit services %8R % 1,910 1,910

Non-audit services IERZER T

Taxation advisory ISR RS 34 30
Special engagements RHEZE 1,027 543
Total fee paid/payable for the year FRER ENZBEREH 2,971 2,483

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements for each financial period which give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and
cash flows for that period. In preparing the financial statements
for the year ended 31st March, 2011, the Directors have selected
suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently,
made judgments and estimates that are fair and reasonable
and prepared the financial statfements on a going concern
basis. The statement by the auditor of the Company regarding
their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the
Group is set outf in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 43
and 44 of this annual report.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the overall responsibility for maintaining a sound
and effective system of internal confrol and for reviewing its
effectiveness, particularly in respect of the controls on financial,
operational, compliance and risk management, to achieve
the Company’s business strategies and the Group’s business
operations. The Directors have adopted an internal control
policy for the Group. The internal control policy is fundamental
to the successful operation and day-to-day running of a business
and it assists the Company in achieving its business objective.
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The policy has been developed with a primary objective of
providing general guidance and recommendations on a
basic framework of internal control and risk management. The
Company’s internal control system comprises a well established
organisational structure and comprehensive policies and
standards. Procedures have been designed to safeguard assets
against unauthorised use or disposition, to ensure maintenance
of proper accounting records for the provision of reliable
financial information for intfernal use or for publication, and
to ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations.
The purpose of the Company’s internal confrol is to provide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss and to manage rather than eliminate
risks of failure in operational systems and achievement of the
Company’s objective.

The Board has conducted an annual review of the effectiveness
of the system of internal control of the Group, covering
all material controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls and risk management functions and
particularly the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Group’s accounting and financial
reporting function, and their training programmes and budget.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board makes its endeavour to maintain an ongoing
and transparent communication with the Shareholders and,
in particular, uses general meetings to communicate with
them and encourage their partficipation. The Company
also uses various other means of communication with the
Shareholders, such as publication of annual and interim reports,
announcements, circulars and additional information on the
Group’s business activities and development on the Company’s
website: www.itc.com.hk. During the year under review, all
resolutions put forward at the annual general meeting and the
special general meetings were conducted by way of poll and
poll results were posted on the websites of the Company and the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange in compliance with the requirements
of the Listing Rules. Details of procedure for conducting a poll
was explained at each general meeting of the Company and
notice of not less than 10 clear business days and 20 clear
business days were sent to the Shareholders for special general
meetings and the annual general meeting of the Company
respectively during the year under review.

By Order of the Board

Lee Hon Chiu
Company Secretary

Hong Kong, 24th June, 2011
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The directors have pleasure to present their report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries (the "Group”) for the year ended 31st March,
2011.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company.

The principal activities and particulars of the Company’s
principal subsidiaries and the Group’s principal associates as at
31st March, 2011 are set out in notes 48 and 18, respectively, to
the consolidated financial statements.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and confribution to operating
results for the year ended 31st March, 2011 is set out in note 5 to
the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31st March, 2011 are
set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
on pages 45 and 46 of the annual report.

The directors have resolved to recommend the payment of
a final dividend of HK1.0 cent per ordinary share for the year
ended 31st March, 2011, which will be payable in cash (2010:
HK1.0 cent).

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during the
year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on pages 49 to 51 of the annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate revenue attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers during the year were less than 30% of the Group’s
total turnover.

The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest
suppliers during the year were less than 30% of the Group’s total
purchases.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the past five financial years is set out on page 139 of
the annual report.

ANNUAL REPORT 2011 & E i %

EEMAREARALEMBAR ([AEHE]) &
ECT—F-A=T-HBUEZFEREERK

=

BRI BERE

FEEK

RRABBIEEZERAT -
ARBEEMB AR RAEBEZHENAN
E—— G-+ —HZTEBEXLFBORE
IR 4R & BT 75 & I 7E48 %18 ©

7o & F

AEEBE-_T——F=ZA=1t—HLEFERA
M EEBERRBONEIIN A M HRKRMTES -

FEARANBDE
AEEBE—_T——F=-A=1tHLFEZXE

BEHVNARFERBASRI6E 7 A ETERARK -

B rESEUESIANRNEEZE T —F
—A=Zt+—HULEFEZRBEREFREBRERD
1081 (ZFE—F4  1.0/8l) o

&
REBZHEERFAZEFHFBEIRNAFREL
EBEZEAEREEEK -
FEEFREER

TR AEEREAAREZARA GBS

N5 B 42 A ZE B 30% ©

FA - AEBRAANEER 2 BREE LGB
AN B AR BE BE30% ©

MBRE

AREBRBERETBRFEZEEREEREGRE
BEFHINARFREI9E

26



27

ITC CORPORATION LIMITED #& # 4 3% % B & B & 7

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of revaluation and movements of the investment
properties of the Group during the year are set out in note 16 to
the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company
during the year are set out in note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the
contributed surplus account of the Company is available for
distribution. However, the Company cannot declare or pay a
dividend, or a distribution out of contributed surplus if:

(a) it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its
liabilities as they become due; or

(b) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than
the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital
and share premium accounts.

In the opinion of the directors, subject to the restrictions as
stipulated in the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda as described
above, the Company’s reserves available for distribution to
shareholders as at 31st March, 2011 were as follows:

AEBEZME  BEMKBREFAZZHFEH
SRR & B AR M E16

BREYE
REBZEEMERFTRNZEHRESFBHT
RERE IS sRERMIsE16 -

B 2

RRABZBARFERNZ B FBERINGE T
mRMTFE36 ©

RKRABZO DIk E
REBRE1981FRANE (EIERT)  ARFIZE
BBHBIRAE DR - A - AAREATERT

BUBHAHRT RSERMNEEHMEAIELD IR

(o) BEFRMEAREEEDNHEE X

(by HEEZERBESINEBBERDEITR

R B2 AR £ g (B R 2 4N

EEZRAE BELIMNBEREZEIGIFRARERTE
IR ARBIR —_E——F=ZA=+—Ba#Esn
K FREERAFEEDNT

2011 2010
HKS’ 000 HKS’ 000
—E——F —E—FF
FET FET
Contributed surplus EHABH 222,435 1,402,800
Accumulated profits E5ta 1,027,126 723,184
1,249,561 2,125,984

(H x4

BORROWINGS fa ™

Bank borrowings repayable within one year or on demand are
classified as current liabilities. Details of the repayment analysis
of bank borrowings of the Group as at 31st March, 2011 are set
out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

AR—FREERIRBNEE ZBITERREMD
BRHs ARBDEE BEAEEN - —F
TAZTBZBROERZEESWTEHIRGE
B IS 3R /M 7132 o
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive directors:
Chan Kwok Keung, Charles (Chairman)
Chau Mei Wah, Rosanna
(Deputy Chairman and Managing Director)
Chan Kwok Chuen, Augustine
Chan Fut Yan
Cheung Hon Kit
Chan Yiu Lun, Alan

Independent non-executive directors:
Chuck, Winston Calptor

Lee Kit Wah

Shek Lai Him, Abraham

In accordance with Bye-law 98(A) of the Company’s Bye-laws,
Ms. Chau Mei Wah, Rosanna, Mr. Cheung Hon Kit and Mr.
Shek Lai Him, Abraham will retire by rotation at the forthcoming
annual general meeting. All retiring directors, being eligible
for re-election, offer themselves for re-election except that Mr.
Cheung Hon Kit does not offer himself for re-election.

The independent non-executive directors are appointed for
a specific term, subject to re-election, which will run until the
conclusion of the third annual general meeting from the date
of their last re-election and in accordance with the Company’s
Bye-laws. No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Group
which is not determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

ANNUAL REPORT 2011 & E #f %

=2

RERNRBERREEBHIE -
-

ARRZEZM

HITES

RES (5)

mxE
(BIZBEHEFHAE)

FR B 42

B2

SRE L

SRR

BIHPTES :
SHE
Pz
EEE

BEARNT 2 ATMAIZEIS AV G - FEELL -
REGREERABHRAECNKBRZRTA
FREG LHBET - BRRBEGAETSEREMT
Oh - FMBEHAZEFHOIREETER  TREEEE
AT o

BIFATERNRBEEHMRE EHA LR
EREARMEFZARREFRAEERER
Ik WHERBARRRBAMBNZHRE o FERENH
BRZBERBFASLERBEI2ES  HER
AEBET L ERAER —FARAKERIETH
AfEHIRE ORERERIN 2IRIFAH

28



ITC CORPORATION LIMITED #& # 4 3% % B & B & 7

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFETE®mEF

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31st March, 2011, the interests and short positions of the
directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
associated corporations, within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the "SFO"), as recorded in
the register of the Company required to be kept under Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong
Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the "Model Code”) set
out in Appendix 10 fo the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) were as
follows:

(a) Interests and short positions in shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company

EERKRGD MHEROREESZE
mRAE

RZE——F=ZA=Z+—H ARAEEREE
TRABRARAR R IMAEE ZE (TERES
RIS GO ([BHFRBAEEAN]) E+RI) 2B
7 BEARNEREREPHAEREESRAEK
B 535216 BB B R AR B TR 17 B 5L A 2 #E
BRAR  UREEEHARSHERAR(E
BE AT BH EmAR (T EmARR) Msk+
ZEMBTAESETESRZZESA ([1Z
#578) MARTHE AR RE BT 2 #E
ERKBWT

(@) REDF KRG - HEROREREE &
mRKR

Approximate

Number of percentage of

shares of the issued

Long position/ the Company share capital

Name of director Capacity Short position held of the Company

PR AR 8 BARARE BT

EEpnE g5 BE/ %R vk =) BRABAE D

Chan Kwok Keung, Beneficial owner Long position 69,072,330 8.89%
Charles BEmBEA e (Note)
FR Bl 58 (Hiat)

Chan Kwok Keung, Interest of controlled Long position 202,678,125 26.08%
Charles corporation (Note) 59} (Note)
FR Bl 58 REEGER 2 & (Hiat)

(Hist)
Note: it -

Galaxyway Investments Limited was a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Chinaview International Limited which was, in turn, wholly-owned by
Dr. Chan Kwok Keung, Charles. Dr. Chan Kwok Keung, Charles was
deemed to be interested in 202,678,125 shares of the Company held
by Galaxyway Investments Limited. Dr. Chan Kwok Keung, Charles
held 69,072,330 shares of the Company.

Galaxyway Investments Limited&Chinaview
International LimitedZ 2 & W B QA7 - M
Chinaview International Limited 81| i B B34 18 +
A A o BB R 1H L % 18 {F % B Galaxyway
Investments LimitedP #5745 2 202,678,1250% A8 &
AR 10 2 #E % o PR B 98 1 1 5 5 69,072,3300% /&

RED o
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFETEe®mEF

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

(continued)

(b) Interests and short positions in shares, underlying shares
and debentures of PYl Corporation Limited (“PYI")

EERRGD  HEROREES &
BmRRE @

(b) REEEEMBERQAA(HRED 2BH -
BROREEZZRERAR

Approximate

Number of percentage
Number of underlying of the
Long position/ shares of shares issued share
Name of director Capacity Short position PYI held of PYI held capital of PYI
FrisREE HRE
FrisRE 28 ERTRA
EEnE 514 BE/ KR R & & A RH&E BABSH
Chan Kwok Keung, Interest of controlled Long position 1,.213,5637,695 - 26.79%
Charles corporation (Note 1) 59}
BR Bl 58 REEGEE 2 #H
(Brzt1)
Chan Kwok Keung, Beneficial owner Long position 35,936,031 - 0.79%
Charles EmBEEA 59}
PR Bl 5
Chau Mei Wah, Beneficial owner Long position - 3,626,666 0.08%
Rosanna EmBEEA e (Note 2)
A% (Hi5t2)
Chan Fut Yan Beneficial owner Long position - 7,083,334 0.16%
B2 EmEAA e (Note 2)
(Hi5t2)
Cheung Hon Kit Beneficial owner Long position 400 - 0.00%
ORIE EEHEAA e
Shek Lai Him, Beneficial owner Long position 6,000 - 0.00%
Abraham BEmfEEA 59}
VSELE S
Notes: Haz
1. The shares of PYl were held by an indirect wholly-owned 1. RERMAEAAB—HHEZE2ENBE R

subsidiary of the Company. By virtue of his direct and deemed
interests in approximately 34.97% of the issued share capital of
the Company, Dr. Chan Kwok Keung, Charles was deemed to
be interested in these shares of PYl held by an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company.

2. As at Tst April, 2010 and 31st March, 2011, Ms. Chau Mei Wah,
Rosanna and Mr. Chan Fut Yan held share options (unlisted
equity derivatives) (which were granted on 28th December,
2004) with rights to subscribe for 3,626,666 shares of PYl and
7,083,334 shares of PYI respectively at HK$0.5294 per share
of PYI (subject to adjustments) during the period from 28th
December, 2004 to 26th August, 2012. These share options
were vested on the date of grant.
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B ENEERRPRIEEAARR D BT
PR #I34.97%,2 f 2t - PREISRIE L HARIER
HARNR —HREZENBRAMRHE 2%
SRER D P HEEER

2. RZIE—ZFMA-BR_-_ZT——HF=7
=t+—B AEELZLTMRGBRALEEAR
—ETNE+ A+ \BERTFIER
EEGELETRATATR)  BEAENC
ZENE+ A+ N\NHE-Z——FN
A= +7" B BE A SRR ER90.52947 7T
(AT F LA ) 2 REBE D RIFRAES, 626,666 1R
15 17,083,334 ARZER D - 2 S HERAE
REHBHES -
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

(continued)

(c) Interests and short positions in shares, underlying shares
and debentures of Burcon NutraScience Corporation

EERNRGD HEROREES &
BmRARE @

(c) MBurcon NutraScience Corporation

(TBurcon]) 21 - HEAKROD REER 2

("Burcon”) EERAR
Number of
underlying
shares (in Approximate
respect of the percentage
share options of the
Number of (unlisted equity issued share
Long position/ shares of derivatives)) capital of
Name of director Capacity Short position Burcon held of Burcon held Burcon
Ffr #Burcon
ZHBR®D
(ERBERE
(kL {&Burcon
Fr#Burcon R A LT & ERITRAE
EEnE -g7i) BE/ KA ROHAE THR))¥A BABSH
Chau Mei Wah, Beneficial owner Long position 385,389 - 1.29%
Rosanna ExEBA 59}
Chau Mei Wah, Beneficial owner Long position - 52,500 0.18%
Rosanna ExEBA 59}
Chan Yiu Lun, Beneficial owner Long position - 65,000 0.22%
Alan ExEBA 59}
R 12 B
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ITC CORPORATION LIMITED % # 4 % % M & B & #

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

(continued)

(d) Interests and short positions in shares, underlying shares
and debentures of ITC Properties Group Limited (“ITC

Properties”)

(d) REFHESERSRIAA ((BHHBE]) 2
Bt HEROREEZ2EZRLR

Approximate

Number of percentage
Number of underlying of the
shares of ITC shares of ITC issued share
Long position/ Properties Properties capital of
Name of director Capacity Short position held held ITC Properties
FrismutE LB E
FrisEEE Z 1 ERTRA
EEnE 14 BR/ KR BR&H&E R & & A BRAEA L
Chan Kwok Keung, Interest of controlled Long position 139,583,474 - 24.71%
Charles corporation (Note 1) 59}
BR Bl 98 REEGEE < #H
(Brzt1)
Chan Kwok Keung, Interest of controlled Long position - 32,000,000 5.66%
Charles corporation (Notfe 1) 59} (Note 1)
BR Bl 58 REEGEE 2 #H (Hrst1)
(Krzt1)
Chan Kwok Keung, Beneficial owner Long position 6,066,400 - 1.07%
Charles BEmfEEA 59}
PR Bl 5
Chau Mei Wah, Beneficial owner Long position 3,200,000 - 0.56%
Rosanna BEmfEEA 59}
Chau Mei Wah, Beneficial owner Long position - 6,500,000 1.15%
Rosanna BEmfEEA e (Notes 2 and 3)
EES (Hrat2R3)
Chan Fut Yan Beneficial owner Long position - 2,900,000 0.51%
BR 2 EmEAA e (Note 2)
(Hfit2)
Cheung Hon Kit Beneficial owner Long position 14,202,000 - 2.51%
ORIE ESHEAA e
Cheung Hon Kit Beneficial owner Long position - 3,900,000 0.69%
oR G EmfEEA e (Note 2)
(Hfit2)
Chan Yiu Lun, Beneficial owner Long position - 1,500,000 0.26%
Alan BEmfEEA e (Note 2)
R Bt (Hfit2)
ANNUAL REPORT 2011 £ [ &
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

(continued)

(d) Interests and short positions in shares, underlying shares
and debentures of ITC Properties Group Limited (“ITC
Properties”) (continued)

Notes:

1. 139,583,474 shares of ITC Properties were held by an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. On 11 March
2011, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
accepted the conditional offer made by ITC Properties to
repurchase all the convertible notes of ITC Properties it held
in the aggregate principal amount of HK$64,000,000 at the
consideration of HK$70,400,000 which was proposed to be
satisfied by the issue of new convertible notes of ITC Properties
of HK$70,400,000 (unlisted equity derivatives). Assuming
completion of the repurchase offer of ITC Properties (subject
to certain conditions precedent), the indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company will hold such new convertible notes
of HK$70,400,000. Upon full conversion of such new convertible
notes at the initial conversion price of HK$2.20 per share of
ITC Properties (subject to adjustments), 32,000,000 shares of
ITC Properties would be issued to the indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company.

By virtue of his direct and deemed interests in approximately
34.97% of the issued share capital of the Company, Dr. Chan
Kwok Keung, Charles was deemed to be interested in these
shares and underlying shares of ITC Properties held by the
subsidiary of the Company.

2. Details of outstanding share options (unlisted equity
derivatives) granted to the directors of the Company by ITC
Properties as at 31st March, 2011 were as follows:

E=E
=R

B RO REESE &
y-2¢ )]

(d) REFHERERRAA ([BHME])
2RO HEAROREEIZEERKXA

(&)

Hisz -

1.

Number of share options

139,583,474 = FE M EE IR 19 A AR & A — [
HE2ENBRAIBE RZT——F=
A+—H AxArz—HEEZ2EHRB AR
EWEFEMREBERESFEZ2E
48 7K & %8.64,000,00078 7T 2 12 4 #b 2 A R R
R BG4 EE - 1EE70,400,000%8 7T -
1R 18 LA 3£ 1770,400,000/8 TTEEFE HIEE 2
A BRBRER(FELMRATETIAD X
o RBRBEEMEZEREZZD K (AR
RETERES)  ARBAZE2EHNBRF
#4555 70,400,000/ JTC#Z 3T A IR 245 o 1%
% W IS (B B B A 1 EE A% (2,207 7T (7]
F AR B K RZ S I R IR
32,000,0000% 12 # i ZE AR 10 #& B 1T T AN 2 A)
ZEEMBAT

ENEER R RS RN R R B BITRA
#134.97% s - IREIBIE L RRIERBAR
Al HEZEMBARMEA 2B ER
0 R AR R R0 o A s

REZB——F=A=+—0 BFEBERT
ARBEEZMARITE 2 BIEGELTR
AOTHETE)FEBEMT

Exercise price

BREHA per share of ITC

Outstanding Outstanding Properties as at

Name of as at as at 31st March, 2011

optionholder Date of grant Option period* * 1.4.2010 31.3.2011 (subject to adjustments)

R-ZB-%F R-B-——F BREFLERS

IR mMA-—H =A=+-AH R-ZB--F=ZA=+-H

BEARE REBH BBRAER M i RAT R i R AT B ZATEE (T FURE)

HKS

BT

Chau Mei Wah, 29.3.2010 29.3.2010 to 28.3.2014 1,500,000 1,500,000 2.22
Rosanna —ZE-F ZE-TF=A=+NARZE
BEE —A=+AhAR —T-mUFEZA=1+N\AH

Chan Fut Yan 29.3.2010 29.3.2010 to 28.3.2014 2,900,000 2,900,000 2.22
bR 2 —T-%F ZE-TF=A=+NBZE
ZAZ+hE —T-mE=A=+N\RH

Cheung Hon Kit 29.3.2010 29.3.2010 to 28.3.2014 3,900,000 3,900,000 2.22
REAG —ZE-TF ZT-TF=AZTNHE
—B=-t+hRH ZZ-mME=A=+NH

Chan Yiu Lun, 29.3.2010 29.3.2010 to 28.3.2014 1,500,000 1,500,000 2.22
Alan —Z-% —Z-ZF=A-TNEBZE
B2 =A=+AhH ZZ-mFE=ZA=+)N\H
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

(continued)

(d) Interests and short positions in shares, underlying shares
and debentures of ITC Properties Group Limited (“ITC
Properties”) (confinued)

Notes: (continued)
2. (continued)

** In relation to the grant of share options on 29th March,
2010 subject to the terms and conditions of the share
option scheme of ITC Properties adopted on 26th August
2002, the share options shall be exercisable at any
time during the option period and subject further to a
maximum of 50% of the share options shall be exercisable
during the second year period commencing from 29th
March, 2011 to 28th March, 2012 with the balance of the
share options not yet exercised may be exercised during
the period commencing from 29th March, 2012 to 28th
March, 2014,

3. Ms. Chau Mei Wah, Rosanna accepted the conditional offer
made by ITC Properties to repurchase convertible notes of ITC
Properties held by her in the principal amount of HK$10,000,000
at the consideration of HK$11,000,000 which was proposed
to be satisfied by the issue of new convertible notes of ITC
Properties of HK$11,000,000 (unlisted equity derivatives).
Assuming completion of the repurchase offer of ITC Properties
(subject to certain conditions precedent), Ms. Chau will
hold such new convertfible notes in the principal amount of
HK$11,000,000. Upon full conversion of such new convertible
notes at the initial conversion price of HK$2.20 per share of ITC
Properties (subject to adjustments), 5,000,000 shares of ITC
Properties would be issued to Ms. Chau.

As at 31st March, 2011, PYI, Burcon and ITC Properties were
associated corporations of the Company within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO.

Dr. Chan Kwok Keung, Charles was, by virtue of his direct and
deemed interests in approximately 34.97% of the issued share
capital of the Company, deemed to be interested in the shares
and underlying shares (in respect of equity derivatives), if any,
of the associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) of the Company held by the Group under Part XV of the
SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st March, 2011, none of
the directors and chief executives of the Company had any
interests and short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the
register of the Company required to be kept under Section 352 of
the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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(d) REFHESRERRAA ([BHHE])
2RO HEAROREEIZEERAXA
(&)

Bte - (48)
2. (#&)

> BRERREEHER _ZT-_FN\A
ZHRNBEAZERESTE R K
AR —_TE-—ZTF=A=FTNLARD
2HEREMS  BERETRERER
BRI EEETTEE - EE A & Z50%8
RIERTRE - FHE (T ——F = A
—+hREZE——F=A=+\H)
WITE - B ARITEBRENNZ
E-——_F=ZA-tNALBE-Z—NF
A=+ N\HEERAITHE -

3. FAEEZIEMEEMERDAEEME
& 8] H B 4% B 78 £ %810,000,000/%8 T 2 12
HEHEATRREREZEKGERZ REA
11,000,000/ JT * 3 &% M # 7711,000,000/%
LB EN AR EE 2 AN GELE
MRATTETR) - BREXEHEE ZERZ
BMEUEK (BHETARMEGERT) A
2+ #5454 811,000,000/ 7T 2 A 8 #
AR R - EZEHM AU BRREEUT S
BT REE M ER D220 7T (7] FHAE)
e RK - 215 3175,000,000%
ERE M E D o

RZZE——F=ZA=+—H RBEZFLHFLBEK
ME+RIZEE * (RE ~ Burcon RIEBFEHET)
RNRARZ B EE -

EREEE RN IERA A AT B BT RAL
3497%2 HE3 - BB ES LM EEHE+ A
£ - RE% 18+ R IER A R B E 2 A QTS
BoAE (E3% 2% RIS 0I5+ 7 8) 2
(3 RARRIE ) (BRI ATE T B) (M) i i
A -

B EXFREEN RZTE——F=A=+—
B ARAEZERIZTRABHRELARFRE
AR (ERRIFFMPERIETRE) 2
fetn - HERDRERZTERBEREESLHE
GBI E325AB LN ARBMREERMAZ
EEEIAR  IRBEETIMASTAE
ARBRBEMR A2 R IRR -
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EFETE®mEF

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme of the Company adopted on 16th
January, 2002 (as amended on 19th September, 2007). Details of
the movements in share options granted under the share option
scheme of the Company during the year were as follows:

BRESE

ARTRZTE=F— A5 B RAMRRT
(RZZELFNATNBLIER]) - REARRQA
BRRERT BN FAMK L 2 BRE EB BN
I

Number of shares of the Company to be issued upon exercise of the share options

ROEBREARTRIZALARGHE

Exercise price
per share Cancelled
(subjectto  Outstanding Granted Exercised  Reclassified orlapsed  Outstanding
Name or category adjustments) as af during during during during as at
of participants Date of grant Exercisable period* Eévﬂoﬁf% 1.4.2010 the year the year the year the year 31.3.201
1k W-%-%F R_g--%
(TFHUFER) mA-H ERiE® =B=1-H
SRELZIEH REBE ATERE* (W) HATE  EREH FRTE FREXRH TEH GESHI
HKS
A1
Direcfors of the Company
ARRES
Chau Mei Wah, 28.3.2008 28.3.2008 t0 27.3.2011 151 4,102,250 - - - (4102,250) -
Rosanna “EENE ZET/\§=A-T/\AZ
Rx% ZE-t)\E I Ik
Chan Kwok Chuen, 28.3.2008 28.3.2008 f0 27.3.2011 1.51 1,830,000 - - - (1,830,000) -
Augustine “EENE ZET/\§=A-T/\AZ
RE® ZR-tAE ZE-—E=fZttH
Chan Fut Yon 28.3.2008 28.3.2008 f0 27.3.2011 151 3,812,500 - - - (3.812,500) -
Ri2 ZEEN\E ZET\E=A-T/\HE
ZR=T/\E “E--F=AZt4h
Cheung Hon Kit 28.3.2008 28.3.2008 t0 27.3.2011 151 3,812,500 - - - (3,812,500) -
KR “EENE ZEEN\EZA-TN\AE
ZAZt/H Z3——%£-A-t+H
Chuck, Winston 28.3.2008 28.3.2008 f0 27.3.2011 1.51 381,250 - - - (381,250) -
Calptor Z2T)\E ZEEN\EZAZTN\AE
5% ZR-tAE ZE-—E=fZttH
Lee Kif Wah 28.3.2008 28.3.2008 f0 27.3.2011 151 381,250 - - - (381,250) -
FhE ZEENE ZET\§=AZTN\HE
ZR=T/\E “E--F=ACtth
Shek Lai Him, 28.3.2008 28.3.2008 t0 27.3.2011 151 381,250 - - - (381,250) -
Abrgham ZRE)E ZEENEZA_TN\BE
RER ZRE-tAE ZE-—-F=fZt+tH
Employees 28.3.2008 28.3.2008 to 27.3.2011 151 3,156,750 - - (305,000 (2.851,750) -
g Z2T)\E ZEEN\EZA-TN\AE
ZR-tAE ZE-—E=fZttH
Other participants 28.3.2008 28.3.2008 f0 27.3.2011 1.51 11,590,000 - - 305,000°  (11,895,000) -
AftpEE ZEENE ZET\§=A-TN\HE
ZR=T/\E “E--F=ACtth
Total
@it 29,447,750 - - - (29,447,750) -

*

#

These share options were vested at the date of grant.

Reclassify certain optionholder(s) from the categories of employee(s)

to other participant(s).

* OREBEERNRBERRE -
f EARETERESAEAREERNENREMS
mEEH -
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Note:

The exercise price of share options of the Company was adjusted from
HK$2.52 per share to HKS$1.51 per share with effect from 22nd October,
2010 due to the distribution of the contributed surplus of the Company as
disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 16th August, 2010.

Details of the share option scheme of the Company are set out
in the note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed herein, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party fo any arrangements
which enabled the directors of the Company to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debt
securities including debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate, and none of the directors, chief executives or
their spouse or children under the age of 18, had any right to
subscribe for securities of the Company, or had exercised any
such right during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
SIGNIFICANCE

IN CONTRACTS OF

In November 2010, a loan agreement was entered info between
ITC Management Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, and Dr. Chan Kwok Keung, Charles, the
Chairman, executive director and the controlling shareholder
of the Company, pursuant to which Dr. Chan agreed to grant
an unsecured loan of up to HK$65 million to ITC Management
Limited. The loan bears interest at the best lending rate of
Hong Kong dollars as quoted by The Hongkong and Shanghai
Banking Corporatfion Limited and shall be repaid by no later
than 31st March, 2012. As at 31st March, 2011, the outstanding
loan amount was approximately HK$46 million. Pursuant
to the Listing Rules, the aforesaid transaction constitutes a
connected fransaction which is exempted from the reporting,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements.

Save as disclosed herein and also in notes 31 and 46 to the
consolidated financial statements, no contracts of significance
to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party
and in which a director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or
at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

None of the directors of the Company were interested in any
business apart from the Group’s businesses which compete or is
likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses
of the Group as at 31st March, 2011.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFETEe®mEF

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS/OTHER PERSONS RECORDED IN
THE REGISTER KEPT UNDER SECTION 336 OF THE
SFO

As at 31st March, 2011, so far as is known to the directors and
the chief executives of the Company, the interests or short
positions of substantial shareholders/other persons in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register of the Company required o be kept under Section 336 of
the SFO were as follows:

(a) Interests and short positions of substantial shareholders in
shares of the Company

Long position/

REZZRMEROEIBHREFZE
AMAEHcETERR HitA+t 2
BERAXR

RZZT——FZA=+—H BARQRRZEER
FETRABMNE BESHFRBEENE
BIERIFZ AR LR BRMATEESky TERE
= (N g NI S N E L2 S S P e N
BT

() TERRARALDARDZEBZRAXR

Approximate
percentage of
the issued
share capital

Number of
shares of
the Company

Name Capacity Short position held of the Company

AT EARDNRE BT

HE/ BB 514 #HR/ %R ROBE BRABNOBED

Chan Kwok Keung, Beneficial owner Long position 69,072,330 8.89%
Charles EnfEBA TE (Note)
PR B 58 (Htit)

Chan Kwok Keung, Interest of controlled Long position 202,678,125 26.08%
Charles corporation (Note) HE (Note)
R B 5 REEHEE 2 #a (K1:t)

(Hf:z)

Chinaview International Interest of controlled Long position 202,678,125 26.08%
Limited corporation (Note) HE (Note)
REEHEE 2 #a (Hrat)

(Ktat)

Galaxyway Beneficial owner Long position 202,678,125 26.08%
Investments Limited ERBEAA HE (Nofe)
(Hiat)

Ng Yuen Lan, Macy Interest of spouse Long position 271,750,455 34.97%
hiEe (Note) 55} (Note)
BBtk (Hat) (Htit)

Note: Mzt

Galaxyway Investments Limited was a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Chinaview International Limited which was, in turn, wholly-owned by
Dr. Chan Kwok Keung, Charles. Ms. Ng Yuen Lan, Macy is the spouse
of Dr. Chan Kwok Keung, Charles. Chinaview International Limited,
Dr. Chan Kwok Keung, Charles and Ms. Ng Yuen Lan, Macy were
deemed to be interested in 202,678,125 shares of the Company held
by Galaxyway Investments Limited. Dr. Chan Kwok Keung, Charles
held 69,072,330 shares of the Company. Ms. Ng Yuen Lan, Macy was
deemed to be interested in the shares of the Company held by Dr.
Chan Kwok Keung, Charles.

Galaxyway Investments LimitedZ&Chinaview
International Limitedz —f 2 &K E A &7 ' i
Chinaview International Limited 81| i FR B34 18 +
2ERB MMzt ARERIELT 2 BB -
Chinaview International Limited * [ B 3& 18 + &
150 B8 20 T ¥ 45 18 YE % B Galaxyway Investments
LimitedFT # & 202,678,125 28 X &) f% 15 2 #
7 o BREAIE 156 69,072,330 AN A RIS © i
B L T RERBRERELARFE 2 RHH
AR -
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS/OTHER PERSONS RECORDED IN
THE REGISTER KEPT UNDER SECTION 336 OF THE
SFO (continued)

(b) Interests and short positions of other persons in shares

BEZSRBEROEIZHEREFEZR
SRS ETERR HBAL
BRERRE (@)

(b) HALTRAQATARG REEARG 2B

and underlying shares of the Company BERE
Number of Approximate
Number of underlying percentage of
shares of shares of the issued
Long position/ the Company the Company share capital
Name Capacity Short position held held of the Company
B N figARDE  HEAARERT
#aE/EB g% BE/ KR R E HBERHEE REABNEIL
Everland Group Beneficial owner Long position - 83,333,333 10.72%
Limited (Note 1) e
ExBEBA M)
Wong Yun Sang Interest of controlled Long position - 83,333,333 10.72%
vk corporation (Note 1) 1 &
REEHER 2 #aw
(Bizt1)
Wong Yun Sang Beneficial owner Long position 400,000 - 0.05%
BEEAE (Note 1) HE
ExBEBA M)
Wong Yun Sang Interest of spouse Long position 1,000,000 - 0.13%
BEEAE (Note 1) HE
FoiBmess (ffat1)
Chen Mei May, Beneficial owner Long position 1,000,000 - 0.13%
Libby (Note 1) e
S ExBEBA M)
Chen Mei May, Interest of spouse Long position 400,000 - 0.05%
Libby (Note 1) e
S BeiBEes (Mit1)
Chen Mei May, Interest of spouse Long position - 83,333,333 10.72%
Libby (Note 1) e
S fe B (Afat1)
Chair Sai Sui Interest of controlled Long position - 83,333,333 10.72%
Bt corporation (Nofe 1) e
REEHER 2 #aw
(Biit1)
Yeung Po Yuk, Beneficial owner Long position - 116,666,666 15.01%

Pymalia
BEE
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS/OTHER PERSONS RECORDED IN
THE REGISTER KEPT UNDER SECTION 336 OF THE

SFO (continued)

(b) Interests and short positions of other persons in shares

RIEEZ R
AfMfEHcETERR H
BERKXR @)

& 5E3361% 1 E2E
+ 2

fib A

(b) HMALTRAQATARG REEARG 2B

and underlying shares of the Company (continued) BRRE (&)
Number of Approximate
Number of underlying percentage of
shares of shares of the issued
Long position/ the Company the Company share capital
Name Capacity Short position held held of the Company
EEZ YN FrEARE GEDACHT
nE/EB 514 BeE/ KA Ro#E HEROGBE RABHEDIL
Sunrise Light Beneficial owner Long position - 83,333,333 10.72%
Limited (Note 3) e
BERBEAA(Hi3)
All Media Services Interest of controlled Long position - 83,333,333 10.72%
Limited corporation (Note 3) 59}
REEHEE 2 #w
(Hr5t3)
Ultra Star Services Interest of controlled Long position - 83,333,333 10.72%
Limited corporation (Note 3) 59}
REEHEE 2 #w
(Hr5t3)
Yeung Hoi Sing, Interest of controlled Long position - 83,333,333 10.72%
Sonny corporation (Note 3) 59}
158K REEHEE 2 #m
(Hr5t3)
Yeung Hoi Sing, Beneficial owner Long position 75,000 - 0.01%
Sonny (Note 3) e
158K BEREAA(Hi3)
Liu Siu Lam, Interest of spouse Long position 75,000 - 0.01%
Marian (Nofe 3) e
2/ o fBfks (Hat3)
Liu Siu Lam, Interest of spouse Long position - 83,333,333 10.72%
Marian (Nofe 3) e
2/ o AoiBEs (Hat3)
Wonderich Beneficial owner Long position - 43,333,333 5.57%
Investments (Note 4) e
Limited BEREAA(Hita)

ANNUAL REPORT 2011 £ E R &



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFETE®REF

ITC CORPORATION LIMITED % # 4 % % M & B & #

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS/OTHER PERSONS RECORDED IN
THE REGISTER KEPT UNDER SECTION 336 OF THE

SFO (continued)

(b) Interests and short positions of other persons in shares
and underlying shares of the Company (continued)

BEZSRBEROEIZHEREFEZR
SRS ETERR HBAL
BRERRE ®)

(b) HALTRAQATARG REEARG 2B
RKR (&)

Number of Approximate
Number of underlying percentage of
shares of shares of the issued
Long position/ the Company  the Company share capital
Name Capacity Short position held held of the Company
EE YN FEART BARARE BT
nE/EB 54 BE/ KR ROBE HBEROHE BRABNE D
Lee Mei Lin Interest of controlled Long position - 43,333,333 5.57%
TxE corporation (Note 4) e
REEGEE 2 # 5
(Kiita)
Lee Mei Lin Beneficial owner Long position 700,000 - 0.09%
TXE (Note 4) 59}
BB AN t4)
Yu Man Chung Beneficial owner Long position - 10,000,000 1.28%
RN (Note 5) e
BB AN 5Es)
Yu Man Chung Interest of spouse Long position - 33,333,333 4.28%
RN (Note 5) e
fiBi e (Mits)
Tam Shui Ping Interest of spouse Long position - 10,000,000 1.28%
Bl (Note 5) 59}
foiBi e (Mits)
Tam Shui Ping Beneficial owner Long position - 33,333,333 4.28%
i pad (Note 5) e
BB AN 5Es)
Notes: Bet -

1. Everland Group Limited was interested in 83,333,333 underlying
shares (in respect of unlisted equity derivatives) of the
Company. Mr. Wong Yun Sang and Mr. Chair Sai Sui owned
as to 50% of Everland Group Limited respectively. By virtue of
the SFO, each of Mr. Wong Yun Sang and Mr. Chair Sai Sui
was deemed fo be interested in the underlying shares of the
Company in which Everland Group Limited was interested. Mr.
Wong Yun Sang held 400,000 shares of the Company and his
wife, Ms. Chen Mei May, Libby held 1,000,000 shares of the
Company. Mr. Wong Yun Sang was deemed to be interested
in the shares of the Company held by his wife and Ms. Chen
Mei May, Libby was deemed to be interested in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company held by her husband and
Everland Group Limited.
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1. Everland Group Limited£83,333,333& A~ 22
AR (BB LTRATTETIA)H
AL - EEALE BRI ED I
HEverland Group Limited Z 50%# z& ° 1R 15
BEREEGRD - EEAELERBHREE
Z 18 A Everland Group Limited# 5 ##
BZANFEARNDFHEEERE - HEEX
4 F55400,00008 A 2 A1 AR ) - T H 2 F R
ZE 2+ RI#41,000,00008 A2 B kR - =
BEREESAREZETRERLLMFZE
ZARNTRMDPHEAEZ - MEARERLZ TR
18 B A E Sk KEverland Group Limited
FT#s A 2 R R AR AN A BB AR (0 P #E
B o
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS/OTHER PERSONS RECORDED IN
THE REGISTER KEPT UNDER SECTION 336 OF THE
SFO (continued)

(b) Interests and short positions of other persons in shares
and underlying shares of the Company (continued)

Notes: (continued)

2. Ms. Yeung Po Yuk, Pymalia was interested in 116,666,666
underlying shares (in respect of unlisted equity derivatives) of
the Company.

3. Sunrise Light Limited, a company wholly-owned by All Media
Services Limited, was interested in 83,333,333 underlying shares
(in respect of unlisted equity derivatives) of the Company.
All Media Services Limited was wholly-owned by Ultra Star
Services Limited, which in turn was wholly-owned by Mr. Yeung
Hoi Sing, Sonny. Mr. Yeung Hoi Sing, Sonny was interested in
75,000 shares of the Company. Mr. Yeung Hoi Sing, Sonny
was deemed fo be interested in the underlying shares of the
Company in which Sunrise Light Limited was interested. Ms. Liu
Siu Lam, Marian is the spouse of Mr. Yeung Hoi Sing, Sonny and
therefore, by virtue of the SFO, was deemed to be interested in
the shares and underlying shares of the Company in which Mr.
Yeung and Sunrise Light Limited were interested.

4. Wonderich Investments Limited, a company wholly-owned by
Ms. Lee Mei Lin, was interested in 43,333,333 underlying shares
(in respect of unlisted equity derivatives) of the Company.
Ms. Lee Mei Lin held 700,000 shares of the Company. By virtue
of the SFO, Ms. Lee Mei Lin was deemed to be interested in
the underlying shares of the Company in which Wonderich
Investments Limited was interested.

5. Mr. Yu Man Chung and Ms. Tam Shui Ping were interested
in 10,000,000 underlying shares (in respect of unlisted equity
derivatives) of the Company and 33,333,333 underlying shares
(in respect of unlisted equity derivatives) of the Company
respectively. Ms. Tam Shui Ping is the spouse of Mr. Yu Man
Chung and therefore by virtue of the SFO, they were deemed
tfo be interested in the underlying shares of the Company
interested by each other.

Save as disclosed above, no other parties were recorded in the
register of the Company required fo be kept under section 336
of the SFO as having interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company as at 31st March, 2011.

BEEFSRAEROHFEIB6HERTFZE
AMAEHcETERR HitA+t 2
BERKXR @)

(b) HMALTRAQATARG REEARG 2B
RKRE (#)

Wizt (&)

2. BEELLIN6.666,6661 A A MR B
(BB FLEMBEAITETR) PGS -

3. Sunrise Light LimitedJ FHAIl Media Services
Limited® E#EH < 2 & - 1 783,333,3330%
RAalEERGD (BAELETRATET
B) AL ° All Media Services Limited
JhEUltra Star Services Limited 2 & #EE » 1M
Ultra Star Services Limited 8I| 15 /& 5 4t 4
%ﬁ%ﬁtﬁ 15 8 B 2 4 74 75,0000% 48 2 7] iR

0B #E S o 158 BT £ R B M Sunrise
Light Limited# B # 2 « R A A AE A AR (5
BEER B/ WMzTAGEXEEZR
B REBREEFLRBEKRD  BHEEAR
158 B 5t & K Sunrise Light Limited ¥ A # &
ZARRNBRGD RAABEERD P ES#E

< o
fm

4. Wonderich Investments Limited /i B 2= 33

ﬁt%é%ﬁz&ﬂ » 7 743,333,333 % 4

NRMEERD (BEAFLTRATETA)

EP Y5 W % o 332 &2+ #5 A 700,0000% A

NAEIRG o IRIEFES RBEGY - FEEL

+ 4 #% A B Wonderich Investments Limited
AR AN ARHBRDP S ER -

5. HIFELERERS I 510,000,000
AR BEERGD (BRFELEMRANSTET
B) % 7433,333,333 AR RIAERER % (B
FELETRATETR)hEEER - Eln¥
TEARXPEEZES  HUREES M
BIEG BERRAEREFSERARRE
RNARIEBERDP AR -

BEXFHEEEIN R_E——F=ZA=1+—
B RIEESLEEIEME3361F K AR BRFRTF
2B HMEEMATHEARARE 2K
B EER D ZESESORE o
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RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Information on the Group’s retirement benefit schemes is set out
in note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws, or the applicable laws of Bermuda, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata
basis to existing shareholders.

PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, the Company has maintained the
prescribed minimum public float under the Listing Rules, based
on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the directors.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31st March, 2011, the Company
repurchased ifs convertible notes in the principal amount
of HK$25 million at a consideration of HK$24 million from a
noteholder in December 2010 and such convertible notes were
cancelled. Save as disclosed herein, during the year ended 31st
March, 2011, there was no purchase, sale or redemptfion by
the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, of the Company’s listed
securities.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of significant events occurring after the reporting period
are set out in note 45 to the consolidated financial statements.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming annual general
meeting to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as the
external auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Dr. Chan Kwok Keung, Charles
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24th June, 2011

ANNUAL REPORT 2011 & E i %

g8y R

AEERKBAEF B 2 EREINNEGZE P BHRE
B EE4T -

BAELTERER
AR F) 2 7 R AR B o B HEE I AR R 3 M A

ARBBZEFRLEOIMRERRIEZHENR
A ERBERE IR -

ARKBE
WABEEAM READR MG 2 RAHERE
REFHA - ARA —EES ETRAIFETH

REARFRE -

%

i
i
EE
It
4
il
Ig]
b
el

ARl Em™

E=1U
K

RBEE-_Z——FE=A=+—BItEE £A
—E-EF+ - ANREEREFEBEABLOAR
B) Al 2 I Z & AN 4 $825,000,00008 T 0 KRB A
24,000,00078 ¢ * MU AT AR IR B T o BR A
XHBEEN RBE-E——F=A=+—H81t
FE - ARAIKETAMNERARMERE L&
HELOARNR 2 ETES

el
%
|
A

BREWRER

WEBBEZBEAFEABHINNGRE T HR
FMI5Ea5 -

7% 4]

ARARNABENZ REBFAR LRE R
RERERED  MERS BRAMTHERAZ
SN BT -

REEFE

T
PREREL

FB —T——FXXAZtTHMA

42



43

ITC CORPORATION LIMITED & ¥ 4 % % M & R & 7

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B Y 2 B HRE S

Deloitte.
=2

TO THE MEMBERS OF ITC CORPORATION LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
ITC Corporation Limited (the "Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the "Group”) set out on pages 45 to
138, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31st March, 2011, and the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a tfrue and
fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparatfion of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section
90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. We conducted
our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

BEFLEEEARAREZBRRE
(REREZMAZZ FRLA)

AZBED AT B HM]) B BRI ENF45
EIBERHCEEEERATD(UATHREIER
ADREMBAR (A TABIEEE]) NGRS
BBHRE  BER-_Z——F=A=+—HHELK
BHBIRAEK - URBEZALFENGEAEE
WAR HRARZEHRLGEERSRER N
REZEFBEME R E M EHE -

ESHAEMBRRARENTE

BERAMERABARBEBSMAGHEMD
(BEFBRELED) RBE(R AR B4R
BUBHE  USHEAUMBHRRELEEMAF
MRREEEERRREGEVIERRABEDN
MBS - EHRE P BHRR TN FERRREFEX
RSB E R RERA -

RBENEE

BAMEERRERMNBZEZEHEEPBR
RIELER - WIRRBREQLRDEFEOKRHRER
FEBRRELHRSE  MAATBEELMBAR K
PR AT E 2 AT EEME M A LA EFoK
EEL -BMACRBEBZESHMASRANER
BT RAEITERZ - G LB ERERMETER
e WREIRRTER  UWEEREMFLERS
BHEBREETFRENERERRML -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B Y & B HRE S

An audit involves performing procedures to obtfain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected
depend on the auditor’'s judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditor considers infernal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a frue and fair view in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity’s internal confrol. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the
directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31st
March, 2011, and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
24th June, 2011
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ITC CORPORATION LIMITED & ¥ 4 % % M & R & 7

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

e E2@EWBAX

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 &2 =F——4#=H=+—HIF F/E

2011 2010
Notes HK$°'000 HKS 000
(restated)
—E——F —ET-FF
izt FETT FEIT
(& &E5)
Turnover ==
- gross proceeds — TS RUE B R 5 54,455 75,276
Revenue WA 5 36,102 59,014
Management and other related BIE N E M B AR
service income LN 4,736 4,363
Net gains and losses on financial SRt TH 2z e &
instruments BRI 6 7.482 37,892
Interest income B A 26,902 42,079
Property rental income YIRS WA 4,125 3,959
Other income H A 1,362 8,046
Net gain on changes in fair values of KEYHERNTEEES
investment properties 2 WEFE R 13,088 31,784
Administrative expenses TER B X (61,299) (64,264)
Finance costs EUE AN 8 (22,558) (18,247)
Net loss on deemed disposal of partial RIEH S8 E R A Z 5
interests in associates et 2 B 1EH 5 9 (49.853) (136,815)
Share of results of associates b NG S
- share of results —H(HEE 86,497 87.161
- gain on acquisitions of additional N
interests in associates 2 Was 228,836 2,850
Profit (loss) before taxation and impairment BB AT & — R B & A &7 239,318 (1,192)
loss on an associate upon and affer BN BERRBENIKT
classification as held for distribution to IR R B 1% 2 R E & 18
shareholders and gain on derecognition P& A = YNE
of the associate Z W E AT 2w ) (E518)
Impairment loss on an associate upon and —EBERRREHN DL
after classification as held for distribution RFFED K T AR B &2
to shareholders and gain on Hig O BEEERZIL
derecognition of the associate WRZH A N a2 Was 10 (829.897) =
Loss before taxation BT A& 1R 11 (590,579) (1.192)
Taxation g 12 (2.136) (4,682)
Loss for the year REFEE (592,715) (5.874)
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ITC CORPORATION LIMITED #£ # £ % % M & R 2 7

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
e 2 @E B AX

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 & =F——4F=H=+—HIFF/E

2011 2010
Note HK$°'000 HKS 000
(restated)
—E——F —ET-FF
ikz3 FETT FEIT
(g=75)
Other comprehensive income: HihZ2mEUWA :
Exchange differences arising on BMEGINERFEE
translation of foreign operations 2 BN Z&E 1,303 8,743
Share of other comprehensive income LB E QR E A
of associates 2EKA 94,968 83,862
Gain on revaluation of land and buildings EHh i REF 2 W 39,212 85,364
Deferred tax arising on revaluation of land BT REFESE
and buildings ZIEFER IR 6.451) (13,458)
Fair value gain on available-for-sale A EIRE
investments 2 ANFEENE - 21,714
Reclassification adjustments: EHOBAE
- reserves released on distribution of — D IREETRRR
assets to shareholders IR (104,307) -
- reserves released on deemed disposal —RIEHEHE AR
of partial interests in associates D e o IR 8 H (4 (1.052) (6.670)
- investment revaluation reserve — I ER ISR E R
released on disposal of RIS B G
available-for-sale investments - (25,705)
Other comprehensive income for the year REZHAMBEIA 23,673 153,850
Total comprehensive (expenses) income rEEE2E (FAX) KA
for the year #aza (569,042) 147,976
HK cenfts HK cent
Bl BN
Loss per share i EE 14
Basic and diluted BEARREE (77.99) (0.83)
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ITC CORPORATION LIMITED & ¥ 4 % % M & R & 7

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BB KRR X

As at 31st March, 2011 R=F——F=H=+—H

31.3.2011 31.3.2010 1.4.2009
Notes HKS$’ 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
(restated) (restated)
—E——F —T-FF —TTNF
=A=+—-B =ZA=+—H MA—H
et FET FET FET
¢=27) (/=&E5)
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ER B 15 251,524 219,503 170,404
Investment properties KEME 16 102,423 88,497 54,592
Infangible assets BREE 17 1,737 1,540 830
Interests in associates il NEI: 18 2,022,646 2,471,715 2,305,330
Debt portion of convertible notes RRkERZ BRI 19 - 328,358 192,377
Conversion options embedded in ARBREERSZ
convertible notes s 19 - 201 =
Available-for-sale investments A HIEERE 20 1,552 8,049 39,239
2,379,882 3,117,863 2,762,772
Current assets nRBEE
Inventories FE 30 33 28
Debtors, deposits and prepayments R - ST RFBRAFIE 27 4,701 2,917 10,917
Amounts due from associates JRE Wtk & R Bl R IE 22 2,211 74,356 218,626
Amounts due from related companies JRE Ui B8 2 R B 5RIR 23 - 96 96
Loans receivable FEE R 24 26,969 21,969 25,000
Debt portion of convertible notes RRkERZ BRI 19 56,088 = =
Investments held for trading RIEEBERE 25 - 6,825 2,073
Derivative financial instruments TEETA 26 - - 2,876
Short-ferm bank deposits, bank RERITESN  ROET
balances and cash &k 27 8,970 144,207 13,700
98,969 250,403 273,316
Current liabilities nBEE
Margin account payables TR BR P 508 28 - - 4,231
Creditors and accrued expenses 1S BR 3k & FE 5T 2 29 12,083 13,011 12,935
Amounts due fo associates JE T Bk & R B FRIE 30 526 941 6,040
Loan from a director M—BEEER 31 46,113 = =
Bank borrowings - due within one year —FREH 2 RITIER 32 5,250 5,250 2,973
Bank overdrafts RITEX 33 42,790 37.974 16,476
Convertible notes payable [k E B e 5k 0R 34 161,589 = 197,299
268,351 57,176 239,954
Net current (liabilities) assets nE(BE EERE (169.382) 193,227 33,362
Total assets less current liabilities HEERTBER 2,210,500 3,311,090 2,796,134
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ITC CORPORATION LIMITED #£ # £ % % M & R 2 7

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BB KR X

As at 31st March, 2011 R=F——F=H=4+—H

31.3.2011 31.3.2010 1.4.2009
Notes HKS$’ 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
(restated) (restated)
—E—-F —T-FF —TTHF
=A=+—-B =ZA=+—H MA—H
et FET FET FET
(L2 &%) (fe&5)
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Bank borrowings - due affer one year —F I 2 RITIER 32 42,250 47,500 64,394
Convertible notes payable [k E B 5k IE 34 - 180,492 =
Deferred tax liabilities RENBEEE 35 38,457 29,870 15,586
80,707 257,862 79,980
Net assets BEERE 2,129,793 3,053,228 2,716,154
Capital and reserves BRARRE
Share capital LN 36 7,770 7,537 269,461
Share premium and reserves B m (B & HE 2,122,023 3,045,691 2,446,693
Total equity HmiER 2,129,793 3,053,228 2,716,154
The consolidated financial statements on pages 45 to 138 were BN FAEEFIBELEEMBEREERE
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 24th ——FARATHHEEEGZERIRETE
June, 2011 and are signed on its behalf by: WHTIHNEERRESSESE
Chan Kwok Keung, Charles Chau Mei Wah, Rosanna
BR B 58 AxZE
Chairman Deputy Chairman and Managing Director
*E L EFHEFBIEHE
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ITC CORPORATION LIMITED #& # 4 3% % B & B & 7

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REE@ ® B R

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 g2 =F——

F=H=1—HIFFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KLEREARE
Reserve Capital Property  Investment Converfible Share
Share Share  Confributed on  redemption Other revaluation revaluation  Translation notes option  Accumulated
capital ~ premium surplus ~ acquisition reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total
i {1 DEEf  REER TAREE
B&  ROEE REER  WEER B AfER i B ENRE i ERERE ZHEA &
000 HSO00 KRS0 MO0 HKSO00 HKSTODD HKSO0D HKSO0 HKSODD HKSO0D HKSO0 HKSOD MKSOOD
fhr  TEn  TEr  TEL fEr fEn T TR TEL TEr fEn TR TEn
(Nofea)  (Nofe )
(o) (itn)
At 1t Apri, 2009 RZEENERA-H 269461 44287 1,008927 (97.420) 908 9,154 44,588 (5.824) 140772 483 18,673 113443 2,681,152
Eectof changes in accounting ~ E3TRREE 2 &8 (Hs)
policies (nofe ) - - - 37,865 - - - - (2863) 35,002
AfTst April, 2009 (resoted) RETNEMA-B(RER) 29461 428 100897 (9740) 90 AT X YY) A V) 4183 18673 TI0RW0 271614
Loss forthe year KEEER - - - - - - - - G810 (58T4)
Bchange diferencesaisng ARSI FHELZESEE
on franslation of
foreign operations - - - - - 8,743 8743
Share of other comprehensie  BEREQFRHEARA
income of associotes = = (2138) = 81,952 4448 = = = 8,862
Gainonrevaluafion offond ~~ Eff L REF U
and buildings - - - 85,364 - - - - - 8,364
Deferred fox arising on B IHRETESEL
revaluafion ofland and BIERE
budings - - - (1345 - - - - - (134
Foirvolue gon on avaloble- ~~ IHEERE AT ENE
forsole investments - - - - 0.4 - - - - 0.4
Released on deemed disposal  BfEL EBEAT I ERR
of parfil inferests in @t
assoclofes - - 1,339 49 - (2943) (5.561) - - - (6.670)
Released on disposol of HETREERAREL
available for-sale investments = = = (25,705) = = = (256,705)
Tolol comprehensive income  AEE2ENA (Rx) 28
(expenses) for the year - 1,339 - (1.643) 71,906 14,618 1,630 68714 1471976
Capiol eorgonisafion E1E4 (268114) - M - - - - - -
Isue ofshares Eilkh
- on exercise o warrants ~fifeARER - {0 - - - - - - - ]
- onissue of ights shores ~ETHRRH 5300 102400 - - - - - - - 0%
- on placement of shares -RERD 800 50200 - - - - - - - 60,000
Transacfion costs afirbutoble ~ BARAREZRANE
to issue of shares - (5.348) - - - - - - (5,:348)
lsue of converble nofes BUARZE - - - - - -0 29%
Released upon lapse of BEREREAIRED
vested share options = = = = = = = (425) 4% =
Tonslerupon redemptionof BT ARZEEER
convertible nofes - - - - - - (4183) 418 -
Released on disposal offond i E LI REFHEL
ond buldings : : - (I54) : : : R :
Deferred fox released on HELHRETRER,
disposal of nd ond buldings~ EXER A - - - 3856 - - - - 3856
Decreose in associotes' equiy ~ REEAREARTERRS
afributable fo e Group’s TEYAEERREAT
inferests arising on equify RreskbESs)
transacfion of the associofes - - (5.352) - - (9.368) 14,552 (168)
At 315t March, 2010 R_F-FE=f=1-H 1531 50579 1377041 (96,081) 908 2159 142,791 08,794 139,034 292 18,248 719290 3053228
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ITC CORPORATION LIMITED # ¥ 4t

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
LR LE:

For fhe year ended 31st March, 2011 &t2=F——F=A=+—HI-FZ

Attributable to owners of the Company

E LM AR A H

KLEEEARE
Reserve Capital Property  Investment Convertible Share
Share Share  Contributed on  redemption Other revaluation revaluation  Translation notes option  Accumulated
capital ~ premium surplus  acquisition reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total
s [ WEBf  REER TAREE
R&  ROER EEER  WEERE B EfER i B ENRE fE BRERE ZHEA Gl
w00 HS000 A0 MO0 MRS MO HKSO0 MO0 HKSOOD AKSOD SO0 HkSO00 RSO0
fhr  TEn  TEr T fEr fEn TEn TR TEL TEr fEn TR TEn
(Nokea)  (Nofe )
M//Ea/ {“’Eb/‘\
At Tt April, 2010 (restated) RN-5-FEMA-R(HE5) 1831 570579 1317041 (96,081) 908 2159 142791 08,794 139,034 2928 18,248 719290 305328
Loss forthe year KERER - - - - - - - - - - (9005 (39275)
Behnge difeences aing~ BERNFEEEZERER
on translation of
foreign operations - - - - - - - - 1,303 1,303
Share of other comprehensie  BEEREQFRHEERA
income of associates - - - - - - - 35,304 59,604 94968
Ganonrevaluctionoffond ~~ EffHIRET A&
and buildings - - - - - - 39212 - - - 39212
Deferred fox arising on BT RETEL,
revaluotion ofland and BIERE
buildings - - - - - - (6.481) - - - (6.481)
Released on derecognifonof  RALETHERFRER
an associofe - 4582 - 9,008 - (10884 (16013) (104,307)
Released on deemed disposal B EBELAT A ERK
of parfil inferests in at
assoclofes - - - 10 - 1,360 - (209) (2233) - (1.052)
Tofol comprehensive income ~~ ZFE2TUA (FR) 48
(expenses) for the year - 459 - 10,388 32,781 (66,789) 21 (592115)  (569.042)
Issue of shares on converson 1A R AT ARZEERARE
of converfible notes 83 1186 - - - - - - - (802) - 6617
Repurchase of converblenotes  BETAKZRE - - - - - - - - - ) ® )
Released upon lapse of BEREREANGED
vested share options - - - - - - - - - - (18,248) 18,248 -
Distioufion Ak
- Dividend paid -Bffke - - - - - - - - - - 5307 (15307)
- disrbuton of assefs fo -AREETRR
shoreholders = (350,468) = = = = = = = (350,468)
Decrease n ossociotes' equiy  REEDARARTERR S
afributable fo e Group's MERAEENBENT
inferests arising on equify RresklEss)
transacfion of the associotes - - - - - (2.003) - - - 9,53 1532
Tronsfer &5 - - (898 = = = - = - - 829,897 -
At 31t March, 2011 NE--£=f=1-A 1770 577,765 196,676 (91.489) 908 10,544 176,552 2005 181,755 19,260 100047 219793
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ITC CORPORATION LIMITED & ¥ 4 % % M & R & 7

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
G A EH® B R

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 & —=F——4#=H=+—HIFF/E

Notes: Bt -

(a) The contributed surplus of the Group comprises the difference () AEBZEHBRTIEARARRRE-NLNL_F—
between the nominal amount of the ordinary share capital issued B-+tHWBZAREAPWE —FHBAR 2
by the Company in exchange for the nominal amount of the ANEEGr - BRAAE/ESZBERE ZREMEITZ
share capital of a subsidiary acquired pursuant to a corporate ERBRRAEEME 2= REAKRA B HMAR
reorganisation on 24th January, 1992 and the credits arising from AEEMELEZBRARFEEE ) ERAEES T
the changes in the capital and reserves of the Company in capital B ER AT Bt EiE 2 8FE -

reorganisations and the transfers to the accumulated profits for
offsetting the loss on distribution of assets to shareholders as
approved by the board of directors from time to time.

(b) The reserve on acquisition represents: (b)y WEEREE
(i) the amount of fair value changes shared by the Group in () HEZARWEE —HNBAREIIMER
relation to the acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary B NEBMBGHZATFEEEFHESEE

of an associate;

(i) the amount of fair value changes shared by the Group in (iy FEMEQARWBE—MWBARE  AEE
relation to the acquisition of a subsidiary by an associate; and Fr#E AT EBEZESHeEE &

(iiiy the amount of fair value changes arising from the acquisition @iy AEEKEE—HE Pt BB A B FEINRE 25 B P EE
of additional interest in a subsidiary by the Group. HE7ANFEEBEESHSRE
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ITC CORPORATION LIMITED #£ # £ % % M & R 2 7

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

e BRI ME X

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 &2 =F——4F=H=+—HIFF/E

2011 2010
HKS’000 HKS 000
(restated)
—E——F —E-TF
FET FEIT
(g=7)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES R
Loss before taxation FR% A& 1R (590.579) (1.192)
Adjustments for: BERE TS IEEL A
Amortisation of intangible assets BB 88 22
Depreciation of property, plant and Wz - BREREEITE
equipment 12,371 11,744
Gain on disposal of: HERE
- available-for-sale investments — Al HERE - (25,705)
- property, plant and equipment — W% - WEREE - (7.821)
Imputed portion of interest on convertible AN % 2~ HEE ) S 2B D
notes (18,706) (27,102)
Interest expenses B FH X 22,558 18,247
Impairment loss on an associate upon and — R E N R RNEN D EARE
after classification as held for distrioution DR T IR R B 2R EEE
to shareholders and gain on R A& EERZIE A A E 2 Was
derecognition of the associate 829,897 -
Loss (gain) on: BE (k&E) -
- changes in fair values —REMENTEE
of investment properties (13,088) (31,784)
- convertible notes — AR EIR (6.859) -
- conversion options embedded in — ] AR IR B A 2 MR A
convertible notes 76 1,672
- derivative financial instruments —THESRIA - (7.773)
- investments held for trading —REEERE 1,800 (4.149)
- repurchase of convertible notes — BB #RARZEE (2.331) -
Net loss on deemed disposal of partial RIEL BB E R RE D e
inferests in associates Z B RE 49,853 136,815
(Reversal of) allowance recognised for: R (EE) B4E -
- amounts due from associates and — FEUES = A R N B E A R
related companies KA (757) 93
- debtors, deposits and prepayments —EURERSK ~ F] & RTE(TFRIE - 155
Share of results of associates RN S (315,333) (90,011)
Operating cash flows before movements RetEBE R HB) 2 LTS
in working capital Hene (31,010) (26,789)
Decrease (increase) in inventories FER D (Em) 3 (5)
(Increase) decrease in debtors, deposits JEUERK ~ 5T & RFERFRIE
and prepayments (3 hn) > (1.688) 7,845
Decrease in amounts due from associates JE Wi Bt 28 A B IR 71,433 122,587
(Increase) decrease in loans receivable JE W B 3 (3 an) R (5.000) 3,031
Decrease (increase) in investments held FIEBEEREM D (3EM)
for tfrading 6,110 (603)
Decrease in derivative financial instruments  $TA & @ T A& - 44
Decrease in margin account payables JEAH 7 & BR P SR IER - (4,231)
(Decrease) increase in creditors and JE 1~ BR K I FE 51 R 2 O 4> ) 38 n
accrued expenses (928) 76
Decrease in amounts due to associates JE ATt & R B R IE R (415) (5.099)
Cash generated from operations REXBFEZRE 38,505 96,856
Dividends received from associates B E A RIIRE 14,010 -
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES RKEXKFE2RERE 52,515 96,856
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ITC CORPORATION LIMITED & ¥ 4 % % M & R & 7

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

e BRI ME X

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 g2 =F——

F=H=1—HIFFE

2011 2010
HKS’000 HKS 000
(restated)
—E——F —E-FF
TFET TFET
(&&&:351)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXEK
Acquisition of additional interests in associates W iEHE & A BRI MERS (249,424) (102,560)
Acquisition of convertible notes I B TR AR 15 (31,633) (112,162)
Additions to property, plant and equipment NEVE - BEREE (4.888) (2,534)
Additions to intangible assets REEBFEE (285) (732)
Proceeds from disposal of convertible notes & AT R R TS IR 99,582 =
Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale & A SR EMEHKIE
investments 6,497 56,448
Additions to available-for-sale investments ANE R HIHERE - (3.544)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HEWE - BEKEE
and equipment FrSskIE - 42,880
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES RBEXXBAZHRSEHE (180,151) (122,204)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES Al EK
Advance from a director H—RBEEIN 65,000 =
Redemption of convertible notes payables HE 2] AT #A AR SRR FE S 5K IE (24,000) =
Repayment of loan from a director EER—BESENK (18.887) -
Dividends paid BERRE (15.307) -
Interest paid EATHLE (11,281) (11,029)
Repayments of bank borrowings BERBITER (5.250) (14,617)
Payment of transaction costs attributable S —EBERREFTHES
to an associate classifications as held for DIk T AR R (L 2 3 SR
distribution to shareholders (2,866) =
Gross proceeds from issue of shares BITRM IS FIR B - 167,790
Gross proceeds from issue of convertible BT MR R R FOR
notes payable FriS kI8 M58 - 72,000
Gross proceeds from exercise of warrants TR RARERE P15 S IR B R - 40
Repayment of convertible notes payable BB AR FIRER 5B - (72,000)
Payment of fransaction costs attributable to SBEITRGDEGEZRZKAE
issue of shares - (5.348)
Payment of transaction costs attributable S EIT AR EIRE IR
to issue of convertible notes payable FEAE 2 X Z PR AR - (1,097)
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM FINANCING RMEXK (BH) B2
ACTIVITIES REFHE (12,591) 135,739
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH ReHEBSEEER (HD)
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS B nFE (140,227) 110,391
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AAREHEESEEER
BROUGHT FORWARD 106,233 (2,776)
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE IIEERSH 2 HE
CHANGES 174 (1,382)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS HEBSHRSEHEIER
CARRIED FORWARD (33.820) 106,233
ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF CASH ReRREESEEAEFEIN
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Short-term bank deposits, bank balances SHISRITE R - RITHETT
and cash MB& 8,970 144,207
Bank overdrafts RITESZ (42,790) (37,974)
(33.820) 106,233
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ITC CORPORATION LIMITED # ¥ 4t

EAEMAR A F

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MW R M

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 éé_—;:_ F——F= A=+—HIFF

1.

GENERAL

The Company is an exempted company incorporated in
Bermuda with limited liability. Its shares are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “"Hong Kong
Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the registered office
and the principal place of business of the Company are
disclosed in the corporate information section of the annual
report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (*HKD"), which is also the functional
currency of the Company.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries
and the Group’s principal associates are set out in notes 48
and 18, respectively.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company have given careful consideration
to the future liquidity and going concern of the Group in
light of the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current
assets by HK$169,382,000 at 31st March, 2011. The directors
of the Company are satisfied that the Group will have
sufficient financial resources to meet its financial obligations
as they fall due for the foreseeable future, affer taking into
consideration that there are available borrowing facilities
and the future plan of the Group and that there are assets
available to pledge for obtaining further banking facilities.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRS(s)")

In the current year, the Group has applied a number of
new and revised HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the "HKICPA") that have
become mandatorily effective.

The Group applies HKFRS 3 (Revised) "Business
Combinations” prospectively to business combinations for
which the acquisition date is on or after Tst April, 2010.
The requirements in HKAS 27 (Revised) "Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements” in relation to accounting for
changes in ownership interests in a subsidiary after control
is obtained and for loss of control of a subsidiary are also
applied prospectively by the Group on or after 1st April,
2010.
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ITC CORPORATION LIMITED & ¥ 4 % % M & R & 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BB WK M E

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 &2 =F——4#=H=+—HIF F/E

3.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRS(s)") (continued)

As there was no transaction during the current year in which
HKFRS 3 (Revised) and HKAS 27 (Revised) are applicable,
the application of HKFRS 3 (Revised), HKAS 27 (Revised)
and the consequential amendments to other HKFRSs had
no effect on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the current or prior accounting periods.

Results of the Group in future periods may be affected by
future transactions for which HKFRS 3 (Revised), HKAS 27
(Revised) and the consequential amendments to the other
HKFRSs are applicable.

The principle adopted under HKAS 27 (as revised in
2008) that a loss of control is recognised as a disposal
and re-acquisition of any retained interest at fair value
is extended by consequential amendments to HKAS 28.
Therefore, when significant influence over an associate
is lost, the investor measures any investment retained in
the former associate at fair value, with any consequential
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss. In addition, as
part of Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2010, HKAS 28
(as revised in 2008) has been amended to clarify that
the consequential amendments to HKAS 28 in relation to
fransactions where the investor loses significant influence
over an associate should be applied prospectively. The
Group has applied the amendments o HKAS 28 (as revised
in 2008) as part of Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2010 in
advance of their effective dates (annual periods beginning
on or after 1st July, 2010).

This change in policy has no material impact to the
financial statements of the Group.

HK(FRIC) - Int 17 “Distributions of Non-cash Assets to
Owners” provides guidance on the accounting treatment
when an entity distributes assets other than cash as
dividends to its owners. Its clarifies that a dividend payable
should be recognised when the dividend is appropriately
authorised and is no longer at the discretion of the entity.
Under HK(IFRIC) - Int 17, the dividend should be measured
at the fair value of the assets to be distributed, and any
difference between the carrying amount of the dividend
payable and the previous carrying amount of the assets
distributed should be recognised in profit or loss when the
entity settles the dividend payable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MW R M

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 éé_—;:_ F——F= A=+—HIFF

3.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRS(s)") (continued)

HK({FRIC) - Int 17 has resulted in consequential
amendments to HKFRS 5 “Non-current Assets Held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations” regarding the accounting
tfreatment of the non-cash assets held for distribution.
Specifically, the amendments to HKFRS 5 specify that assets
to be distributed to owners should be measured at the
lower of their carrying amounts and fair value less costs to
distribute.

During the year ended 31st March, 2011, the Group
adopted HK(IFRIC) - Int 17, the assets to be distributed has
been stated at fair value. Impairment loss on an associate
upon and after classification as held for distribution to
shareholders of HK$934,204,000 has been recognised in
profit or loss for the year.

In addition, as part of Improvements to HKFRSs issued in
2009, HKAS 17 “Leases” has been amended in relation to
the classification of leasehold land. Before the amendment
to HKAS 17, the Group was required to classify leasehold
land as operating leases and to present leasehold land as
prepaid lease payments in the consolidated statement of
financial position. The amendment to HKAS 17 has removed
such a requirement. The amendment requires that the
classification of leasehold land should be based on the
general principles set out in HKAS 17, that is, whether or
not substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of a leased asset have been transferred to the
lessee.

In accordance with the fransitional provisions set out in
the amendment to HKAS 17, the Group reassessed the
classification of unexpired leasehold land as at 1st April,
2010 based on information that existed at the inception
of the leases. Leasehold lands which met finance lease
classification have been reclassified from prepaid lease
payments to property, plant and equipment measured at
revalued amounts retrospectively.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2011 & —=F——4#=H=+—HIFF/E
3.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRS(s)") (continued)

The effect of changes in accounting policies on the
adoption of amendment to HKAS 17 on the results for the
current and prior period by line item presented in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income is as
follows:

IR

w

Jﬂ%ﬁﬂ&%&iﬂ%ﬂﬁ;&ﬂﬂ%iﬁ %
((EBUMBHREER ]

==

Y

N

RABESTERBE 7R 2 BT 2 S BUR
EHHAEALBERR B CFEIRZET
REZAZERARZEEEHIIMT

31.3.2011 31.3.2010
—E——F —E-EF
=g=+-B =A=+-A
HK$’ 000 HKS 000
FET FET
Increase in administrative expenses AN E 1T IR 23 0
and increase in loss for the year K BB 3,476 1,104

The effect of changes in accounting policies on the
adoption of amendment to HKAS 17 on the financial
positions of the Group as at 31st March, 2010 is as follows:

BB B G RAUE1 7R BT 2 BE
BHUAKBMHAE_T-FTF=A=1+—~
ZHBH R HBWT

As af As af

31.3.2010 31.3.2010

(originally stated) Adjustments (restated)

HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000

—ET-FF R-F—FF

—A=+—H —A=+—H

(R%1) A (g E75)

FETT FHEIT FEIT

Property, plant and equipment mE - JFKJ%& &1 31,253 188,250 219,503
Prepaid lease payments A+ E KT 57,892 (57,892) =
Deferred tax liabilities FEFIEE Tﬁ (7,706) (22,164) (29,870)
81,439 108,194 189,633

Accumulated profits EE v 803,257 (3.967) 799,290
Property revaluation reserve Y EE G 30,630 112,161 142,791
833,887 108,194 942,081
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For the year ended 31st March, 2011 &2 —F——F=H=+—HIF FE

3.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRS(s)") (continued)

The effect of changes in accounting policies on the
adoption of amendment to HKAS 17 on the financial
positions of the Group as at Tst April, 2009 is as follows:

ERAHIREETERMBRESE
RI(TERBABHREER L) ()

BB BT ERNE 7R BT 2 @5 BUR
BPHAEEBRE_TTNFHA—RZH
BRRAZZEWNT :

As af As af

1.4.2009 1.4.2009

(originally stated) Adjustments (restated)

HK$'000 HKS 000 HK$'000

RZEZNF RZZEZENF

MA—H MA—H

(R3) HE (g=751)

FET FET FET

Property, plant and equipment Y WE R 68,484 101,920 170,404
Prepaid lease payments B EERKIE 59,436 (59.436) =
Deferred tax liabilities BERIBAE (8.104) (7.482) (15,586)
119,816 35,002 154,818

Accumulated profits 255 T 773,443 (2,863) 770,580
Property revaluation reserve S ENE AR 44,588 37,865 82,453
818,031 35,002 853,033

The effect of changes in accounting policies on the
adoption of amendment to HKAS 17 on the basic and
diluted loss per share for the current and prior year is
negligible.

The application of the other new and revised HKFRSs in
current year has had no material effect on the amounts
reported in these consolidated financial statements and/or
disclosures set out in these financial statements.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2011 é?é_—t_ F——F= A=+—HIFEF

3.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRS(s)") (continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new or
revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective.

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKFRS 7 (Amendments)

HKFRS 9
HKFRS 10

HKFRS 11
HKFRS 12

HKFRS 13

HKAS 12 (Amendments)

HKAS 24

(as revised in 2009)
HKAS 27

(as revised in 2011)
HKAS 28

(as revised in 2011)
HK(IFRIC) Int 14

(Amendments)

HK(IFRIC) Int 19

Improvements to HKFRSs issued in
2010

Disclosures - Transfers of Financial
Assets?

Financial Instruments*

Consolidated Financial
Statements*

Joint Arrangements*

Disclosure of Interest in
Other Entities*

Fair Value Measurement*

Deferred Tax: Recovery of
Underlying Assets®

Related Party Disclosures®

Separate Financial Statements*

Investments in Associates and
Joint Ventures?*

Prepayments of a Minimum
Funding Requirement®

Extinguishing Financial Liabilities
with Equity Instruments?

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st July, 2010
or 1st January, 2011, as appropriate.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st July, 2010.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st July, 2011.

. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January,
2013.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January,
2012.

S Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January,
2011.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2011 &2 =F——4F=H=+—HIFF/E

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRS(s)") (continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (as issued in November
2009) intfroduces new requirements for the classification
and measurement of financial assets. HKFRS 9 “Financial
Instruments” (as revised in October 2010) adds requirements
for financial liabilities and for derecognition.

° Under HKFRS 9, all recognised financial assets that are
within the scope of HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement” are subsequently
measured at either amortised cost or fair value.
Specifically, debt investments that are held within
a business model whose objective is to collect the
confractual cash flows, and that have confractual
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
inferest on the principal outstanding are generally
measured at amortised cost at the end of subsequent
accounting periods. All other debt investments and
equity investments are measured at their fair values at
the end of subsequent accounting periods.

o In relation to financial liabilities, the significant change
relates to financial liabilities that are designated as
at fair value through profit or loss. Specifically, under
HKFRS 9, for financial liabilities that are designated
as at fair value through profit or loss, the amount of
change in the fair value of the financial liability that
is aftributable to changes in the credit risk of that
liability is presented in other comprehensive income,
unless the presentation of the effects of changes in
the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income
would create or enlarge and accounting mismatch
in profit or loss. Changes in fair value attributable to
a financial liability’s credit risk are not subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss. Previously, under HKAS 39,
the entire amount of the change in the fair value of the
financial liability designated as at fair value through
profit or loss was presented in profit or loss.

HKFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1st April, 2013, with earlier application permitted.

The directors anticipate that HKFRS 9 that will be adopted in
the Group’s consolidated financial statements for financial
year ending 31st March, 2013 and that the application
of the new Standard may have a significant impact on
amounts reported in respect of the Groups’ financial
assets. At 31st March, 2011, no financial liability has been
designated as at fair value through profit and loss, the
application of HKFRS 9 will affect the measurement of such
financial liability if designation is made in the future.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2011 é?é_—t_ F——F= A=+—HIFEF

3.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRS(s)") (continued)

The amendments to HKAS 12 titled “Deferred Tax: Recovery
of Underlying Assets” mainly deal with the measurement of
deferred tax for investment properties that are measured
using the fair value model in accordance with HKAS 40
“Investment Property”. Based on the amendments, for the
purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities and deferred
tax assets for investment properties measured using the
fair value model, the carrying amounts of the investment
properties are presumed to be recovered through sale,
unless the presumption is rebutted in certain circumstances.
The directors anticipate that the application of the
amendments to HKAS 12 may have an impact on deferred
tax recognised for investment properties that are measured
using the fair value model.

Other than as stated above, the directors of the Company
are in the process of assessing the impact of the new and
revised HKFRSs.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
(the ‘“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain properties
and financial instruments, which are measured at revalued
amounts or fair values, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below. Historical cost is generally based on
the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for
goods.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company (its subsidiaries). Conftrol is achieved
where the Company has the power to govern the financial
and operating policies of an entity so as fo obtain benefits
from its activities.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2011 &2 —-F——4F=H=+—HIF F/E

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Basis of consolidation (confinued)

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income from the effective date of
acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as
appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
in line with those used by other members of the Group.

All infra-group transactions, balances, income and
expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

Business combination

The acquisition of businesses is accounted for using the
purchase method. The cost of the acquisition is measured
at the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of
exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed,
and equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange of
control of acquire, plus any costs directly attributable to the
business combination. The acquiree’s identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions
for recognition under HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” are
recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date.

If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest in the net fair
value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities exceeds the cost of the business
combinations, the excess is recognised immediately in profif
or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than land and
buildings, are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Land and buildings held for use in the production or supply
of goods or services, or for administrative purposes, are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
their revalued amount, being the fair value at the date of
revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation
and any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.
Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity such
that the carrying amount does not differ materially from that
which would be determined using fair values at the end of
the reporting period.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Any revaluation increase arising on revaluation of land and
buildings is recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in property revaluation reserve, except to the
extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same
asset previously recognised in profit or loss, in which case
the increase is credited to profit or loss to the extent of the
decrease previously charged. A decrease in net carrying
amount arising on revaluation of an asset is recognised
in profit or loss to the extent that it exceeds the balance,
if any, on the property revaluation reserve relating to a
previous revaluation of the same asset. On the subsequent
sale or retirement of a revalued asset, the attributable
revaluation surplus is tfransferred to accumulated profits.

No depreciation is provided in respect of freehold land.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost or fair value of
items of property, plant and equipment over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes
an investment property because its use has changed as
evidenced by end of owner-occupation, any difference
between the carrying amount and the fair value of that item
at the date of transfer is recognised in property revaluation
reserve. On the subsequent sale or retirement of the asset,
the relevant revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to
accumulated profits.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item
of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investment properties (continued)

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly aftributable expenditure. Subsequent
to initial recognition, investment properties are measured at
their fair values using the fair value model. Gains or losses
arising from changes in the fair value of investment property
are included in profit or loss for the period in which they
arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use or no future economic benefits are expected from
its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of
the asset (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset)
is included in profit or loss in the period in which the item is
derecognised.

Interests in associates

An associate is an entity over which the investor has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor
an interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operatfing policy
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control
over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity
method, investments in associates are carried in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost as
adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share
of the comprehensive income of the associate. When the
Group’s share of losses of an associate equals or exceeds
its interest in that associate, the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. An additional share
of losses is provided for and a liability is recognised only to
the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of that associate.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities of the associate recognised at the date
of acquisition is recognised as goodwill, which is included
within the carrying amount of the investment.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Interests in associates (continued)

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over
the cost of acquisition, affer reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine
whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss
with respect to the Group’s investment in an associate.
When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” as a single
asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of
value in use and fair value less costs to sell) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

From 1st January, 2010 onwards, upon disposal of an
associafte that results in the Group losing significant
influence over that associate, any retained investment
is measured at fair value at that date and the fair value
is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition as a
financial asset in accordance with HKAS 39. The difference
between the previous carrying amount of the associate
attributable to the retained interest and its fair value is
included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal
of the associate. In addition, the Group accounts for all
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that associate on the same basis as
would be required if that associate had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or
loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income
by that associate would be reclassified to profit or loss on
the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as
a reclassification adjustment) when it loses significant
influence over that associate.

Deemed disposal and disposal of partial interests in
associates

On deemed disposal and disposal of partial interests in
associates, the difference between the carrying values
of the underlying assets and liabilities attributable to the
interests disposed of, or deemed to be disposed of and the
consideration received, if any, is credited or charged to the
profit or loss as gain/loss on deemed disposal and disposal
of interests in associates.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Deemed disposal and disposal of partial interests in
associates (confinued)

When a group entity transacts with its associate, profits and
losses resulting from the fransactions with the associate
are recognised in the Groups’ consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the associate
that are not related to the Group.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite useful
lives are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intfangible assets with finite useful lives is provided on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Intangible
assets with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less
any subsequent accumulated impairment losses (see
the accounting policy in respect of impairment losses on
tangible and intfangible assets below).

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset are measured at the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset
and are recognised in profit or loss in the period when the
asset is derecognised.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly
atftributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets
and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into loans and
receivables and available-for-sale financial assets. All
regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
fime frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts (including all fees paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt
instruments other than those financial assets classified as
at fair value through profit or loss (the "FVTPL"), of which
interest income is included in net gains or losses.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL have two subcategories, including
financial assets held for trading and those designated as at
FVTPL on initial recognition.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

. it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near future; or

° it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial
instruments that the Group manages together and has
a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

) it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as
a hedging instrument.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL (continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value,
with changes in fair value arising from remeasurement
recognised directly in profit or loss in the period in which
they arise. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
includes inferest but excludes dividend earned on the
financial assets.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. Subsequent to inifial recognition, loans
and receivables (including debtors, loans receivable, short-
term bank deposits, bank balances and cash, amounts
due from associates/related companies and debt portion
of convertible notes) are carried at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less any identified impairment
losses (see accounting policy on impairment loss on
financial assets below).

Convertible notes held by the Group are separately
presented as a debt portion and conversion option
embedded in convertible notes. On initial recognition,
the debt portion represents the residual between the fair
value of the convertible notes and the fair value of the
embedded conversion option. The debt portion is classified
as loans and receivables and is subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives
that are either designated or not classified as financial
assets at FVIPL, loans and receivables or held-to-maturity
investments.

Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair
value at the end of the reporting period. Changes in fair
value are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in investment revaluation reserve,
until the financial asset is disposed of or is determined to
be impaired, at which time, the cumulative gain or loss
previously accumulated in the investment revaluation
reserve is reclassified to profit or loss (see accounting policy
on impairment loss on financial assets below).
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for
indicators of impairment at the end of the reporting period.
Financial assets are impaired where there is objective
evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred affer the initial recognition of the financial asset,
the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have
been affected.

For an available-for-sale equity investment, a significant
or prolonged decline in the fair value of that investment
below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of
impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of
impairment could include:

0 significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

° default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments; or

° it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

° the disappearance of an active market for the
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade
debtors and loans receivable, assets that are assessed
not to be impaired individually are subsequently assessed
for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence
of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include
the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an
increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio
past the average credit period and observable changes in
national or local economic conditions that correlate with
default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an
impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when there
is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, and is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows discounted at the original effective interest rate.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of frade debtors, amounts due from associates,
amounts due from related companies and loans receivable,
where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of
an allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount
of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.
When a balance aforesaid is considered uncollectible, it
is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to
profit or loss.

For financial assets measured af amortised cost, if, in
a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment losses was
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is
reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying
amount of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed
does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been
had the impairment not been recognised.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments
will not be reversed in profit or loss in subsequent periods.
Any increase in fair value subsequent to impairment loss
is recognised directly in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in investment revaluation reserve.

Financial liabilities and equity instfruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions
of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting
all of its liabilities.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (contfinued)
Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.
Convertible notes payable

Convertible notes payable issued by the Group that contain
both the liability and conversion option components
are classified separately into respective items on initial
recognition. Conversion option that will be seftled by the
exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial
asset for a fixed number of the respective group entity’s own
equity instruments is classified as an equity instrument.

On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability
component is determined using the prevailing market
interest rate of similar non-convertible debts. The difference
between the gross proceeds of the issue of the convertible
notes payable and the fair value assigned to the liability
component, representing the conversion option for the
holder to convert the notes into equity, is included in equity
(convertible notes reserve).

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the
convertible notes payable is carried at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. The equity component,
representing the option to convert the liability component
into ordinary shares of the Company, will remain in
convertible notes reserve until the embedded option is
exercised (in which case the balance stated in convertible
notes reserve will be transferred to share premium). Where
the option remains unexercised at the expiry date, the
balance stated in convertible notes reserve will be released
to accumulated profits. No gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss upon conversion or expiration of the option.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
Convertible notes payable (continued)

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible
notes payable are allocated to the liability and equity
components in proportion to the allocation of the
gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating to the equity
component are charged directly to equity. Transaction
costs relating to the liability component are included in
the carrying amount of the liability porfion and amortised
over the period of the convertible notes payable using the
effective interest method.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities (including bank borrowings,
tfrade and other creditors, margin account payables,
amounts due to associates, loan from a director and bank
overdrafts) are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting
are deemed as financial assets held for trading. Such
derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting
period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss immediately.

Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts are
separated from the relevant host contracts and deemed as
held for trading when their characteristics and risks are not
closely related to those of the host confracts and the host
contracts are not measured at fair value with changes in
fair value recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B WK M

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 #tZ=F——4F=H=+—HIFF/E

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial
assets are transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
financial assets.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable and the
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expires. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories represent finished goods which are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is calculated
using the first-in, first-out method.

Impairment (other than goodwill)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indicatfion
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.
In addition, intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are
tested for impairment annually, and whenever there is an
indication that they may be impaired. If the recoverable
amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to
its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
as an expense immediately, unless the relevant asset is
carried at a revalued amount under another standard, in
which case the impairment loss is freated as a revaluation
decrease under that standard.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31st March, 2011 #Z2—=F——4F=H=+—HIFF/E

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment (other than goodwill) (continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as
income immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried
at a revalued amount under another standard, in which
case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation increase under that standard.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable
for goods sold and services provided in the normal course
of business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue from sales of goods are recognised when the
goods are delivered and the title has passed.

Service income is recognised when services are rendered.

Sales of securities are recognised on a trade-date basis
when contracts are executed.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the
Group’s right fo receive payment has been established.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when
it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Group and the amount of revenue can be measured
reliably. Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on
a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and
at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate
that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Rental income under operating leases is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the terms of the relevant lease.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2011 &2 =F——4#=H=+—HIFF/E

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e.
the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that
are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settflement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of
non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in
profit or loss for the period except for exchange differences
arising on the refranslation of non-monetary items in
respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly
in other comprehensive income, in which cases, the
exchange differences are also recognised directly in other
comprehensive income.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated intfo the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. HKD) at the rate of exchange prevailing
at the end of the reporting period, and their income and
expenses are franslated at the average exchange rates
for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the year, in which case, the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of fransactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity (the
franslation reserve).
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For the year ended 31st March, 2011 #Z2—=F——4F=H=+—HIFF/E

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Foreign currencies (confinued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of confrol over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of significant
influence over an associate that includes a foreign
operation), all of the exchange differences accumulated
in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the
owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.
In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary
that does not result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated
exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling
interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all
other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates
that do not result in the Group losing significant influence),
the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange
differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

Taxation

Taxation represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred ftax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income because
it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and it further excludes items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding
tax base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred
tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utfilised. Such assets and liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
fransaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Taxation (confinued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred ftax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there
will be sufficient taxable profits against which fto utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected
to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assetfs is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or seftle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities. Deferred tax is recognised in profit
or loss, except when it relates to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Retirement benefit costs
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit

plans are charged as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
constfruction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added
to the cost of those assets unfil such time as the assets
are substantially ready for their infended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the terms of the relevant
lease.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where
another systematic basis is more representative of the time
pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset
are consumed.

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements,
the Group assesses the classification of each element as
a finance or an operating lease separately based on the
assessment as to whether substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of each element have been
fransferred to the Group. Specifically, the minimum lease
payments (including any lump-sum upfront payments) are
allocated between the land and the building elements
in proportion fo the relative fair values of the leasehold
interests in the land element and building element of the
lease at the inception of the lease.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to employees

The fair value of services received determined by reference
to the fair value of share options granted at the grant
date is recognised as an expense in full at the grant date
when the share options granted vest immediately, with a
corresponding increase in equity (share option reserve).

At the time when the share options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in share option reserve will
be fransferred to share premium. When the share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised
at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in
share option reserve will be transferred to accumulated
profits.

Share options granted to consultants

Share options issued in exchange for goods or services
are measured at the fair values of the goods or services
received, unless that fair value cannot be reliably
measured, in which case the goods or services received are
measured by reference to the fair value of the share options
granted. The fair values of the goods or services received
are recognised as expenses, with a corresponding increase
in equity (share option reserve), when the counterparties
render services unless the services qualify for recognition as
part of the cost of assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BB WK K E

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 #Z2—=F——4F=H=+—HIFF/E

5.

TURNOVER, GROSS PROCEEDS, REVENUE
AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Revenue represents the amount received and receivable
from outside customers for the year and included gain on

EXE ERREAE - WARSD
BE#

g ASEAR R [ 3R B SV 2 B M B M
B WAL EREEERE 2 WS - Ak

disposal of investments held for trading. An analysis of the BAEBEKRAZDTWOT :
Group’s revenue for the year, is as follows:
2011 2010
HK$’ 000 HKS 000
—E——F —E—ZF
FETT FET
Interest income ) B WA 26,902 42,079
Property rental income YIS WA 4,125 3,959
Dividend income on available-for-sale AIEEERE 2 REWA
investments 168 1,887
Dividend income on investments held BIEEBEKREZREWA
for trading - 50
Gain on disposal of investments held HEFIEEBTRE 2 W=
for trading - 6,376
Management fee income EEEIA 4,736 4,363
Others Hth, 171 300
36,102 59,014
Segment information o2& %

The Group’s operafing segments, based on information
reported to the chief operating decision maker, being the
Executive Directors of the Company, for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment focuses
on each type of investments held by the Group, provision
of finance and other business (which included various
activities and reported in aggregate). The principal types
of investments held by the Group are long-term investment
and other investment. The Group’s operating segments
under HKFRS 8 are as follows:

Finance -
Long-term investment -

loan financing services

investment in investment such
as convertible notes issued by
the associates

investments in available-for-
sale investments, derivatives
and trading of securities

leasing of investment
properties, leasing of motor
vehicles and management
services

Other investment -

Others -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B WK M

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 &2 =F——4#=H=+—HIFF/E
5. TURNOVER, GROSS PROCEEDS, REVENUE 5. EX¥ MIENEALAE WARSD

AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) BER (&)
Segment information (continued) SEER (&)
Information regarding the above segments is reported B Loz ER 2R °
below.
Gross proceeds included in turnover represents the FIANBHEBZTERIEERE  BEAEEE WK
amounts received and receivable from outside customers REWEINEE 718 BERHESHTA
for the year together with gross proceeds from disposal of ZHTERIEAESE  ZEem T AN AEH
financial instruments which arise incidental tfo the main TEESIWASETREL -
revenue generating activities of the Group.
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and LR ABRERIRKEEDSEZ D 2 WA R ELE
results by operating segment: ST
For the year ended 31st March, 2011 BZ-_F——F=A=1+—-HLEE
Long-term Other Segment
finance  investment  investment Others total  Eliminations Consolidated
BE RORE EbRE Hip ABas i &Ga

HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
FET TER FEL TEL TEL TEL FET

TURNOVER EXE
- gross proceeds -fiESEAE 13,442 22911 18,521 12,095 66,969 (12,514) 54,455
SEGMENT REVENUE AHBBA
External sales HIEE 3,948 22911 168 9,075 36,102 - 36,102
Infer-segment sales PHEEE 9,494 - - 3,020 12,514 (12.514) -
Total @t 13,442 2911 168 12,095 48,616 (12,514 36,102
RESULT Ed
Segment result PHEE (23,867) 29,589 (9.568) 17,124 13,278 - 13,278
Central adminisfration costs ~ F RITHAA (16,882)
Finance costs BB (22,558)
Net loss on deemed disposal R {FHEBE R
of partiol inferests PAER ERFE
in associates (49.853)
Share of resulfs of associates ~ B{EEE AR EE
- share of resuls = 86,497
- gain on acquisitions of 1 E-UNG B
odditional interesfs b
in associates 228,836
Profit before taxation and BRI kB E AR 239,318

impairment loss on an associate 1A EH S A E
upon and after classification 2 TR REs

as held for distribution to RE®ZAERR
shareholders and gain on REILERZEE

derecognition of the associate 2\ & Z Mz A1 2 &l
Impairment loss on an ossociate —HEE A REH D
upon ond ofter classificafion  AHEAEFREE R

as held for distribution fo AR ZAERRR

shareholders and gain on RERERZHE DA

derecognition of the associate 2 Mz (829.897)
Loss before taxation BRHAER (590,579)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BB ®m KM

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 &2 —F——F=H=+—HIF FE

5. TURNOVER, GROSS PROCEEDS, REVENUE 5. X FENELE WARS
AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) FEE ()
Segment information (continued) SEER (EZ)
For the year ended 31st March, 2010 (restated) BE-_ZE—ZFE=-A=+—HILFE (KF?Y)
Long-ferm Other Segment
Finance investment investment Others total  Eliminations Consolidated
g RERE AR E Hth k) i &8
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
T TAT T T FAT T TAT
TURNOVER E£E
- gross proceeds -FEREAR 18,302 33,077 24,575 12,285 88,239 (12.963) 75,276
SEGMENT REVENUE AHUA
External sales HIMEE 8,971 33,077 8,313 8,653 59,014 - 59,014
Infer-segment sales PEEHE 9,331 - - 3,632 12,963 (12.963) =
Tofal it 18,302 33,077 8,313 12,285 1,977 (12.963) 59,014
RESULT ES |
Segment result PHEE (28,245) 31,323 39,485 33,391 75,954 - 75,954
Central administration costs B R{TBAA (12,095)
Finance cosfs AR (18.247)
Net loss on deemed disposal R fELEHE A
of partial inferests PR BEFE
in associates (136,815)
Share of resulfs of associates B EBENAEE
- share of results —B{h%4E 87,161
- gain on acquisitions —RERENFER
of additional inferests b
in associates 2,850
Loss before taxation BEAER (1.192)

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market rate or
at terms determined and agreed by both parties.

Segment result represents the result of each segment
without allocation of central administration costs, including
directors’ salaries, finance costs, impairment loss on
an associafe upon and after classification as held for
distribution to shareholders and gain on derecognition of
the associate and items related to interests in associates.
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ITC CORPORATION LIMITED #& # 4 3% % B & B & ¥

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B WK M

5.

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 &t2 —F——#=A=+—HIF F/F

TURNOVER, GROSS PROCEEDS, REVENUE 5. X FENELE WARS
AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) HmER (&)
Segment assets and liabilities THEERERE
As at 31st March, 2011 NR=—EB——H=H=+—H
Long-term Other Segment
Finance investment investment Others total  Unallocated Total
B RERE At E Hth AP AW 58
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$'000
Tér FiEx &z Tz TiEx TiEx TEx
SEGMENT ASSETS PHEE
Segment ossets PHEE 25,142 61,750 1,569 102,959 191,420 - 191,420
Inferests in associates BENTER - - - - - 2,022,646 2,022,646
Unallocated corporate assets ~ APEZ R EEE - - - - - 264,785 264,785
Total assefs BEE 25,142 61,750 1,569 102,959 191,420 2,287,431 2,478,851
As at 31st March, 2010 (restated) R-ZTE—ZFF=ZA=+—8EE5)
Long-ferm Other Segment
Finance investment investment Others total  Unallocated Total
HE RERE AR E 2t AHEH FOE 58
HKs'000 HKs'000 HKs'000 HKs'000 HKs'000 HKs'000 HK$'000
TEr TEr TEr TEr TEr TEr TEr
SEGMENT ASSETS PHEE
Segment assefs PHEE 86,289 334,720 14,895 89,228 525,132 - 525,132
Inferests in associates UG - - - - - 2471,715 2471715
Unallocated corporate assets ~ AREZLEEE - - - - - 371,419 371,419
Total assets BEE 86,289 334,720 14,895 89,228 525,132 2,843,134 3,368,266
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ITC CORPORATION LIMITED #£ # £ % % M & R 2 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BB WK K E

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 #Z2—=F——4F=H=+—HIFF/E

5.

EXE ERREAHE - WARSD
HER (#)

TMEEREE(E)

REERDBERAREEDBEOEER

PBERESARAREDE - TRIEH
ERRED WX BEREE - BY
BE HOPRTERRRTEEFERA
& - RITMBBATN B BEEE 2 — &P
n - HERBRITEFILARIARARRFE
HITEZ2MAADRE RN ZRIR
ZDREEZ —H D -

HROMAEERRBEEERTTAR
AIMTERERARNERD B MFFZE
BZRE  BULARBRBEUES -

HiER
BE-E——H=A=1+—HLEE

Long-term Other
investment  investment Others Total
RERE HiRE Hity Bt
HK$’000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FET FET FET

5. TURNOVER, GROSS PROCEEDS, REVENUE

AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment assets and liabilities (confinued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and

allocating resources among segments:

° all assets are allocated to operating segment other
than interests in associates, property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets, short-term bank deposits
and bank balances and cash. The bank interest
income is included as part of the segment results while
the related bank balances are not included as part
of segment assets reported to the Executive Directors
of the Company for the purpose of the resources
allocation and performance assessment.

o no segment liabilities information is provided as no
such information is regularly provided to the Executive
Directors of the Company on making decision for
resources allocation and performance assessment.

Other information

For the year ended 31st March, 2011

Finance
e
HK$’ 000
FET
Amounts included in the measure  :fEDEERBE
of segment result: ZRE
Net (loss) gain on: WTEEZ (BE)
Yo %58 -
- conversion options embedded — A A% 22 4 B A
in convertible notes 2B -
- investments held of trading —RHIEEBRE -
- changes in fair values of —REMERTE
investments properties = -
- convertible notes — AR RE -

(76) - - (76)
- (1,800) - (1,800)
- - 13,088 13,088

6,859 - - 6,859
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ITC CORPORATION LIMITED & ¥ 4 % % M & R & 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MW R M

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 é?é_—t_ F——F= A=+—HIFF

5. TURNOVER, GROSS PROCEEDS, REVENUE 5. EX¥ MIENEALAE WARSD
AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) HER (&)
Other information (continued) HaER (&)
For the year ended 31st March, 2010 HE—_E—ZTFE=HA=+—HItEE
Long-term Other
Finance investment investment Others Total
mE RERE HtRE H 1t A5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FEz  FAT  FEx  TEx  TEX
Amounts included in the measure FENNEERBRE
of segment result: LA
Net (loss) gain on: MTEEZ (BE)R&EFHE -
- conversion opfions embedded — AR IR A
in convertible notes 2R - (1,672) - - (1,672)
- investments held of trading —RBEBEEKE - - 4,149 - 4,149
- derivative financial instruments —TE&BIA = = 7.773 = 7.773
Gain on disposal of availablefor-sale I EAHIHERE
investments Z Wz - - 25,705 - 25,705
Changes in fair values of investments REMELTE
properties = - - - 31,784 31,784
Allowance for bad and doubtful REERA
debts (248) - - - (248)
Geographical information ith & & B

The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong and
Canada.

The Group’'s revenue from exfternal customers or
counterparties based on their locations of fransactions and
information about its non-current assets by geographical
locations of the assets are detailed below:

AEEZEZBURBERMNERK

AEERMEMNES D REHIEFRRS
%1? (BEEXHZAES D) ZWAF
Uil

Carrying amount

Revenue of non-current assets
L ON FRBEEREE

2011 2010 2011 2010
HKS’ 000 HKS’ 000 HKS$’ 000 HKS*000
—¥-—-F -—T-TF =—F--F -—T-TF
FET FET FET FHET
(restated)
(5 &%)
Hong Kong B5 30,775 54,245 329,260 285,053
Canada N 5,327 4,769 26,424 24,487

36,102

59,014 355,684 309,540
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ITC CORPORATION LIMITED # ¥ 4t

E LM AR A F

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MW R M

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 Eé_—t_ F——F= A=+—HIFE

5.

TURNOVER, GROSS PROCEEDS, REVENUE 5. EX¥ FMIENEALAE WARS
AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) HER (&)
Geographical information (confinued) WwEER (&)
Non-current assets excluded interests in associates, debt FERBEENBIREES A TR THRiRE
portion of convertible notes, conversion optfions embedded EZEEED - AR EEM A 7 R &
in convertible notes and available-for-sale investments. A HEERE
Information about major customers EHFERF2E R
During the year, the Group’s received interest income from FRN AEBHF="FB(ZZE—ZF:WH)
certain convertible notes issued by three associates (2010: Bt NIRRT 25 :FT}ﬁHXT}FEH&H)Z
two) which contributed over 10% of the total revenue of the ZHRBWMAEANEBR BT AFEIEI0% 5 Rl
Group amounted to HK$10,765,000 (2010: HK$14,579,000), /310,765,000 7T (ZZF —Z 4 : 14,579,000
HK$7,449,000 (2010: HK$15,752,000) and HK$4,697,000, L) - 7,449,000 T (— 8 — T & -
respectively. The interest income is included in the long-term 15,752,000/% 70) }4,697,0007% 7T ° & B Uk
investment segment. AW ARBREER -
Major revenue by services and investments REBRBEREBEEZFEKR A
The Group’s major revenue was disclosed in the segment RNREB Z7ETERAR i DI AR HEEE o
revenue above.
NET GAINS AND LOSSES ON FINANCIAL 6. TRMIAZUEREREFESE
INSTRUMENTS
2011 2010
HK$’ 000 HKS* 000
—E——F —E-ZTF
FET FHET
Dividend income on available-for-sale AEEERE 2 REWA
investments 168 1,887
Dividend income on investments held BIEEBEKREZREWA
for trading - 50
Gain on repurchase of convertible Bk EE 2
notes I &= 2,331 -
Net gain (loss) on: Weas (B548) %4 -
- Convertible notes (note 19) — AR R R (M 5E19) 6,859 =
- Conversion options embedded in SCIE I EE:
convertible notes 2 R (76) (1,672)
- Derivative financial instruments —TEemIT A - 7.773
- Investments held for trading —BIEEBEKRE (1.800) 4,149
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale HERHEERE
investments 2 WEs - 25,705
7,482 37,892
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ITC CORPORATION LIMITED & ¥ 4 % % M & R & 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B WK M

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 &2 =F——4#=H=+—HIFF/E
7. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS 7. EEREEMS

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the nine ENEENFANESEZAZMESLOT -
directors were as follows:

(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEME

Retirement

Salaries benefit

and other scheme Discretionary

Fees benefits  contributions bonus Total

MK BIRER
s Hit B sHEIM R [hr-pi 2N ol
HK$’'000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FET FET FET FET

2011 —E-—fF

Chan Kwok Keung, Charles B 10 3,240 324 2,500 6,074
Chau Mei Wah, Rosanna EE$ 10 3,240 324 2,250 5,824
Chan Kwok Chuen, Augustine  [REI# 10 1,932 61 500 2,503
Chan Fut Yan PR B 10 600 60 - 670
Cheung Hon Kit ROEG 10 - - - 10
Chan Yiu Lun, Alan PR 2 10 960 12 1,000 1,982
Chuck, Winston Calptor =R 200 - - - 200
Lee Kit Wah T 200 - - - 200
Shek Lai Him, Abraham A8 200 - - - 200
Total Bt 660 9,972 781 6,250 17,663

Retirement

Salaries benefit

and other scheme Discretionary

Fees benefits contributions bonus Total

MR BIRER
e Hn @ F HE-REE MisIEA Fyo ke
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET FET

2010 —E-2F

Chan Kwok Keung, Charles PR B 5 10 3,240 324 2,500 6,074
Chau Mei Wah, Rosanna [BEE:: 10 3,240 324 2,250 5,824
Chan Kwok Chuen, Augustine Rl 10 1,932 61 500 2,503
Chan Fut Yan REAR 10 600 60 - 670
Cheung Hon Kit B 10 - - - 10
Chan Yiu Lun, Alan R 2 A 10 944 12 1,000 1,966
Chuck, Winston Calptor BE 200 = = = 200
Lee Kit Wah T 200 = = = 200
Shek Lai Him, Abraham AER 200 - - - 200
Total Bar 660 9,956 781 6,250 17,647
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ITC CORPORATION LIMITED #£ # £ % % M & R 2 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BB WK M

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 &2 —=F——4F=H=+—HIF F/&E
7. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS 7.

(continued)

(b) Employees’ emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments
in the Group, four (2010: four) were directors of the
Company whose emoluments were included in Note
(a) above. The emoluments of the remaining one
(2010: one) individual was as follows:

EEREEME (&)

(b) EEM S

AEEBRNURRHFAEY  Hu( ==
—ZF Ou) ARRAREE  Hile
FTALEXHFE(a) - Esp— (=T —
TFE: ) ABZEESOT :

2011 2010
HKS$’000 HKS* 000
—2-——% =
FET FET
Salaries and other benefits B &% H b 4= F 2,100 2,300
Retirement benefit scheme BIRTEFIEEI K
contributions 90 90
2,190 2,390
Their emoluments were within the following bands: TEZMERBSHELT
Number of employees
EE A"
2011 2010
—2——F .

1,000,001 7T £ 1,500,000/ 7T
1,500,001% 7T £ 2,000,000/ 7T
2,000,0017% 7t £2,500,000/% 7T

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to the five highest paid individuals, including
directors, as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
In addition, none of the directors has waived any
emoluments during the year.

The discretionary bonus is based on the directors’ and
employees’ skills, knowledge and involvement in the
Group’s affairs and determined by reference to the Group’s
performance, as well as remuneration benchmark in the
industry and the prevailing market conditions.
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ITC CORPORATION LIMITED & # 4t

EE M AR A F

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MW R MR

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 #tZ=F——4F=H=+—HIFF/E

8.

FINANCE COSTS Bt 7 B A<
2011 2010
HK$’ 000 HKS 000
—E——F —E-ZF
FHET FET
Interest on: JERTBATRFIE -
Bank borrowings wholly repayable BARAFAZIEER ZRITER
within five years 634 906
Loan from a director M—BESEX 1,132 =
Convertible notes payable wholly ARAFAZIERE 2] R
repayable within five years EEFE T IR 20,792 17,218
Margin account payables FET FF R R P 3k IR - 123
22,558 18,247
NET LOSS ON DEEMED DISPOSAL OF RIEHERE AR I Ba 2 BB
PARTIAL INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES =3

The net loss for the year ended 31st March, 2011 was
mainly resulted from the deemed disposal of partial
interests in associates which arose from the dilution effect of
conversion of convertible notes issued by the associates by
parties other than the Group and placement of new shares
to outside parties by the associates.

The net loss for the year ended 31st March, 2010 was mainly
resulted from the deemed disposal of partial interests in a
then associate, Hanny Holdings Limited ("Hanny”)., which
arose from the net dilution effect of exercise of warrants
and placements of shares to outside parties in May 2009
and September 2009, respectively. As a result, the Group
recognised a loss of HK$121,363,000 in the profit or loss.

BE_T——F=A=+t—BHULFEZEBE
FETERRIELEME AR D #Em S
ﬁ( BETI AR EEE PASNZ A LB aL Bt = X A
T2 AR IR R 15 R B2 A R RN R A LTEL
’i%ﬁﬁxfﬁﬁﬁi*EZ“"}%EEAUE%%E@

HE—_Z-—ZSHF-A=+—HLFEZEE
FRETEEREHEREAANEEEARE
AR ([ERE ) Z oS M8 L TIINRA
THRR_ZTANFEH A RN ATERRE
B R B E IR T E A 2 ST B S R R -

Hut - AEER B ERE18121,363,000
/%E“
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ITC CORPORATION LIMITED #£ # £ % % M & R 2 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M ®w R MG

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 éé_—;:_ F——F= A=+—HIFEF

10. IMPAIRMENT LOSS ON AN ASSOCIATE 10.

UPON AND AFTER CLASSIFICATION AS
HELD FOR DISTRIBUTION TO SHAREHOLDERS
AND GAIN ON DERECOGNITION OF THE
ASSOCIATE

In July 2010, Hanny, a then associate of the Group
proposed a repurchase offer to repurchase the Hanny
Notes (as defined in note 19) at their face value to be
satfisfied by the issue of new shares in Hanny of HKS$0.5
each (the "Hanny Repurchase Offer”). The Group
proposed an acceptance of the Hanny Repurchase Offer
(the “Acceptance”) and a distribution of the Group's
confributed surplus on the basis of 9.3 ordinary shares
in Hanny for every 10 ordinary shares in the Company
(the "Distribution”). The Distribution was approved by the
shareholders of the Company on 21st September, 2010.
On the date of approval of the Distribution, the Group held
42.77% equity interest in Hanny, representing 240,146,821
shares in Hanny. Together with 462,958,590 new shares
in Hanny obtained through the Acceptance with details
set out in note 19(a), the total number of Hanny shares
distributed was 700,936,289. The remaining 2,169,122
shares were retained as investments held for trading. The

—EBEARARENSEASESD
REIFBRREREZZBEEERK
LEtEAZBE QAT Z2WEH
R-ZE—ZFLH AEEERZHE QR
IREIRNEEO RS ERBBERTSRmE
0.578 7T 2 7 S 37 A% 7 1% 2 45 T {2 B8 [0 4% &
ER(FERMFE19) ((SFEEBRIZEH] -
AEERZEMFEBOES ((ER]) X
DRAEEZEHALG  HELSFTHEAFI0
% AN A 7] 5E AR 1 7% k9. 3R% &5 B 3 E A (n
([DIE])) e P RER=ZE—FENA=_+—
HERQAAREE  RLESKRE B -
N E AR EA277% 2 RAEZ - BE
72240,146,821 % & B J% 17 » 75 [F 38 18 £ 49
i EX 15 2 462,958,590/% % B 37 % {0 (F¥ 1%
%JzﬁABﬁ?m(o))' 0Ok 2 88 B (1) B2 A
700,936,2890% %T2,169,122H§{%5-§ B
EEBERE - AEBEEARBHZEHEE
%Zﬁ%ﬁ%}'ﬁé:ﬂ?——i_ﬁ +—H
AEFETREETZ ZBEIRMD - FI15H
RARRBHPA-—ZT—ZTF+A=-_+—HZ

Group disposed of the majority of these Hanny shares NI
classified as held for trading and held certain Hanny shares
with negligible value as at 31st March, 2011. Details of
the Distribution are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 21st October, 2010.
Impairment loss on an associate upon and after BMENTIREFSEAEEDIEFIRER &
classification as held for distribution to shareholders and ﬁ{gz,@g@gﬁgu&z&iﬁ@%g /N1 A
gain on derecognition of the associate were recognised in UWmN B ERA R AT
the profit or loss and summarised as follows:
2011 2010
HK$’ 000 HKS 000
—EB——F —ET-TF
FET FET
Impairment loss on an associate upon —EBERRRETDEE
and after classification as held for Fff’lf 7K T AR R R R E g
distribution to shareholders (Note (i) ZBEERE (B2 m) (934,204) -
Gain on derecognition of the associate  #% IF FER % B & A 7] 2 W e
(Note (ii)) (K7L i) 104,307 -
(829.897) -
Notes: H1aE -

(i) Impairment loss on an associate upon and after classification
as held for distribution to shareholders of HK$934,204,000 was
recognised in the profit or loss as the difference between the
fair value of the Hanny shares on the date the inferests in
Hanny as an associate were classified as held for distribution
to shareholders upon the approval of the Distribution, and the
carrying value of the interest in Hanny as at that date, and the
subsequent write down for fair value decrease after that date
to the date of Distribution, i.e. 11th November, 2010.

(i) The amount recognised in the profit or loss represents the
reclassification adjustment of reserve on acquisition, other
reserve, investment revaluation reserve and translation reserve
that were recognised in other comprehensive income in
previous years upon derecognition of the associate.
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ITC CORPORATION LIMITED & ¥ 4 % % M & R & 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ®w R MG

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 ﬁ_—t_ F——F= A=+—HIFF

11. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

11. BRFEAIE 18

2011 2010
HK$’ 000 HKS 000
—E——F —E-ZTF
FET FET
(restated)
(&&E5)
Loss before taxation has been arrived FRIAIEEE R :
at after charging:
Staff costs, including directors’ BINAN(BHEEEME) :
emoluments:
Salaries and other benefits e kEMER 29,676 32,622
Retirement benefit scheme ROKAE ) ET B B3R
contributions 1,287 1,286
30,963 33,908
Auditor’s remuneration Z 2R B & 1,767 1,557
Depreciation of property, plant and M- BERZETE
equipment 12,371 11,744
Minimum lease payments under operating RIELERAAIEL 2
leases in respect of rented premises SRR EYEHEEFHIE 1,063 1,023
Allowance for bad and doubtful debts RIZREAE - 248
Amortisation of intangible assets BT & BB 88 22
and after crediting: WEETA
Net foreign exchange gain R G 50 41
Rental income under operating leases HEMHFE  LEHAOES
in respect of rented premises, WA - RS R E X
net of negligible outgoings 4,125 3,959
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - HERZH2
equipment (included in other income) Wegs (FF A E MW A) - 7,821
Reversal of impairment loss recognised 1 [B] s & i BS 5 A B SRR
on amounts due from associates R M ENTE 757 =
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ITC CORPORATION LIMITED #£ # £ % % M & R & 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BB WK M

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 &2 —F——F=H=+—HIFFE
12. TAXATION

Taxation represents the deferred tax recognised by the
Group. Details are set out in note 35.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as
the Group had no assessable profits arising in Hong Kong
for both years.

The taxation for the year can be reconciled to the
loss before taxation per the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income as follows:

12. %I

HIBIEAEE R ZELERIA - FBFERHT
5535 °

HRASEYEREETBZEFHRMNE - &
W ESLREFEELEFBNSHER -

O 7 BOBBR & 2 FIM AR 5 BT
BIEZ HEMT

2011 2010
HKS$’000 HKS* 000
—E——F —E-ZF
FET FET
(restated)
(&=7)
Loss before taxation Brid AT &R (590.579) (1.192)
Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5% 12 & & FI15 5 &16.5%1 & 2 Fi 18 (97.446) 197)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible R E AR A2
for tax purposes BT & 149,908 22,461
Tax effect of income not taxable TERL T 77 H BB 2B i < WA 2
for tax purposes k-4 (4.331) (3.204)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERMIEBEE BB E 6,035 474
Tax effect of share of results of associates B (L EE & AR E4E 2 5 £ (52,030) (14,852)
Taxation for the year AREEZFHIE 2,136 4,682
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ITC CORPORATION LIMITED & ¥ 4 % % M & R & ¥

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MW R M

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 é?é_—t_ F——F= A=+—HIFEF

13. DISTRIBUTIONS 13. 2K
2011 2010
HK$’ 000 HKS 000
—E——F —E-ZTF
FET TFET
Dividends recognised as distributions to ~ FERNER D K T AR A &
owners of the Company during mEAZRE :
the year:
- Final dividend for 2010 - HK1.0 cent —_E-TFZRBAKRE -
(2010: Nil for 2009) per ordinary BRE®R.0ENL
share (ZE—ZF: ZFFTNF
7%5—5) 7,537 -
- Interim dividend for 2011 - HK1.0 cent ——Z——F R HRE
(2010: Nil for 2009) per ordinary Hi Selial 0/%%
share —E-FF: ZTTNEF
RE) 7.770 -
15,307 -
Dividends proposed in respect of the AEEFEREZRS
current year:
- Final dividend for 2011 - HK1.0 cent ——E——FZRERE -
(2010: HK1.0 cent) per ordinary TR E @R .07
share —Z-ZF 1.08(0) 7.770 7,537
In addition, as detailed in note 10, the total number of AN - %,ﬁwuw‘g‘ﬂoﬁiﬁu 29k 2 2 HEAZ D
Hanny shares distributed was 700,936,289. The amount of 5700,936,2800% o NG A M ERERERZ D
the Distribution recognised in the consolidated financial k£ %8 £350,468,00078 70 ¢ Jy 22 RREF BLRR 9
statements was HK$350,468,000, which was determined NokE I —E—ZTFE+—A+—HZm
with reference to the market price of Hanny shares on 11th BEE -
November, 2010, being the date of the Distribution.
The directors of the Company have resolved to recommend ARNREEZAZRUBE ST NRMNEEZZ
the payment of a final dividend of HK1.0 cent per ordinary E——F=-A=+—HIIEFEZXRHKEST
share for the year ended 31st March, 2011, which will be REEmART.OB I (ZZE—FF : 1.081{L) -

payable in cash (2010: HK1.0 cent).
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ITC CORPORATION LIMITED #£ # £ % % M & R & 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BB WK M

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 g2 =F——

14. LOSS PER SHARE

F=H=1—HIFFE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the

14. 5REE

AR A2 AA A2 SRR RS SR
TR T ARG ¢

following data:

2011 2010
HK$’ 000 HKS 000
—E——F —E-ZTF
FET FET
(restated)
(g=75)
Loss for the year attributable to the REERRAEE AEML
owners of the Company for the purpose EERAUNGTEERER
of basic and diluted loss per share RESE &R (592,715) (5.874)
Number of shares
% 1 8 B
2011 2010
—B——F —ZE-ZF
Weighted average number of ordinary RAAFAEGRERR
shares for the purpose of basic and B TERInE
diluted loss per share T1588 760,005,845 710,506,572

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
year ended 31st March, 2010 was adjusted for the capital
reorganisation of the Company in April 2009 and the
bonus element in the issue of four rights shares for every
reorganised share of the Company in May 2009, details of
which are disclosed in note 36.

The potential ordinary shares aftributable to the Company’s
outstanding convertible notes payable has anfi-dilutive
effect for both years as the conversion would result in a
decrease in loss per share.

For the years ended 31st March, 2011 and 2010, the
computation of diluted loss per share did not assume the
exercise of the Company’s outstanding share options as the
exercise prices of the options were higher than the average
market price of shares.

The computation of diluted loss per share did not assume
the exercise of the Company’s outstanding warrants
because the exercise prices of the warrants were higher
than the average market price of share of 2010.
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ITC CORPORATION LIMITED # ¥ & % % W # B 2
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MK m R MG

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 é?é_—t_ F——F= A=+—HIFEF

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. % - MERRE

Plant, Yacht
machinery and Furniture
Land and and office motor and
buildings  equipment vehicles fixtures Total
BE ‘
HER ERER HAR
THREF BRAERE AE £E ok
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FHET FHET FET FET
COST OR VALUATION BAS 4 {E
At Tst April, 2009 RZZEZNENA—H
(originally stated) (%) 46,129 3,952 30,863 8,821 89,765
Effect of changes in accounting St RREBH 2 FE
policies (note 3) (P zE3) 101,920 - - - 101,920
At 1st April, 2009 RZZEZTNEFEA—H
(restated) (i E5) 148,049 3,952 30,863 8,821 191,685
Translation adjustments BE 5 B 7.958 113 199 364 8,634
Additions WE - 222 2,239 73 2,534
Disposals HE (35,294) (358) (1,558) (512) (37,722)
Revaluation increase ShEE 82,256 - - - 82,256
At 31st March, 2010 RZE-ZF=f=+—H
(restated) (%&E’?\J) 202,969 3,929 31,743 8,746 247,387
Translation adjustments BE 5 B 302 26 47 63 438
Additions WE - 488 4,396 4 4,888
Disposals HeE - (25) - (29) (54)
Revaluation increase ShEE 33,732 - - - 33,732
At 31st March, 2011 RZE——F=A=+—H 237,003 4,418 36,186 8,784 286,391
Comprising: @E 3
At cost N - 4,418 36,186 8,784 49,388
At valuation - 2011 R-IT——F2E 237,003 - - - 237,003
237,003 4,418 36,186 8,784 286,391
DEPRECIATION RE
At 1st April, 2009 RZZENFNA—H - 2,679 12,311 6,291 21,281
Translation adjustments R 16 110 199 305 630
Provided for the year REFREE 3,597 648 5,886 1613 11,744
Eliminated on disposals 5 IR 3K 8 (505) (346) (1,454) (358) (2,663)
Reversal on revaluation BEREE (3,108) - - - (3,108)
At 31st March, 2010 RZE-ZTFE=ZR=+—H = 3,091 16,942 7,851 27,884
Translation adjustments R 10 27 49 60 146
Provided for the year KEFLEE 5,470 516 6,107 278 12,371
Eliminated on disposals & 5 4 - (25) - (29) (54)
Reversal on revaluation BEER (5.480) - - - (5,480)
At 31st March, 2011 —ZT-——%=f=+-H - 3,609 23,098 8,160 34,867
CARRYING VALUES BHEE
At 31st March, 2011 RZE——F=A=+—H 237,003 809 13,088 624 251,524
At 31st March, 2010 AZE-ZF=R=1+—H
(restated) (& E5) 202,969 838 14,801 895 219,503
At Tst April, 2009 RZZEZNENA—H
(restated) (s &) 148,049 1,273 18,552 2,530 170,404
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ITC CORPORATION LIMITED # ¥ 4 % % W # B 24 #
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BB mRME

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 éé_—;:_ F——F= A=+—HIFEF

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 15. %  BERSK®E#)
The above items of property, plant and equipment are FitE  MEREREBEEBLNESEITE
depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates ERIAT -
per annum:
Freehold land Nil SKASERE T i
Leasehold land and Over the shorter of the term AE i REF FHHA 520 - 504F
buildings of the lease, or 20 - 50 years (e E)
Plant, machinery and ME - HEE
office equipment 10% - 33'/3% N =R 10% — 33'/,%
Yacht and motor vehicles  20% - 33'/,% EE e E 20% — 33'/,%
Furniture and fixtures 10% - 33'/3% RERESE 10% — 33'/,%

The fair value of the Group’s land and buildings at 31st
March, 2011 have been arrived on the basis of a valuation
carried out on that date by RHL Appraisal Ltd., who is
a member of Hong Kong Institute of Valuers, and have
appropriate qualifications and recent experience in the
valuation of similar properties in the relevant locations.
The valuation was arrived at using the direct comparison

R-_E——%=A=+—H" ZIKE@iiﬂz&

BF 2 A FEERKMNITHEERRBERA
Rz B Z fhER Bk - {BZZ%E/&ETEEW%E =

8 WARTEHEEDEREMEZEEE
18RO ARG o AETVAB KL BUART AN
E2EHRBELGHERENE TSRS
EBER-

method by reference to market evidence of transaction
prices for similar properties in the same locations and

conditions.
The carrying value of land and buildings held by the Group AREBFFF LM NIETRBER R ZREE
as at the end of the reporting period comprised: B
31.3.2011 31.3.2010
HKS$’000 HKS 000
—E——F —E-TF
=A=+-—H =ER=—E
FET FET
(restated)
(g=75)
Freehold properties in Canada IMERKAERED 7.003 6,489
Land and buildings in Hong Kong on BAEAFRHELD
land held under medium-term leases BEZ L NEF 230,000 196.480
237,003 202,969
If the land and building had not been revalued, they fid T REFREER - BEFIRELKAR

B2 TR E T 869,259,000 T (ZE —F
i A=+—H8 :71,023,000# ) st A%
DEZT?P%#&%

would have been included in these consolidated financial
statements at historical cost less accumulated depreciation
of HK$69,259,000 (31st March, 2010: HK$71,023,000).
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ITC CORPORATION LIMITED # ¥ & % % W # B &
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BB ® KM

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 #tZ=F——4F=H=+—HIFF/E

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 16. REWE
HK$S*000
FET
FAIR VALUE ’WZF =]
At Tst April, 2009 R-_ZEZTNFMA—B 54,592
Translation adjustments Eﬁuﬂﬁﬁk 2,121
Net increase in fair value recognised in profit or loss RERPERZAFEEIENFSE 31,784
At 31st March, 2010 RZZE-—TF=A=+—H 88,497
Translation adjustments bE 3R 838
Net increase in fair value recognised in profit or loss REZPERZAFEBEEINFE 13,088
At 31st March, 2011 RZE——F=H=+—H 102,423
The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31st RN-—_ETE——F=H=+—H ' A& .&Et’f’/))
March, 2011 have been arrived on the basis of a valuation ZEONTFEBEBEEXMNITIEBREREGRD

carried out on that date by RHL Appraisal Ltd., who is Nz B ZEETERE - AT 1?5@%;5 =

97

a member of Hong Kong Institute of Valuers, and have
appropriate qualifications and recent experience in the
valuation of similar properties in the relevant locations.
The valuation was arrived at using the direct comparison
method by reference to market evidence of transaction
prices for similar properties in the same locations and
conditions.

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating
leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes
are measured using the fair value model and are classified
and accounted for as investment properties.

The carrying value of investment properties held by the
Group at the end of the reporting period comprised:

8 WAAFEHBLERENE CEE R
&SI AR B o METI N B R L BOESHEY
E2EHRABEIGEHFRENE LTSRS
BER-

ZIKEIﬁﬁﬁbx%%afﬂiﬁ¢%ﬁ2¢%¥T»§¥%{”ﬁ
R EAREE  FEEaUATER
8 ﬁﬁ%lﬂf’ﬂxﬁ%%ﬁ&&h)\ﬂ%o

AEERBREMRAFAERENEZRHEE
EE

@

31.3.2011 31.3.2010

HKS’ 000 HKS’ 000

—E-—F —E-FF

=A=+-8 =ZA=+-~H

FET FET

Freehold properties in Canada INEAKAFEREY 19,423 17,997
Land and building in Hong Kong BEAFHEN T EESF

under medium-term lease 83,000 70,500

102,423 88,497
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ITC CORPORATION LIMITED #£ # £ % % M & R 2 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MW R M

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 éé_—t_ F——F= A=+—HIFEF

17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17. B EE
HKS 000
TET
COST ﬁjizls
At Tst April, 2009 RZZEZNFMNA—H 1,914
Additions //J“E 732
At 31st March, 2010 R-ZZE—ZTF=A=+—H 2,646
Additions NE 285
At 31st March, 2011 R-E——F=A=+—H 2,931
AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT BERITE
At 1st April, 2009 RZZEZNFMA—H (1,084)
Provided for the year RNEETEHE (22)
At 31st March, 2010 RZZE—ZEF=A=+—H (1.1006)
Provided for the year REFTEHE (88)
At 31st March, 2011 W-ZE——F=H=+—H (1,194)
CARRYING VALUES AREE
At 31st March, 2011 R-B——F=H=+—H 1,737
At 31st March, 2010 R_E-—ZTF=A=+—H 1,540
At Tst April, 2009 RZZEZNFMNA—H 830
Other than club memberships of HK$732,000, which were BR—ZE—ZTEFE RN A732,00008 T 2=
acquired during the year of 2010 and have membership o4 7 B ASE RITEI  BIEEE
periods of 5 and 11 years, the intangible assets have HEEREH - EEEESENE S NP E
indefinite life. Intangible assets represent club memberships AREEMNMBEA([FE|) zvemeE - 52
in Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of China (the EHELEEZEFEEE  TRAERATISES
"PRC"). The directors have reviewed the carrying amounts of fER - WHEAMEEE 2B P EAREN
the intangible assets and considered that, in light of market 18 o
conditions, no impairment loss has been recognised in
profit or loss for both years.
ANNUAL REPORT 2011  [£ 5§ %
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ITC CORPORATION LIMITED & ¥ 4 % % M & R & 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B WK M

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 #tZ=F——4F=H=+—HIFF/E
18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

18. BfZE N AR

31.3.2011 31.3.2010 1.4.2009
—E——fF —E-TF —ETNF
=A=+—H =A=+—H WAH—H
HK$’ 000 HK$'000 HKS'000
FETT FE T FETT
Share of consolidated net assets BEBME AR cEEFE
of associates:
Listed in Hong Kong REAE™ 2,015,464 2,455,499 2,304,153
Listed overseas RSN BT 6,005 15,039 =
Goodwill S 1.177 1,177 1,177
2,022,646 2,471,715 2,305,330
Market value of listed securities: FmESME :
Hong Kong B 696,948 694,044 268,397
Overseas AN 496,729 457,764 193,431
1,193,677 1,151,808 461,828
Notes: Kzt -

(a) Particulars of the Group’s principal associates at 31st March,
2011 and 2010 are as follows:

(@) ARBIBPEANN-T——FR-F—
TE=A=T—B2ZHENT :

Percentage of

Place of Principal issued share
Place incorporation/ place of capital held
Name of associate of listing registration operations by the Group Principal activities
Bt/ TREE AREMEERT
BENTER LHbE it B 1 RABD TEXH
2011 2010
“g--% -T-%
% %

Burcon NutraScience Canada Canada Canada 21.15 21.70 Investment holding in company
Corporation (*Burcon”) and Germany  fIE X mex engaged in the development of
(Note (i) NEXREE commercial canola and soy
(Hi#£0) protein

RERSZEEERBATENR
AEEREEBZRA

PYI Corporation Limited Hong Kong Bermuda Hong Kong 26.79 26.79 Investment holding in companies

CPYI") £ BRE BB engaged in development and

REEBERAA ([RE])

investment in port and
infrastructure projects, land and
property development and
investment in association with
port facilities, treasury investment,
engineering and property-related
services

RESZEEBARERERHR

REBBAEORBZ I EDE
ERRRE BBRETERNZE
1R R 2 AR
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ITC CORPORATION LIMITED % # 4 % % M & B & #

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BB WK M

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 g2 =F——

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (cont

Notes: (continued)

inued)

F=H=+—HIFFE

(a) Particulars of the Group’s principal associates at 31st March,

2011 and 2010 are as follows: (confinued)

18. & N EE (&)
#iE ()

() AEEIZHRERNAN - ZT——FR_FT—
ZE=ZA=+—BZHBOT : (&)

Percentage of

Place of Principal issued share
Place incorporation/ place of capital held
Name of associate of listing registration operations by the Group Principal activities
Rt/ TERE AEBRSERT
BERAR LR LhiE it B 15 RABDH TEEK
2011 2010
—E-—fF -—IT-TF
% %
Hanny Hong Kong Bermuda Hong Kong - 4277 Trading of securities, property
5 Bk BEE B development and trading, holding
of vessels for sand mining,
industrial water supply business
and other strategic investments
EHEE MEERNER
FERDM  TECEKEBR
HiRBRE
Rosedale Hotel Holdings Hong Kong Bermuda Hong Kong 15.82 14.30 Investment holding in hotel
Limited ("Rosedale”) e BRE Bk (Note (iii)) ~ (Note (i) operation in Hong Kong and
(Note (i) (Hataip) — (Hizdi) the PRC and trading of securities
HBRBEZERERLA REER  RNEERTEEEHEE
(3aE)) EBARESFEER
(i ai)
ITC Properties Group Limited ~ Hong Kong Bermuda Hong Kong 24.71 7.77 Business of property
('ITCP") e BRE B (Note (iii)) development and investment
EEBESBEERATF (it i) in Macau, the PRC and
([ErsmE]) Hong Kong, golf resort and

ANNUAL REPORT 2011 & E f %

leisure operations in the PRC,
securities investment and
loan financing services
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ITC CORPORATION LIMITED & ¥ 4 % % M & R & ¥

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BB WK M

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 &2 —F——4#=H=+—HIFF/E
18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(a) Particulars of the Group’s principal associates at 31st March,
2011 and 2010 are as follows: (confinued)

All of the above associates are held by the Company indirectly.

The above table lists the associates of the Group which in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected
the results of the year or formed a substantial portion of the
net assets of the Group. To give details of other associates
would in the opinion of the directors of the Company, result in
particulars of excessive length.

(i) According to the announcement of the Company on
28th March, 2011 and the special general meeting held
on 9th May, 2011, the Group had obtained a specific
mandate (the "Disposal Mandate”) from the shareholders
of the Company to allow the board of directors of
the Company to dispose of up to 6,303,775 shares in
Burcon, representing the entire 21.15% of the issued
share capital of Burcon held by the Group, (in whole or
in part) at a minimum disposal price of C$9 (equivalent
to approximately HK$72.00) per share of Burcon. The
Disposal Mandate will be valid for a period of twelve
months from the date of the approval of the shareholders
of the Company having been obtained, i.e. 9th May,
2011.

(i) Rosedale is a company listed in the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange and its financial year end is 31st December. As
such, the Group has equity accounted for this associate
using published financial information of Rosedale. The
Group has used the consolidated financial statements
of Rosedale for the financial year ended 31st December,
2010 in applying the equity method of accounting in
respect of the interests in the equity shares of Rosedale
held by the Group. Hence, the Group’s share of net
assets and interests of Rosedale at 31st March, 2011 is
calculated based on the net assets of Rosedale at 31st
December, 2010 and the results up to 31st December,
2010, respectively. There were no significant transactions
that occurred between 31st December, 2010 and 31st
March, 2011.

(iiiy The Group has representative on the board of directors
of these associates, and hence, in the opinion of the
directors, the Group is able to exercise significant
influence over the financing and operating policies of
these associates throughout the years.

18. BME NEI R (&)

Hiat : (&)

(@

AEBEEBRE RN T ——FR_T—
TE=ZA=Z+—HZFHBWOT : (&)

LT AERE AR HARRMERA -

ERI B AEEBZERT - HARARES
RREIBREAEEAFEXEXBRAE
SEEEFEERINZAR - ARBESR
RE - FHEAMBE QR SEBREBNIT
£ o

i) BEARATFR-_ZT——F=ZA=+N
Az ABRAR-_E——ERANLBEE
TZRRERAE  AEEELARQA
REETF—iERlEE((HERE] -
#EXR R B EF S 56,303,775
Burconf& {7 * 1k 7N & & Fr4%Burcont®
BT 2 2 8621.15% » RIEHEE
& 5 BBurconfi% 90 T (4 /8 & 1
72.00%7T) » HEREGHERQ TR
RiLEBHBI—E——FHRANA)
#B12(8 A EAM A K -

(iy HEBAEEBBIMEmzAA &
FREEF#KBA+T=A=+—8-
Wt AEBFERIED Ah 2%
BEREBAESESEANGTALBE A
Ale AEEREMIFHEERSRG 2
BEREAEEgEARERAPEE
E_ET-—TE+-_A=+—HIHFK
FEZREUEHRE Bt A5 H
BEHBENR-_ZE——F=A=+—8H
FEERERDIDNRIABR T —
TE+-_A=+-—HZ2FEENLEE
—E—TE+ - A=+—Hz¥E
B-R—ZE—ZTF+=-_A=+—HZF
—E——F=ZA=+—BHETER
ERMEARS °

Giy AEEBZRRKXMAZEZR S QA
CEEG WEFRR AEEKF
RHZEHRERNA VB REBEBUR
TEERZEN -
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ITC CORPORATION LIMITED #£ # £ % % M & R & 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BB WK M

For the year ended 31st March, 2011

Notes: (continued)

—— = A= —FIEE
18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (confinued)

18. & N EE (&)
#iE ()

(b) The summarised financial information in respect of the Group's (o) AEBEBEARZHMEFFEERNAT
associates is set out below:
31.3.2011 31.3.2010
—B-——F =
=A=+—H =H=+—H
HK$’ 000 HKS 000
FR7T FBT
Total assets HEE 22,594,823 26,370,306
Total liabilities BEE (11,513,849) (13,965,425)
Net assets BEFE 11,080,974 12,404,881
The Group’s share of net assets AEB#EGBE DR Z
of associates BEFE 2,021,469 2,470,538
Revenue YA 5,893,021 6,534,765
Profit for the year NG S A 727,320 141,661
The Group’s share of results of AEB#EGBE DR Z
associates for the year FEEE 86,497 87,161
(c) During the years ended 31st March, 2011 and 31st March, (c) REE-_ZT——F=A=t+—HEKRZ-_Z—ZF
2010, the directors of the Company have assessed the FZA=1+—HIMEFER AREEZS D
recoverable amounts of interests in associates using value in TR ERESN EMESTE  AQq
use calculation for assessment of impairment on interests in EECIRAEIRBEATIEE ZBEZE
associates listed in Hong Kong as the carrying values of the BEE:TEF  ES L mEGE AT
interest in associates are higher than the market values of the 2 E & EHEITE G o Bt A TS Z(E
listed securities. The value in use of interests in associates is AEEIIREEBES AR ELE 2 RAKIRS
determined using the present value of the future cash flows mE (ENEEEASEKRZEHE) 2REMmES
expected to arise from associates based on their ultimate T WA EETER - EIEEHRE 8
disposal, applying a suitable discount rate. The value in use BESNRERRTE  WEZSEARERIE -
is higher than the carrying value for each of the principal
associates and hence no impairment loss is recognised
thereon.
(d) In prior years, the Group had discontinued recognition of its (dy RBEFE  AEEKIHEREEGE—H

share of loss of an associate. The amount of unrecognised
share of the associate, extracted from the relevant audited
accounts of the associate, for the year of 2010 and
cumulatively were HK$2,347,000. During the year ended 31st
March, 2010, the associate had completed a placement
exercise, the Group had recognised an increase in interest in
the associate with gain on deemed disposal. As a resulf, the
loss was recognised and debited to the profit or loss.
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ITC CORPORATION LIMITED & ¥ 4 % % M & R & ¥

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BB WK M

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 &2 —F——4#=H=+—HIFF/E

19. DEBT PORTION OF CONVERTIBLE NOTES
AND CONVERSION OPTIONS EMBEDDED IN
CONVERTIBLE NOTES

BeEEBORTERRKRE

N& L
S
5B
i

Debt portion Embedded conversion option
BEHS WEzaRE
31.3.2011 31.3.2010 1.4.2009 31.3.2011 31.3.2010 1.4.2009
ZE--§ -Z-%F CZEZTNE CZB--§ CZT-ZF CETNE
=A=t-B =A=t+-H MA-A Z=ZA=t-B Z=A=t+-H mA—A
HK$'000 HKS 000 HKS$ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000
FE7 FET FET FEn FET FET
Convertible nofes issued by ~ AEBEEE QA
associates of the Group: BT TRREE
Hanny (Note (a) below) HE&(FXHE (0) - 175,368 164,587 - - -
ITCP (Note (b) below) RIE(FXHE (b)) 56,088 52,031 27,790 - 76 -
Rosedale (Note (c) below) W (FXHi#(c)) - 100,959 - - 125 -
56,088 328,358 192,377 - 201 =
Analysed as: A
Non-current ERE - 328,358 192,377 - 201 -
Current ik 56,088 - - - - -
56,088 328,358 192,377 - 201 -
Notes: Hiat -
(a) The 2% convertible notes were issued by Hanny ("Hanny (o) Lb2fE A #2 AR ZE & Y @ 87 A 1T ([ 58

Notes”) with principal amounts of HK$19,000, HK$94,802,000
and HK$95,139,000 and with maturity on 12th, 16th and
22nd June, 2011, respectively, entitling the noteholders to
convert into shares in Hanny at any fime at initial conversion
price of HK$9 per share (subject to adjustments), which was
subsequently adjusted to HK$0.67 as a result of issuance of
bonus shares by Hanny on 6th June, 2007 and 24th September,
2007 and was further adjusted to HK$15.83 as a result of share
consolidation by Hanny for which every fifty issued shares was
consolidated info one share and issue of open offer shares by
Hanny in 2009. On maturity, unless previously converted, Hanny
shall redeem the Hanny Notes at the principal amount of the
Hanny Notes plus any outstanding interest.

In April 2010, the Group entered into agreement with an
independent third party to further acquire Hanny Notes
with an outstanding principal amount of HK$41,520,000, for
an aggregate consideration of HK$31,633,000, including
fransaction cost. The fair value of the conversion options
embedded in the new Hanny Notes on initial recognition was
considered to be negligible in the opinion of the directors of
the Company.

ZE) - A& A A19,000%8 T
94,802,000/% 7T }95,139,0005% 7t * £ #i
PRE-—_ETE——&XXA+=-B - +t~A K
“+=ZH BREZEFEARVNSERE
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NAR—ZEELFNA - BETLAK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31st March, 2011 &2 —=F——4F=H=+—HIF F/&E

19. DEBT PORTION OF CONVERTIBLE NOTES
AND CONVERSION OPTIONS EMBEDDED IN
CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continued)

Notes: (continued)
(a) (confinued)

As detailed in note 10, the Group accepted the Hanny
Repurchase Offer. The carrying value of the debt component
of the Hanny Notes, was amounted to HK$214,268,000 at the
date of acceptance of the Hanny Repurchase Offer. The fair
value of the embedded derivatives was insignificant. A gain
on the repurchase of convertible notes determined based on
the fair value of the new shares of Hanny issued to the Group
as at 11th November, 2010 and, after taking info account the
transaction cost, amounted to HK$15,385,000, was recognised
in profit or loss.

(b) The 1% convertible notes were issued by ITCP (the “ITCP
Notes”) with a principal amount of HK$64,000,000 entitling
the holders of the ITCP Notes to convert into shares in ITCP
at any time at an initial conversion price of HKS$0.7 per share
(subject to adjustments), which was subsequently adjusted to
HK$9.025 as a result of issuance of rights shares by ITCP and
share consolidation by ITCP for which every twenty-five issued
shares was consolidated into one share in prior years and
further adjusted to HK$8.904 as a result of placing of ITCP in
June 2010. Unless previously converted, ITCP shall redeem the
ITCP Notes at the redemption amount which is 110% of their
principal amount plus any outstanding inferest on 14th June,
2011.

In February 2011, ITCP proposed a repurchase offer (the “ITCP
Repurchase Offer”) to repurchase the ITCP Notes at an amount
equal to the sum of the outstanding principal amount and
10% redemption premium of the ITCP Notes by the issue of
a 3.25% convertible notes (the "New ITCP Notes”) with initial
conversion price of HK$2.2 per share (subject to adjustments).
The maturity date of the New ITCP Notes will be the date falling
30 months after the date of issue of the New ITCP Notes. Unless
previously converted, ITCP shall redeem the New ITCP Notes at
the redemption amount which is 105% of the principal amount
on the maturity date.

The Group accepted the ITCP Repurchase Offer in March
2011. ITCP will, subject to fulfiiment of certain conditions
precedent, repurchase the ITCP Notes held by the Group at
the consideration of HK$70.4 million, which is proposed to be
safisfied by the issue of the New ITCP Notes in the principal
amount of HK$70.4 million. In May 2011, the conditions
precedent for the ITCP Repurchase Offer have been fulfilled.
Accordingly, the New ITCP Notes with principal amount of
HKS$70.4 million was issued to the Group.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2011 #tZ=F——4F=H=+—HIFF/E

19. DEBT PORTION OF CONVERTIBLE NOTES
AND CONVERSION OPTIONS EMBEDDED IN
CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(¢) During the year ended 31st March, 2010, the Group entered
info agreements with independent third parties to acquire
2% convertible notes with maturity on 7th June, 2011 issued
by an associate of the Company, Rosedale, with outstanding
aggregate principal amount of HK$114,200,000 (the “Rosedale
Notes”). The Rosedale Notes can be converted into shares of
Rosedale at the conversion price of HK$6.78 per share (subject
to adjustments). Unless previously converted or lapsed,
Rosedale shall redeem the Rosedale Notes on maturity date at
110% of their then outstanding principal amount.

In August 2010, the Group accepted the repurchase offer
from Rosedale for the repurchase of the Rosedale Notes
in consideration for cash equal to 88% of the outstanding
aggregate principal amount of the debt component of the
Rosedale Notes, i.e. HK$114,200,000, held by the Group. The
carrying value of the debt component of the Rosedale Notes,
tfogether with the fair value of the embedded derivates,
amounted to HK$108,107,000 at the date of acceptance of the
repurchase offer. A loss on the repurchase of convertible notes,
together with the fransaction cost, amounted to HK$8,526,000
was recognised in the profit or loss.

At 31st March, 2011, all of the convertible notes held by
the Group are with maturity within one year. Accordingly,
the debt portion of the convertible notes, together with
the conversion options embedded in convertible notes are
classified as current assets on the consolidated statement
of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BB WK M

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 &2 —=F——4F=H=+—HIF F/&E

19. DEBT PORTION OF CONVERTIBLE NOTES
AND CONVERSION OPTIONS EMBEDDED IN
CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continued)

The Group classified the debt portion of the convertible
notes as loans and receivables and the embedded
conversion option is deemed as held for trading and
recognised at fair value on initial recognition. The fair
values of the conversion optfions embedded in convertible
notes on initial recognition and the end of the reporting
period are determined by the directors of the Company
with reference to the valuation performed by independent
professional valuers not connected with the Group using
Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model. Details of the method
and assumptions used in the Black-Scholes Option Pricing
Model in the valuation of the conversion options embedded
in convertible notes are as follows:

FECEERORTRER
BB ()

REXERE ALK RRER 2 EE
R DB AERREWRIE - ARk
AR BFEEETIRAFEEER - %E0
BREEWA 2 RRER B RERR KR
WMEMRZATFEBEBHARRIESERESE
B N &2 B 4 R 2 9B N B L E R E B
Black-Scholes i #E fE (B E = P17 2 B 1%
EE 7E ° Black-Scholes 84 & E &R = A £ A LA
SRR RS 2 RREEEZ AR
BREFEBIT

31.3.2011 31.3.2010
—g——f —T-FF
=A=+-B =ZA=t+—H
ITCP Notes EHMERRE

Stock price (HK$) i & & T) 2.14 1.940
Conversion price (HK$) HARE (B TT) 8.904 9.025
Volatility K 8 42.63% 61.45%
Dividend yield ZHERK 0 0
Option life (year) B ES® (F) 0.2 1.2
Risk free rate i P & 0.18% 0.32%

Hanny Notes REZEE
Stock price (HK$) i & & T) N/A FiE F 0.590
Conversion price (HK$) HARE (B 7T) N/A TE M 15.83
Voldatility ] N/A R A 65.40%
Dividend yield ZHERK N/A FiE A 0
Option life (year) B ESS (F) N/A T~E M 1.2
Risk free rate 4 [ g & N/A TEH 0.33%

Rosedale Notes HEZE
Stock price (HK$) & B T) N/A FiE F 0.57
Conversion price (HK$) HARE (B TT) N/A TE M 6.78
Voldatility ] N/A R A 99.70%
Dividend yield ZEEX N/A 3B A 0
Option life (year) B ESS (F) N/A TE M 1.2
Risk free rate 4 [ g & N/A TEH 0.31%

The effective interest rates of the debt portion of convertible
notes ranged from 8.76% to 9.16% (2010: 6.47% to 32.54%)
per annum.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B WK M

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 #tZ=F——4F=H=+—HIFF/E
20. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

20. THEERE

31.3.2011 31.3.2010 1.4.2009
—E——fF —E-TF —ETAF
=A=+—-8 =A=+—H mA—H
HK$’ 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
FET FHETT FET
At fair value: BAFEE:
Listed investments: EWRE
- Equity securities listed in —REBEB LM RAFS
Hong Kong - - 17,107
- Equity securities listed —REfM T ETH 2
elsewhere N - - 8,420
Unlisted equity securities (Note) — 3F LT iR R &5 (47 2%) 1,552 8,049 13,712
1,552 8,049 39,239
Note: Bt -

The unlisted equity securities represent investment in Shikumen
Offshore Feeder Fund, which is managed by Shikumen Capital
Management (HK) Limited and can be redeemed or purchased at
the fund’s net asset values provided by the trustee of the fund. The
fair value of the investment is determined by reference to the fund
net asset values at the end of the reporting period provided by the
frustee.

21. DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

It 3F £ 70 IR AN 3& % 38 PAShikumen Offshore
Feeder FundZ #% & + % £ & FiShikumen Capital
Management (HK) Limited& I + W A[ iZE & (5
FRAREBZESCEEFEBERXBA - ZKREZ
AFEENSZERRERRZIIEARBRZESE
EFEET -

21. BEWERR - s RAMKE

31.3.2011 31.3.2010 1.4.2009
—2-—-% ZT-TF ZTTLF
=A=+—-H =ZHA=+—H mA—H
HK$’ 000 HK$ 000 HKS* 000
FET FET FET
Trade debtors JEU E S HR X 3,547 1,797 9,575
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts o REREHE - - -
3,547 1,797 9,575

Other debtors, deposits and HEWERER 5l &
prepayments FEAS FRIE 2,402 2,368 2,435
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts B REREE (1.248) (1,248) (1,093)
1,154 1,120 1,342
4,701 2,917 10,917
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BB WK M

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 &2 =F——4F=H=+—HIFF/E

21. DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS 21. EWERR  -FATERBENRE#)

(continued)

Trade debtors arising from property investment business are
payable monthly in advance and the credit terms granted
by the Group to other trade debtors normally ranged from
30 days to 90 days.

The following is an aged analysis of tfrade debtors presented
based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting
period:

VMERBEBEEZRKE ZRFEZ AR
- MAEEREMEKREZERFEL ZE
EH— M B30H E00HTE -

FEWE BN E R RRERAH 2RI
DT :

31.3.2011 31.3.2010
—E——F —E—ZF
=A=+—H =A=+—H
HK$’ 000 HKS 000
FHET FET

Trade debtors FEUE FHR X
0 - 30 days 0-30H 2,200 1,785
31 - 60 days 31 -60H 16 5,
61 - 90 days 61 -90H 5 3
Over 90 days B @90 H 1.326 4
3,547 1,797

Before accepting any new customer, the Group will assess
the potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit
limits by customer. The directors of the Company will
continuously assess the recoverability of the receivables.

Included in the Group’s trade debtors balance are debtors
with aggregate carrying amount of HK$1,326,000 (2010:
HK$4,000) which are past due at the reporting date for
which the Group has not provided for impairment loss. The
Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.
The average age of these receivables is between 91 days
to 365 days (2010: between 91 to 180 days). The balances
were fully seftled subsequent to the end of the reporting
period. As at 31st March, 2011, no allowance for doubftful
debfts of trade debtors was provided (2010: Nil).
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For the year ended 31st March, 2011 &2 —F——4#=H=+—HIFF/E

21.

22,

DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

(continued)

Movement in the allowance for other debtors are as follows:

21. BWRR - AT E RESKRE (#)

HipERARRBEESIT

31.3.2011 31.3.2010

—E——F —T-TF

=A=+-B =A=+-8

HKS$’000 HKS 000

FET FET

Balance at beginning of the year REY 2 77 1,248 1,093
Impairment loss recognised BRERBREITE - 155
Balance at end of the year RERZ T 1,248 1,248

Included in the allowance for doubtful debts of other
debtors were individually impaired debtors with an
aggregate balance of HK$1,248,000 (2010: HKS$1,248,000)
which had been in severe financial difficulties. The Group
did not hold any collateral over these balances.

AMOUNTS DUE FROM ASSOCIATES

The amounts are unsecured, repayable within one year
and non-interest bearing. At 31st March, 2010, an amount
of HK$61,400,000 bore interest at the Hong Kong dollar
best lending rate quoted by The Hongkong and Shanghai
Banking Corporation Limited (the “Best Lending Rate”) plus
2% per annum. The effective interest rates was 7.00% per
annum. Such amount was fully repaid in the current year.

Before approving any new loan to associates, the Group will
assess the potential borrower’s credit quality and defines
credit limits individually. Limits aftributed to borrowers are
reviewed twice a year. The amounts due from associates
are repayable upon request for repayment, the amounts
are neither past due nor impaired and have no loan
default history, except for a balance of HK$2,009,000 (2010:
HK$2,766,000).

22.

H YRR 2 RIREE+ 2 EE R B R E
7 FEURBR FAB A5 771,248,0008 T (-2 — =&
£ 11,248,000 L) * B ARE R -
AEBEVWERZSEGFEEMEMR -

FE W B & 2 R KA

EEFELERRE AR —FARAEE
FrasE R-_E—ZEF=A=+—8"
61,400,000 T IR B LB ELRITER
RAME Y ZEBEBEEEBSTERIE ([RE
BRAXD)MEZFENE - BERFF XA
7.00E - ZEFEERAFALHERE -

B EAFERTE EARH - AEBE BT
RBEEBRAZEEEZL A TEM@B AL
ZIEERB -LTERAZEREBSFR
R X o BR 45 7£2,009,0008 L (—Z— T4 ¢
2,766,00078 7T ) Hh + FEUR B & X B 3R TE A e
EREE - MU FIB A AR E M A
RE K& ©
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For the year ended 31st March, 2011 &2 =F——4F=H=+—HIFF/E

22.

23.

AMOUNTS DUE FROM ASSOCIATES (continued)

As at 31st March, 2011, the Group has provided fully for the
amount of HK$2,009,000 (2010: HK$2,766,000). Movement of
the allowance is as follows:

22.

FE W Bt & A B FRIR ()

R-EBE——F=A=+—08  AEEZ %X
182,009,000/ 70 (—F —ZF : 2,766,000/
TO)VEE SIS - BEEEHMT ¢

31.3.2011 31.3.2010

—E——F —T-TF

=g=+-8 =A=+-A

HKS$’000 HKS 000

FET FET

Balance at beginning of the year KEY 2 &7 2,766 2,673
Impairment losses recognised BRI EITE - 93
Reversal of impairment losses recognised BB B R ZBESE (757) -
Balance at end of the year KERZ &7 2,009 2,766

Included in the allowance for doubftful debts were
individually impaired amounts due from associates with an
aggregate balance of HK$2,009,000 (2010: HK$2,766,000)
which had been in severe financial difficulties. The Group
did not hold any collateral over these balances.

AMOUNTS DUE FROM RELATED COMPANIES

The amount outstanding as at 31st March, 2010 related to
a related company in which a director of the Company,
who is also a shareholder of the Company has significant
influence over the related company. The amount was
unsecured, aged and repayable within one year and
non-interest bearing. It was fully settled in the current year.

Before approving any new loan to related companies, the
Group will assess the potential borrower’s credit quality
and defines credit limits individually. Limits attributed to
borrowers are reviewed twice a year. All amounfs due
from related companies that are neither past due nor
impaired have the best credit rating except for a balance
of HK$28,674,000 (2010: HK$28,674,000) owed by a related
company which the Group has a 18.84% equity interest. The
Group has provided fully for this amount of HK$28,674,000
(2010: HKS$28,674,000). There is no movement of the
allowance for amounts due from related companies for
both year.

Included in the allowance for doubftful debt was individually
impaired amount due from a related company with an
aggregate balance of HK$28,674,000 (2010: HK$28,674,000)
which had been in severe financial difficulties. The Group
did not hold any collateral over the balance.
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23.

REIREBHE T R EER AR E 2 'S D
A FIE 48 45 172,009,000 7L (Z T — T4 ¢
2,766,000 7T) - BAARET RE - A&
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FEWEE QR RE

R-F—FF=-A=t+—HZEUHEE—
BEZERBAR MARB—RES (W
RARBZBR)HZRERRBEERTE
N BRAFRBADLLEER  FRES—FA
AR—FAREBERRE - ZBHRBERAKF
NEE -

HHEEMFERTEEQARR - AEB BT
HEBEEGRAZEEEZTREMEANAL
ZIEERE - L TERAZRBESFRTW
ReoB—HEEAR (KASEHS E18.84%
A% AAE 2R ) FT/R 228,674,000 (ZE—F
F : 28,674,000 7T) Hh + B EBHEULEEE N A
AN EBESRE W AREEETFH -
RNEED L E28,674,0008 T (ZE—F
F : 28,674,000 L) FIBIEH 2 EHEAE - B
MEEER - FEUEE NGB 2 BETE

REBERREENERE CEKEZER
A FUIE 42 45 1728,674,000/8 7 (- T — T4 ¢
28,674,000/ 7T) - B ABREI R - A&
BV ERZEETERE MK -
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For the year ended 31st March, 2011 &2 —F——4#=H=+—HIFF/E

24. LOANS RECEIVABLE

25,

24. B E XK

31.3.2011 31.3.2010 1.4.2009

—ZT——fF —E-FF —ETNF

=A=+—-H =A=+—H MmA—H

HKS$’000 HKS’ 000 HKS* 000

FHET FET FHET

Unsecured A 28,867 23,867 26,898
Less: Impairment loss recognised B BEERRETE (1.898) (1.898) (1,898)
26,969 21,969 25,000

The amounts are unsecured and carry interest at the Best
Lending Rate plus 3% per annum (2010: Best Lending Rate
plus 3% per annum) with effective interest rate of 8% (2010:
8%) per annum.

There is no movement on the allowance for loans receivable
for both years.

Before approving any loans to new borrowers, the Group will
assess the potential borrower’s credit quality and defines
credit limits individually. Limits atfributed to borrowers
are reviewed twice a year. The directors will confinuously
assess the recoverability of the loans receivable. In the
opinion of the directors, the borrowers have sound financial
background and there has not been a significant change in
credit quality. As a result, the amounts are sftill recoverable.

The allowance for doubtful debts relates to an individually
impaired loan receivable of HK$1,898,000 (2010:
HK$1,898,000) for which the debtor was in severe financial
difficulties. The Group did not hold any collateral over this
balance.

BERAFBETDEER  REBEEEFNEM3
BEZFEMNER(ZZ2-—ZF : RESBEMNE
MIBZEFFRK) - NERFHNERRSE(ZF
—ZF:8E)FR -

MIEFE BB ERBEHEREZE -

BEEMERTHERAR - AEBEHTH
BEEFAZEREEREIAE@INALZ
FEERE - B TERAZRBELNEFRAM
R BERRBBETHERKER ZATKRDNE -
EERR BRARBREZIVBER - N
REFEERWES ANEL - Bt - FIAD
Al g [E -

REEBE AR F RVE 2 B E FX1,898,000
BT (ZZ—Z4 1,898,000/ C) f - M
EAEFEABABRENRE - AEBEWEL
I A AR A AR R o

INVESTMENTS HELD FOR TRADING 25. FEEERE

31.3.2011 31.3.2010 1.4.2009

—E——F —E-FF —EENF

=A=t—-8B =ZA=+—H MmA—H

HK$’ 000 HKS 000 HKS 000

FET FBET FE T
Listed equity securities, ETRAES -
at fair value: BAFEE:

- in Hong Kong —REELEM - 6,825 2,073
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For the year ended 31st March, 2011 &2 =—F——#=A=+—HIFF/EF

26.

27.

28.

29.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6. TTEERMITA
31.3.2011 31.3.2010 1.4.2009
—E——F —E-TF —ETAF
=A=+—-8 =A=+—H mA—H
HK$’ 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
FET FET FET

Warrants issued by: AT B 2 RIRERE

- Hanny — i - - 2,202
- PYI —{RE - - 674
- - 2,876

SHORT-TERM BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK
BALANCES

The short-term bank deposits and bank balances carry
interest at prevailing market rates ranging from 0.02% tfo
2.6% (2010: 0.02% to 1.71%) per annum.

MARGIN ACCOUNT PAYABLES

The margin account payables carried interest at floating
inferest rates with effective inferest rates ranging from
0.025% to 5.25% per annum.

CREDITORS AND ACCRUED EXPENSES

Included in creditors and accrued expenses are frade
creditors of HK$3,972,000 (2010: HK$4,688,000) and their
aged analysis presented based on the invoice date at the
end of the reporting period is as follows:

27.%4 sﬂf&?i—ﬁ &ﬂ'fj—mnﬁ

RESRIT R MR T F AT ISR IT A
R+ B o FENTF002ER26E (ZZE—F
F00ERITE)NE -

28. BN FFRIRFRE

[ENFREPFBIRZHF RS @ BRE
F=R A F0.025F £5.25E T o

29. ENBRRKRESHEX

JE 15F BR 3 K FE 71 B S AR B 53,972,000 JT
:%—%Eumwom%iﬁZ%ﬁ%%%

CMEERERZHARBEBEZHHZER
‘A/‘WZDT

31.3.2011 31.3.2010
—E2——F —E-FF
=BA=+-—H =A=+—H
HK$’ 000 HKS 000
FET FAET

Trade creditors e E 5 IR
0 - 30 days 0 - 30H 472 559
31 - 60 days 31 - 60H 3,500 4,127
Over 90 days @90 H - 2
3,972 4,688

The average credit period on purchases of goods is 90
days. The Group has financial risk management policies
in place to ensure that all payables are within the credit
fimeframe.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MW R M E

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 &2 =F——4#=H=+—HIF F/E
30.

31.

32.

AMOUNTS DUE TO ASSOCIATES

The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and
repayable on demand.

LOAN FROM A DIRECTOR

The loan is unsecured, carries interest at the Best Lending
Rate with effective interest rate of 5% per annum and
repayable within one year.

BANK BORROWINGS

30. BB & R B RIE

B3

RIATEER - 28

N.A—REEMRF/X

ZEEREER  UKEENXRFE - BE
AR—FREE -

FHRDE

32. BRITER

ARE

j
1
o

31.3.2011 31.3.2010 1.4.2009
—E——F —E-FF —ETNF
=A=+—H =A=+—H WAH—H
HK$’ 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
FET FET FET
The entire bank borrowings IRITEREH A ET
are secured and KAEEENT :
repayable as follows:
Within one year —FR 5,250 5,250 2,973
From one fo two years —FEMF 5,250 5,250 5,795
From two to three years MEE=F 5,250 5,250 5,815
From three to four years =FRBOF 31,750 5,250 5,837
From four to five years NFEERF - 31,750 5,859
More than five years HERF - 41,088
47,500 52,750 67,367
Less: Amount due within B —EANEIH
one year shown My ERE) & &
under current liabilities 2 HIE (5.250) (5,250) (2,973)
Amount due affer one year —F1& B 5 2 I8 47,500 64,394

The Group’s borrowings are all variable-rate borrowings
which carry interest at Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate
("HIBOR") plus a fixed percentage.

The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal
to contracted interest rates) on the Group’s variable rate
borrowings are 0.66% to 0.91% (2010: 0.64% to 4.75%) per
annum.

The Group’s borrowings are denominated in the functional
currency of the relevant group entity.

42,250

AEBEZERERTEE

EHEB

DLHER -

AREBEEREE

F 1 0.64[EF4.75[8) °

W ABABRITH
(THIBOR]) S N & K & B = X p &

R EBRFEGEE (MEER
HERIR) BEF0.66EE091E (= 2=

?7:

REBEERZEENSERBRR 2R

{E u+ 'fﬁ °©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BB WKW

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 &2 =—F——#=A=+—HIF/EF

33. BANK OVERDRAFTS 33.8BITEX
31.3.2011 31.3.2010 1.4.2009
—ZT——fF —E-TF —ETNF
=Z=A=+—-8 =A=+—H mA—H
HK$’000 HK$’ 000 HKS’ 000
FET FAET FET
Secured B 29,853 24,988 3,709
Unsecured 4 4K 4 12,937 12,986 12,767
42,790 37,974 16,476

Bank overdrafts carry interest at prevailing market rates
which range from 4.00% to 5.75% (2010: 4.00% to 5.75%) per
annum.

34. CONVERTIBLE NOTES PAYABLE

RITE L MIHBEITHE N T4.00E £5.75
E(=ZZF—Z4F : 400EE5.75E )t & o

3. TRREB RN KA

31.3.2011 31.3.2010
—E-—F —ZT-ZF
=B=+-—H =A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Liability component: aEHs
At the beginning of the year REF 180,492 197,299
Redemption during the year FRNED (23.563) (200,000)
Conversion during the year FREH 6.617) =
Issued during the year FNEFELT - 175,975
Interest charge FEXH 20,792 17,218
Interest paid EAIFE (9.515) (10,000)
At the end of the year ARER 161,589 180,492
31.3.2011 31.3.2010
—E——F —E—EF
=ZA=+—H =R=+—H
HK$’000 HK$” 000
FET FET
Analysed for reporting purpose as: HBEMES 2T :
Current liabilities mE A& 161,589 =
Non-current liabilities FmBEE - 180,492
161,589 180,492
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On 2nd November, 2007, the Company issued 5%
convertible notes which are unsecured, at par value of
HK$200,000,000 (the "Notes”). The Notes are denominated
in HKD. The Notes entitle the holders to convert them into
ordinary shares of the Company at any fime between the
period commencing on and including the 7th day after
the date of issue of the Notes up to and including the date
which is 7 days prior to the maturity date on 2nd November,
2009 at an initial conversion price of HK$0.75 per conversion
share (subject to anti-dilutive adjustments), which was
subsequently adjusted to HKS$0.61 as a result of bonus issue
of shares and warrants of the Company in 2009 and further
adjusted to HK$12.20 and then to HK$4.12 as a result of
the capital reorganisation and the issue of rights shares,
respectively, as disclosed in note 36. Unless previously
converted, the Company should redeem the Notes at 100%
of the outstanding principal amount. The effective interest
rate of the liability component was 6.06% per annum.
The Notes were fully settled on the maturity date of 2nd
November, 2009.

On 2nd November, 2009, the Company issued 5%
convertible notes which are unsecured, at par value of
HK$200,000,000 (the “New Notes"). Interest is payable semi-
annually. The New Notes are denominated in HKD and
entitfle the holders to convert it info ordinary shares of the
Company at any time between the period commencing on
and including the 7th day after the date of issue of the New
Notes up to and including the date which is 7 days prior
to the maturity date on 2nd November, 2011 at an initfial
conversion price of HK$0.50 per conversion share (subject
to anti-dilutive adjustments), which was subsequently
adjusted to HK$0.30 as a result of the Distribution. If the New
Notfes have not been converted, they will be redeemed on
2nd November, 2011 at 100% of the outstanding principal
amount. The Company is entitfled fo purchase the New
Notes at any time and any price agreed by the holders. The
effective interest rate of the liability component is 11.52%
per annum.

The New Notes in an aggregate principal amount of
HK$128,000,000 were issued fo the holders of the Notes as
consideration upon settlement of the outstanding Notes at
their par value of HK$128,000,000 and the remaining portion
of HK$72,000,000 was issued for cash.

During the year ended 31st March, 2011, the New Notes
with principal amount of HKS$7,000,000 were converted
at conversion price of HK$0.3 per ordinary share and
the New Note with principal amount of HK$25,000,000
was repurchased at HK$24,000,000, resulting in a gain of
HK$2,331,000.

At 31st March, 2011, the principal amount of outstanding
Notes is HK$168,000,000 (2010: HK$200,000,000).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B ®w R MG

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 é]é_—t_ F——F= A=+—HIFEF

34. CONVERTIBLE NOTES PAYABLE (continuea) M. THEREBESREH)

R-ZZEZTLF+—A=-H AQRBITE
A {E200,000,000/% 7L 5B A] A AR 4% ([
%) ZERABTTEHE c EREEEZEA
A% ) 2 2 IR (B & B%0.7558 JT (7] F LA I 2
SRR (EBR UM A BERR —EF
JLEFBEIT AR R RIAL IR AT FI R A 5 A &
0618 » RAERRANEHRKEE 2 31T
MR D Rl — P FHEE12.208 7T &
41280 REBRTHHESZELH (8%
BREEERIPE _ZZAE+—HA =B
ﬁﬁtEl(@?EEZE!)BQ@F?F&%%ZEJ@Z%ZK
RNEZ B - NIELRIER - NQ R EIR
FIRZ100% AR THERASEERZE - E1
2 EBREFE E6.06% ZHEERZE
BB =—ZETNF+—A=-HB&E -

R-ZZEZANF+—HA=-H K AQARETE

T {E.200,000,000/8 Jo5/8 A # i =i ([ 312
Bl - FERBFFREMN—IK - IZRBEAE
JLRME - WIREEFE ALY SRR E TR
0.50% 70 (Al FIARESEFARE) RIT R BT
BHEELH (BFEZB) EE2EEHE =
E——F+—-—A_HrE+tHE(BFZA)
EEIMBER S 2 E R AR AT 2 R o
EEBHEE . AN T ——F+— A=
BIREARITHEARES T Z100%8E R - KAFH
EREMEELAFEARE ZBREBRNE
& - B a0 2 BERFEFEF11.52% °

#8754 %8128,000,000/8 7 Z FT R IEE 1T T
%E?Fhﬁ/\ A BA Ut 1 A 32 TE {E 128,000,000
BLTEBHATEEZEEZRE  E&%
72,000,000/% 7T Al B BUIR & i 21T ©

HE-Z——F=A=+—BIEEN " %
7K 887,000,000/ 70 2 ¥ R B & R TR
0.3/ JT 3,38 1 7N 4 §825,000,000/8 7T 2 #HT =
& T4 A 24,000,00078 JTBE [E - (& M 2 A W e
2,331,000/ JT °

RZEBE——F=ZA=+—"H XEBEEEZ
7K 4 %8 /3168,000,00056 7T (—Z T — T 4 :
200,000,000/ 7T ) °
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The following table summarises the major deferred tax
liabilities (assets) recognised and movements thereon
during the current and prior years:

5. EEBIEBEF

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MW R M

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 éé_—::_ F——F= A=+—HIFF
35. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

E LM AR A H

Z'KE'EF&D}\?EEFEEEWUZIKLL%RIE\E\

B(EE) AREBEZSHHINMTX

Accelerated
tax Revaluation Tax

depreciation of properties losses Total

i
HEHE B HEER st
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Af 1st April, 2009 (originally stated) ZETNEN H H (FR51)) 2,517 7,215 (1,628) 8,104

Effect of changes in accounting policies = quE KEB Y

(note 3) L) - 7,482 - 7,482
At Tst April, 2009 (restated) RZZTNEMA—R (KE5]) 2,517 14,697 (1,628) 15,586
(Credit) charge to profit or loss i b G PNE] (663) 5110 235 4,682
Credit fo other comprehensive income REMEEABAGA - 9,602 - 9,602
At 31st March, 2010 RZE-ZF=A=+—-A 1,854 29,409 (1,393) 29,870
Charge (credit) to profif or loss REZME GEA) 648 2,136 (648) 2,136
Credit to other comprehensive income REM2ERAGA - 6,451 - 6,451
At 31st March, 2011 —$=A=+—H 2,502 37,996 (2.041) 38,457

At 31st March, 2011, the Group has unused fax losses
of HK$573,733,000 (2010: HK$533,230,000) available for
offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of HK$12,370,000 (2010:
HK$8,442,000) of such losses. No deferred tax asset in
respect of the remaining tax losses of HK$561,363,000
(2010: HK$524,788,000) has been recognised due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. Tax losses may be
carried forward indefinitely.
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RZTB——F=F=+—0 XEEERH

573,733,000 ¢ (—F —

T4 : 533,230,000

7B TL) Z R E) B IR &5 18 R A DA 85 R 2R

i A

o AN £ B & i H F112,370,0005 7T (=

T — T4 8,442,000/ 7T) HER IR LT B E

E - IR RAEE

W TE R 3% A FOR aézjzéﬂi
L E B H1 T8 E5 18561,363,0007 7T (—

—=

£F : 524,788,000/ 7T, EEW WJRIEQF

750 75 5 18 ] 45 R A 45 4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31st March, 2011 é?é_—t_ F——F= A=+—HIFEF

36. SHARE CAPITAL 36. R
Number of shares Value
RHEE EE
HKS$* 000
FAET
Authorised: SERE
At 1st April, 2009, ordinary shares E’LEEHE mA—H
of HK$0.10 each HRREEC10B T2 EER 10,280,000,000 1,028,000
Capital reorganisation (Note (a) below) HMXE,%H (TFXHiE () 92,520,000,000
At 31st March, 2010 and RZZE—ZFF=H=1+—H
31st March, 2011, ordinary rF—F——%F=ZA=+—H"
shares of HK$0.01 each EREE.0E L ZEBR 102,800,000,000 1,028,000
Issued and fully paid: BEEITEHTE
At Tst April, 2009, ordinary shares RZZEZNFMNA—A -
of HK$0.10 each FRMEE0.10/8 T2 T imhk 2,694,612,436 269,461
Capital reorganisation (Notfe (a) below) MAREMHR (T XA (a)) (2.559,881,815) (268,114)
Exercise of warrants (Note (b) below) TR RRIERE (T XAt b)) 13,098 =
Issue of rights shares (Notfe (c) below) BATHRR G (FXH () 538,951,624 5,390
Placement of shares (Note (d) below) Be & AR (T XA i () 80,000,000 800
At 31st March, 2010, ordinary shares R-_ZE—ZFTF=A=+—H"
of HK$0.01 each FRmEE.0E L ZEBR 753,695,343 7,537
Conversion of convertible notes A R E iR
(Note (e) below) (TFXHiEc)) 23,333,333 233
At 31st March, 2011, R—ZE——&F=H=+—8 "
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each EREEC.0ELZ EBR 777,028,676 7,770
Notes: Ve
(@) On 3rd April, 2009, the reorganisation of the share capital (@) —ZEZAFWA=H " AR —ETNE

(the “Capital Reorganisation”) proposed by the Company
in February 2009 became effective after the approval by
the shareholders. The Capital Reorganisation involved the
following:

(i) every twenty issued shares of HK$0.10 each was 0}
consolidated (the “"Share Consolidation”) into one
consolidated share of HK$2.00 (the “Consolidated
Share”);

—RAgEETZR ZJSEZH(FHXZKEZHJ)Z‘“
PRERHEAEIR AR - IRAEA S MIA T :

F-+RESREEI0E T2 EHTR
BmEHF(’RDEH]) B—REE200
BTz ARG [A05m))

(i) the total number of the Consolidated Shares in the iy AATDBTERAGEGFRNDEHR

issued share capital of the Company following the Share
Consolidation was rounded down to a whole number by
cancelling the fractional Consolidated Share arising from
the Share Consolidation;

RDEHEEBBIERNEHEE
ZEHA PR TR E

(i) the paid-up capital of each Consolidated Share was iy ERAGFRN 2B REBRAT H2.00/5

reduced from HK$2.00 to HK$0.01 by cancelling HK$1.99
(the "Capital Reduction”) so as to form a reorganised
share of HK$0.01 (the “Reorganised Share”);

TORE0.01ETT - AR A998 T
([ AEIR 1) - B2 E{E0.017 7T
ZREEARD ([EREAERMD])
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MW R M

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 éé_—;:_ F——F= A=+—HIFF

36. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(@)

(®)

©)

(&)

O]

(continued)

(iv) each of the authorised but unissued shares of HK$0.10
was subdivided into ten Reorganised Shares of HK$0.01
each; and

(v) the credit arising in the share capital of the Company
from the Capital Reduction of HK$268,114,000 was
credited to the confributed surplus account of the
Company and the directors were authorised to apply
such amount in any manner permitted by the laws of
Bermuda and the bye-laws of the Company and to
distribute such amount out of the contributed surplus
of the Company from fime to time, without the need for
further authorisation from the shareholders.

Immediately after the Capital Reorganisation and the Capital
Reduction, the number of issued share of the Company
reduced to 134,730,621 Reorganised Shares of HK$0.01 each
and the paid-up capital reduced to HK$1,347,306.21.

13,098 ordinary shares of the Company of HK$0.01 each were
issued upon the exercise of 145,700 warrants on 22nd April,
2009 at an exercise price of HK$4.40 per share and the exercise
of 116,260 warrants from 14th October, 2009 to 4th November,
2009 at an exercise price of HK$1.466 per share.

On 22nd May, 2009, 538,951,624 ordinary shares of the
Company of HK$0.01 each were issued on the basis of four
rights shares for every Reorganised Share held (the "Rights
Issue”) at a subscription price of HK$0.20 per share. The net
proceeds of approximately HK$104 million was used as general
working capital of the Group. Further details of the Rights Issue
were set out in the announcement of the Company dated 17th
March, 2009.

On 15th June, 2009, 80,000,000 new ordinary shares of HK$0.01
each were issued at HKS$0.75 per share pursuant to a placing
and underwriting agreement dated 9th June, 2009 entered into
between the Company and a placing agent. The net proceeds
of HK$58.2 million was used as general working capital for the
Group. Further details of the aforesaid placing of shares were
set out in the announcement of the Company dated 10th
June, 2009.

23,333,333 ordinary shares of HK$S0.01 each were issued upon
the conversion of the New Notes with an aggregate principal
amount of HK$7,000,000 on 17th December, 2010 and 28th
December, 2010, at a conversion price of HK$0.30 per share.
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36. A (4)
fE - ()

(@

®)

©

(@

©)

(%)

(v) ERMEEI0BITZATEBRETRG
EFAATIRERMEEVBIT LR
R 0 K

) BARBRRARRBRANESEZER
268,114,00078 7T ' B B AR R A E
BAHE MESCEREREARE

FERRARAZ ‘ﬁiﬂi,ﬂ\”fc%’ﬁ?z}?
X HRABERERTHEEAR
BEBERIELD /)Eﬁﬁ??%?aﬁxizﬁ*

ﬁil’i%Zﬁ'ﬁzz °

BRERAEHRRE  ARREHTROEE R
2%£134,730,621 R F IR FE{E0.01/B T2 L EAR
f&fn + e R IR BIRZE1,347,306.218 7T ©

R-BZNFOA -+ _HRITEESR
4,408 01716145,70010 RARHERE A REAR
—ZEEAFTA+THNBE_ZETNAF+—A
PO B3R 178 (B & M1 .46678 TT1T1E116,26017
R HERE - B 1713,0980% & IX EI{H0.0178 T
ZARNRIE A

—ETENFRAZ-F+ZH AR EELT
538,951,624 8 & IR E{E0.01/8 L 2 L A% -
EEATEHE RS AR &R AR A%
& (TEA% ) - REEE AEIR0.20% 7T ° AT
15 FRIB E 8 49104,000,0008 7T B FAIEAREE
—ﬂxéﬁ’éé HR 2 E—PERDETIR
RARABR-_BETZNF=F++tB 2 M-

—EZAFEANA+TEB  REBEARRQFEE
EREFMIZBHA-ZZSZTNFENANA
2 B & K& B8 1 s T 1% & RR0.7578 T 3 1T
80,000,000(% & % M {80.0178 jT 2 #1 & @
B% o Ff 15 3K 78 % 58 #958,200,00078 JT E A 1
AEE— ﬁ“**@éi inﬁaﬁﬂﬁﬂﬁmtf
TERBEERIRARFTR=ZZEZNLFESA+
/N

RZZE—ZEF+_A+EAR=ZZT—TF
+7)E]7+)\E| Iﬁﬁ,.ub\ﬁiﬁéimoo,ooo
BILZ M E 4 - 5£1723,333,333 B R E (E
0.0 T2 EiliR - MREREHR0.30ETT ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31st March, 2011 &2 =F——4#=H=+—HIF F/E

36. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

37.

Warrants

All the unexercised bonus warrants issued during the year
ended 31st March, 2009 had expired on 4th November,
2009.

SHARE OPTIONS

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “ITC
Scheme”) on 16th January, 2002 (the “Adoption Date”)
(which was amended on 19th September, 2007) for the
purpose of providing incentive or reward to eligible persons
for their confribution to, and continuing efforts fo promote
the interests of, the Company. The board of directors of
the Company may in its absolute discretion, subject to
the terms of the ITC Scheme, grant options to, inter alia,
employees and directors of the Company, the controlling
shareholder of the Company and invested entity and their
respective subsidiaries, supplier, adviser, agent, consultant,
or contractor for the provision of goods or services fo
any member of the Group or any invested entity and its
subsidiaries and any vendor, customer or celebrity of
any member of the Group or any invested entity and its
subsidiaries, any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to any member
of the Group, and any shareholder of any member of the
Group or any invested entity and its subsidiaries or any
holder of any securities issued by any member of the Group
or any invested entity and its subsidiaries.

At the time of adoption by the Company of the ITC
Scheme, the aggregate number of shares which may
be issued upon the exercise of all options fo be granted
by the Company under the ITC Scheme and any other
share option scheme(s) adopted by the Company must
not exceed 10% of the total number of issued shares of
the Company as at the date of shareholders’ approval
of the ITC Scheme. By ordinary resolution passed at the
Company’s annual general meeting on 28th September,
2010 relating to the refreshing of the scheme limit on grant
of options under the ITC Scheme and any other share
option scheme(s) of the Company, the scheme limit on
grant of options was refreshed to 75,369,534 shares of the
Company. As at the date of this report, the total number
of shares available for issue under the ITC Scheme is
75,369,534 shares, which represented approximately 9.7%
of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date
of this report. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the maximum
number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under
the ITC Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of
the Company must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the
total number of issued shares of the Company from fime to
fime.

36. A ()

37.

RARER

BHE_TTNAF=A=+—HILEFEETK
TRZANRREZEN_ZEZNF+—A
/0B EIH -

i I M

AABAR_ZZ_F—A+B(HEHAKA
Hi]) i — TR ST 8 ([ X BERE
AEDERZZEZTLFAATNARER)
EERMIABBEERALTHARARRZE
BIRTE SN AARRARERMNE - ARAFE
e ERENCEBRE B ZERT -
AeRNESERER T (HPEE) XA
A ARBERRR  REEBINEER
ZHBRARIZEERES  AAKEEMK
BRANEMREERREMBRRRMHTE
mek RIS (A IE T - A~ UEE - BM
FABE A EBERNKE QR HERMRE
ERNEMBARZEMNRE BEXEA
At AARKEEAKE A BREH - %
RAEMBMRIEZEMALRER KA
SEEMKERARIHEAREERIENE
RNAE AR A A EBERAK B R FHE
MIREEBREANBARETZEMEZESZ
EAFEA

RABIRERNEEDEBRET SR - BRI
AR E R A AR R 2 1A
HMBEREFERNARFTRE 22
ARBERE AT BE G T BT 2 R0+ &= BB
4R E8 ] R i A% R AL A (b ZE RE AR A AT
EAARRBZEBITIROBE 210% - RIE
RZE—ZFFNA -+ N\BEARAIKERE
FREe BB EEAENMBEEFECERER
REFTE| R AR R 2 (E A E b B AR R T B
BRENTERBz TR RAZE  BRHER
12 ET IR R T LA E #1 £75,369,534/% R A
AIRR D o RARE BH - RIREF DTS
A] 31T 2 1D A8 B 5575,369,534% A% 17 + 48
ERANRE APA QR 2 BBEITRABELY
9.7% o BE WL - BIFErFE P EBRERTE
KRR B 2 A E A B AR A 815 M i R AT
2 2R ARITEBIREW TR T8
Tzikh  AEERHEBEAAUBALAA
A TR EEITIRM RS 230% -
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37. SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 37. Eﬁﬂﬁ*g (%)

Unless approved by the shareholders of the Company
in general meeting, the total number of shares of the
Company issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted and to be granted (whether exercised,
cancelled or outstanding) under the ITC Scheme and
any other share option scheme(s) of the Company to
any eligible person in any 12-month period expiring on
the date of offer shall not exceed 1% of the total number
of the Company’s shares in issue from time fo time.
Options granted to a substantial shareholder and/or an
independent non-executive director of the Company or
any of their respective associates (as defined in the Listing
Rules) in any 12-month period in excess of 0.1% of the total
number of shares of the Company in issue and have an
aggregate value exceeding HKS5 million must be approved
by the shareholders of the Company in general meeting in
advance.

The period within which the options may be exercised will
be determined by the directors of the Company at the
fime of grant. This period must expire in any event not later
than the last day of the ten year period after the Adoption
Date. The ITC Scheme does not provide for any minimum
period for which an option must be held before it can be
exercised. Options may be granted at an initial payment
of HK$1.00 for each acceptance of grant of option(s). The
directors of the Company shall specify a date, being a date
not later than 30 days after (i) the date on which the offer of
the options is issued, or (ii) the date on which the conditions
for the offer are satisfied, by which the eligible person must
accept the offer or be deemed to have declined it.

The exercise price of the options will be determined by
the directors of the Company (subject to adjustments as
provided in the rules of the ITC Scheme) which shall not be
lower than the nominal value of the shares of the Company
and shall be at least the higher of (i) the closing price of the
shares of the Company as stated in the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of the offer,
which must be a business day; and (ii) the average of the
closing prices of the shares of the Company as stated in the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of the
offer.

Subject to early termination in accordance with the
provisions of ITC Scheme, the ITC Scheme is valid and
effective for a period of ten years commencing after the
Adoption Date, after which period no further options shall
be granted.
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37. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

Details of the movements in the share options of the
Company granted under the ITC Scheme during the year
are as follows:

37.

Bk E)

FARBEECEBREFBMRLZAR
AEREZESFENT

Number of shares of the Company fo be
issued upon exercise of the share options

Exercise RTERREMR TR 2ANRRAHE
price Cancelled Cancelled
per share  Outstanding orlopsed  Outstanding  Reclossified orlopsed  Outstanding
Category of Date Exercisable  (subject fo at during at during during at
participants of grant  Vesting date period  adjustments) 142009 Adjustment the year 31.3.2010 the year the year 31.3.2011
250 REA®  BRAS® UAREE  SRRE W-3ENE 3 W=%--%
kR BA-H ER%¥ ZR=t-A RER RER =ZA=t-A
(AFNEE)  HAOR B EE  EROR ENAR EEEAN HAGR
(Nofe 7) (Nofes 26 3) (Nofe §)
hit1) (Hietoks) (Hizs)
HKS
AT
Directors 28.3.2008 2832008 28.3.2008 - 151 96,400,000 (81,699,000) - 14,701,000 - (14,701,000 -
g% 2232011
Employees 28.3.2008 2832008 28.3.2008 - 151 25200000 (21,357,000) (686,250) 3,156,750 (305,000)  (2.851,750) -
k& 2732011 (Note 4)
(hite)
Other parficipants 28.3.2008 2832008 28.3.2008 - 151 76,000,000 (64.410,000) - 11,590,000 305,000 (11,895,000 -
A% 23201
197,600,000 (167,466,000) (686,250) 29,447,750 - (29.447,750) -
Notes: Hiat -
1. The exercise price of share options of the Company was 1. I"ﬁ_laﬁ HEA-_Z—ZTFNA+BAR

adjusted from HK$2.52 per share to HKS1.51 per share with
effect from 22nd October, 2010 due to the distribution of
the contributed surplus of the Company as disclosed in the
Company’s announcement dafted 16th August, 2010.

The exercise price per share changed from HK$0.385 to HK$7.7
and the number of shares of the Company to be issued upon
exercise of share options were adjusted with effect from 2nd
April, 2009 due to the Capital Reorganization completed in
April 2009.

The exercise price per share changed from HKS$7.7 to HK$2.52
and the number of shares of the Company fo be issued
upon exercise of share options were adjusted with retroactive
effect from 29th April, 2009, being commencement of the day
next following the record date of the Rights Issue, due fo the
Rights Issue completed in May 2009. Such adjustments were
announced on 19th May, 2009.

Out of 686,250 share options lapsed during the year ended
31st March, 2010, 457,500 share options were adjusted
from 150,000 share options, as a result of the Rights Issue as
mentioned in Note 3 above, which lapsed on 18th May, 2009.

Reclassify certain option holder(s) from the categories of
employee(s) to other participant(s).

ZREMPEARAARBERAGBZ DR AN

Tzﬁﬁﬂxﬁéh@ifﬁmtﬂxﬂxﬁz 5278 T
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—+—HEERK -

AER=ZZZNFMAZKBRAEA  SLER
hﬁzﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁm@mmwémim%
TRBETERRENS TEITZAR
T%Efﬁﬁﬂﬁ H-_ETAFMA= Elﬁ_
H

AR—_ZTNFAATRER  SRERERHD
Zfﬂifﬂ‘ﬁﬁm%aﬂzﬁ&ﬁézs?}%ﬁ&
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HEMELAZ  BPEH-_ZTTNFHA
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BAN - ZERBER-_EEAETA A
=N
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38.

39.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital fo ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to confinue as a going concern
while maximising the return to owners of the Company
through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior
year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt,
which includes the bank borrowings and convertible notes
payable as disclosed in notes 32 and 34, respectively, net
of cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital,
accumulated profits and other reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a regular basis. As part of this review, the directors
consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with
each class of capital. The Group will balance its overall
capital structure through the payment of dividends and
new share issues as well as the issue of new debt or the
redemption of existing debt.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of financial instruments

38

39.

EXERER

AEBEREELR  BEBRAEHERR
SEEE  UEBRBLLEBRERERRA
NEEE NG REARIR - NEE 2 EER
BEEEFUNR—ERFIE -

AEBZEARBRIFFES (BFD B
R EE32%34 2 SR1T & 73X & AT A AR 2 4 e )
FIE) KRR RESEEEE RAAA
HEARMGEZR  EREEEEITRA . 2
F1om A R B b fE 4 o

ADFE BT BB AR - (E BRI 2
—H5 - EREEEEENERERAN
BRK - AEEEEBL N RS REITHB
REBTHEHAMEORGES - FEHRE
AR -

E@IT A
(o) ERMTESE

31.3.2011 31.3.2010 1.4.2009
—E——F —ET-TF —EENEF
=A=+—-H =A=+—H mA—H
HK$’ 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
FETT FET FET
Financial assets ERMEE
Fair value through profit A EER
or loss (FVTPL) S E B DI AR
Held for trading BIEEE - 6.825 2,073
Conversion options Al R = B A
embedded in 2 YRR
convertible notes - 201 -
Derivative financial PTEeRT A
instruments - = 2,876
Loans and receivables B3 & W GRE
(including cash and (BREEE K
cash equivalents) ReFEMEIEARH) 97,799 570,801 459,437
Available-for-sale AIEHEIRE
investments 1,552 8.049 39,239
Financial liabilities SRIAE
Amortised cost DN 303,644 277,401 299,041
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(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s financial instruments include trade
and other debtors, loans receivable, short-term
bank deposits, bank balances and cash, amounts
due from (to) associates/related companies, debt
portion of convertible notes, conversion options
embedded in convertible notes, available-for-sale
investments, investments held for trading, derivative
financial instruments, frade and other creditors, bank
borrowings, bank overdrafts, loan from a director and
convertible notes payable. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in the respective notes. The
risks associated with these financial instruments and
the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out
below.

The management manages and monitors these
exposures tfo ensure appropriate measures are
implemented in a timely and effective manner. There
has been no significant change to the Group’s
exposure to market risks or the manner in which it
manages and measures the risk.

Market risks
(i) Currency risk

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying
amount of the Group’s net monetary assets
and advances fo foreign operations within the
Group denominated in currencies other than the
respective functional currencies of the relevant
group entities include HK$26,818,000 (2010:
HK$25,677,000) which denominated in Canadian
dollars ("CAD"). 5% is the sensitivity rate used
when reporting foreign currency risk internally
to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates.

On this basis, there will be a decrease/increase in
post-tax loss by HKS$1,120,000 for the year (2010:
HK$1,072,000) where CAD strengthens/weakens
against HKD by 5%. Management has closely
monitored foreign exchange exposure to mitigate
the foreign currency risk.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B ®w R MG

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 é?é_—t_ F——F= A=+—HIFEF

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 39. €@ T A (&)
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

39. ¢F T A (&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Market risks (continued)

(i)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk
in relation to fixed-rate debt element of convertible
notes and fixed-rate convertible notes payable
issued by the Group.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest
rate risk in relation to bank deposits and balances,
amounts due from associates, loans receivable,
bank borrowings, bank overdrafts and loan from
a director which are mainly arranged at floating
rates.

Management has employed a treasury team
to closely monitor interest rate movement and
manage the potential risk. The Group currently
does not have an interest rate hedging policy.
However, management monitors interest rate
change exposure and will consider hedging
significant interest rate change exposure should
the need arise.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on
financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk
management section of this note. The Group’s
cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated
on the fluctuation of the Best Lending Rate and
HIBOR arising from the Group’s HKD denominated
loans receivable, bank borrowings and amounts
due from associates.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Market risks (continued)

(i)

(iif)

Interest rate risk (continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for the
financial instruments except for interest-bearing
bank balances at the end of the reporting period
which carried floating market interest rate. The
analysis is prepared assuming the amount of
assets and liabilities outstanding at the end of the
reporting period was outfstanding for the whole
year. The directors of the Company consider
the Group’s exposure to interest-bearing bank
balances is not significant as those balances
are within short maturity period. A 50 basis point
increase or decrease is used when reporting
interest rate risk infernally to key management
personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in
interest rates.

If interest rate is 50 basis points (2010: 50 basis
points) higher/lower and all other variables are
held constant, the Group’s post-tax loss for the
year will be increased/decreased by HK$447,000
(2010: HK$25,000).

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through
the Group’s available-for-sale investments,
investments held for trading, derivative financial
instruments and conversion options embedded in
convertible notes. Management closely monitors
the exposure to price risk. The Group’s equity price
risk is mainly concentrated on equity instruments
quoted on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

The conversion options embedded in convertible
notes held by the Group is required to be
recognised at fair value at the end of the
reporting period. Changes in fair value are
recognised in profit or loss as long as the
convertible notes are outstanding. The fair
value change will be affected either positively
or negatively, amongst others, by the changes
in share price volatility of the convertible notes
issuer.

39. ¢F T A (&)

(b)) SREAKEEREBEERNKE (&)
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)
Market risks (continued)

(iii) Other price risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses on available-for-sale
investments and investments at FVTPL set out
as below have been determined based on the
exposure to the equity price risks of listed securities
or underlying quoted/listed securities at the end of
the reporting period.

If the prices of the respective equity instruments
are 5% (2010: 5%) higher/lower and all other
variables are held constant:

. the Group’s post-tax loss for the year will
remain unchange (2010: decrease/increase
by HK$285,000) as a result of the changes in
fair value of investments held for trading and
derivative financial instruments for the year
ended 31st March, 2011; and

0 investment revaluation reserve will be
increased/decreased by HK$78,000 (2010:
HK$402,000) as a result of charges in fair
value of available-for-sale investments.

The sensitivity analysis on conversion options
embedded in convertible notes set out as below
have been determined based on the exposure to
the change of share price of the convertible notes
issuers at the end of the reporting period with
other variable remained constant.

If the share prices of those convertible notes
issuers are 5% (2010: 5%) higher/lower and
all other variables are held constant, the
Group’s post-tax loss for the year will have
negligible change (2010: decrease/increase by
HK$1,117,000), as a result of changes in fair value
of conversion option embedded in the convertible
notes.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)
Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the
event of the counterparties’ failure to discharge
their obligations as at 31st March, 2011 in relation
to each class of recognised financial assets are
the amounts stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position. In order to minimise the credit
risk, management of the Group has determined
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is faken fo
recover overdue debfts. In addifion, the Group reviews
the recoverable amount of each individual trade and
loan debtor and convertible notes receivable at the
end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.
In this regard, the directors of the Company consider
that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group has significant concentration of credit risk
on loans receivable and convertible notes receivable
issued by an associate, amounting to approximately
HKS$27 million and HK$56 million, respectively. As
the debtors or issuers of the convertible notes have
good payment record in the past, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk to these
counterparties is not significant. Other than that, the
Group has no significant concentration of credit risk.

The credit risk on liquid fund is limited because
the counterparties are banks and other financial
institutions with high credit ratings. The Group does not
have significant concentration of credit risk on liquid
fund.

39. M I A (&)
(b) 2REAKREEEERKE (£)

EEmRE

RZZE——F=A=+—H X&EEE
RGNAEBTEEEERT FE%
HERREREEZZANEERRAR
m/\ﬁﬁ‘%ﬂﬁﬂiifﬂéﬁﬁééz,ﬁﬁ@
B "REEREEEAR AKEERE
BEEEEERE Efﬁ%%ﬁt&ﬁi\ﬁﬁ%
B FEORTLIE BB HIR SUEREUER
Eit o BRI ARBERRERNREZ
BHE TP RIEA R AR R B & YR
Z‘Mﬁz@ KEE - ECRBLORBEUR B 2 5RIA
EHIRERENE - UtmE - AAF
LEZRR/AKEZEERBRE ANRERE
i

rEBZEERRRESERRERER
& — F'ﬁ"m”‘ﬂﬁﬁ%éé T2 ] R E R
FE UL FRIE 9 Bl 4 427,000,000/ 7T &
56,000,0005%75 o HRRETS A Bk A AR
ZRBEITARBES RFAREE - &
RAEERANEEERZ H 2 EER
BRI REK o Bwtu&\vz}i%@Iﬁﬁi
AEFZEERR °

EEEA*‘%ﬁEEﬁHQEuJ?i&ZfEﬁ&
HMSpgE  wRiEc2E=EER
ﬁﬁ?‘( AEER //\L@Jﬁilﬁiﬁi‘?

ER=gE
I:l/\

uuo

ANNUAL REPORT 2011 £ E R &



ITC CORPORATION LIMITED # ¥ 4 % 4% W # B 2 #
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MK mRME

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 éé_—;:_ F——F= A=+—HIFF

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 39. €@ T A (&)

(b) cREAKREEBEREE (&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)
Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by management to
finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows. Management
monitors the ufilisation of borrowings and ensures
compliance with loan covenants.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements,
the directors of the Company have given careful
consideration to the future liquidity and going concern
of the Group’s in light of the Group’s current liabilities
exceed its current assets by HK$169,382,000 at 31st
March, 2011. The directors of the Company are
satisfied that the Group will have sufficient financial
resources to meet its financial obligations as they
fall due for the foreseeable future, after taking into
consideration that there are available borrowing
facilities and the future plan of the Group and that
there are assets available to pledge for obtaining
further banking facilities.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities based
on the agreed repayable terms. The table has been
drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
non-derivative financial liabilities based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to pay. The
table includes both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at
the end of the reporting period.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 39. €@ T A (&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(b)) SREAKEEREBEERNKE (&)

129

(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) TEESERE (Z)
Liquidity tables BB K
Weighted Total
average Less than 3 months undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 3 months to 1 year 1-5years  cash flows amount
mEFH =i A RURRS
FlE SR=fA E-f -BRf REAE REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
Al FET FET FEn FEn FET
2011 —E--F
Non-derivative financial ETEERERE
liabilities
Creditors FEfT IR - 5,126 - - 5,126 5126
Amounts due fo associates ENBENRZE - 526 - - 5% 526
Loan from a director A—-ZEZER 5.00 - 48,419 - 48,419 46113
Bank overdraffs BITEY 5.00 42,979 - - 42,979 42,790
Bank borrowings - variablerate  $F4TfE 7 —F &)X 0.79 97 5,542 43,208 48,847 47,500
Convertible notes payable MARERERE 5.00 2,100 170,800 - 172,900 161,589
50,828 224,761 43,208 318,797 303,644
2010 —B-B%
Non-derivative financial FEERER
liabilities
Creditors e IR - 5,244 - - 5,244 5,244
Amounts due fo associates EREBAARZE = 941 = = 941 941
Bank overdraffs BITEY 381 38,147 - - 38,147 37,974
Bank borrowings - varioble-rate  SR{TEF—FEF = 0.69 91 5,522 48,569 54,182 52,750
Convertible notes payable MHRREEE A 5.00 2,500 7,500 205,833 215,833 180,492
46,923 13,022 254,402 314,347 277,401
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ITC CORPORATION LIMITED #£ # £ % % M & R 2 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BB WK M

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 &2 —=F——4F=H=+—HIF F/&E

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 39. €@ T A (&)

(c) Fair value

(c) A¥EHE

The fair value of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities are determined as follows:

c the fair value of financial assets (including
derivative instruments in note 26) with standard
terms and condifions and fraded on active liquid
markets is determined with reference to quoted
market bid prices;

. the fair value of the debt portion of convertible
notes and the conversion options embedded
in convertible notes are determined based
on discounted cash flow analysis using the
applicable yield curve for the duration of
the instruments and option pricing models,
respectively;

. the fair value of available-for-sale investment is
determined by reference to the valuation provided
by the counterparty financial institution, which is
determined based on inputs such as share price
of listed equity securities of the fund; and

o the fair value of other financial assets and
financial liabilities (excluding derivative
instruments) is determined in accordance with
generally accepted pricing models based on
discounted cash flow analysis.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of
the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated
financial statements approximate their fair values.

Fair value measurements recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position

The following table provides an analysis of financial
instrument that is measured subsequent to initial
recognition at fair value, grouped into Level 1 fo
3 based on the degree to which the fair value is
observable.
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BATHAERE :

- ABBREGRRREGLARER
BUETBERIZEBMEE (B
d2Z fTHETHR) - EAFEER
BHIEREETE

- ATMEEBRERSDRABRRE
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- AHHEERBEZQFEEDNZE
REZHGFEMBBAEHRZAEE
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TETR) ZAFEEIERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B WK M

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 #tZ=F——4F=H=+—HIFF/E
39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c) Fair value (contfinued)

. Level 1: fair value measurements are those derived
from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market
for identical assets or liabilities.

° Level 2: fair value measurements are those derived
from inputs other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly
(i.e. derived from prices).

. Level 3: fair value measurements are those derived
from valuation techniques that include inputs
for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (unobservable inputs).

39. ¢F T A (&)

(c) DEEEE)

- B RTFEEFERENER
mETHREMEEXBBE IR
BOREHRE) -

- 2 ATFEEERAR B
FIRBENBREN IBREZE
EdaEEE (AMER) M (A
KERNER) @A -

- B3R ATEFERANLIFR
BABEmSRECGEBRE 2
AN ZEEXEBEBANGEER

I5 o

As at 31st March, 2011

R-ZB——%=A=+-H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E1 E2M 3 mat
HKS’ 000 HKS$’ 000 HKS’ 000 HKS$’ 000
FET FET FET FAET
Available-for-sale financial assets A EL R EE
Unlisted equity securities FELEMBRAES - 1,552 - 1,552
As at 31st March, 2010
RZE-—ZF=A=1+—H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FE14 EPE EIM BEr
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
FET FET FET FET
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEEFAELZ
ZEMEE
Conversion options embedded Al 42 IR =R B A
in convertible notes 2 R - - 201 201
Investments held for trading BIEEERE 6,825 - = 6,825
Available-for-sale financial assets A ELREE
Unlisted equity securities ELEMBRAES o 8,049 - 8,049
Total et 6,825 8,049 201 15,075
There were no transfer between Level 1 and Level 2 in NEERN @ WENE1REFR 7 EHETE
the current year. 2 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BB WK K E

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 #Z2—=F——4F=H=+—HIFF/E

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 39. €@ T A (&)

(c) Fair value (continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of
financial asset

(c) DEEEE)
EHEENFEIRA-FEETEN AL

Conversion options

embedded in

convertible notes

ARREE

Mt 7 2 AR HE

HKS 000

TET

At 1st April, 2009 RZZEZNFMA—H -

On initial recognition B IRHER 1,873
Loss for the year recognised RIEERERZAFE

in profit or loss (Note) B8 (K7 a2) (1,672)

At 31st March, 2010 R-ZE—ZFF=HA=+—H 201
Loss for the year recognised RERPERZANFE

in profit or loss (Note) &8 (f1iF) (201)

At 31st March, 2011 MNZE——F=H=+—H -

Note: During the year ended 31st March, 2010, the entire gains
or losses for the year included in profit or loss, related to
the conversion opfions embedded in convertible notes
held at the end of the reporting period.

During the year ended 31st March, 2011, HK$76,000 loss
for the year relates to the conversion options embedded
in convertible notes held at the end of the reporting
period. The amount is presented in "Net gains and losses
on financial instruments”.

Another loss of HK$125,000 relates to the repurchase of
the Rosedale Notes. The amount is presented as part of
"Gain on convertible notes” in *Net gains and losses on
financial instruments”.
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M BE-F-FE=A=+-AL&

B 2Rt ABSER 2 AFEKmES
B8 - BRIRE BRI A AR IR R M
mZIAEAR -

R-ZB——F=A=+—HItEE -
N 4F [£76,000/8 JT /65 18 B3R 5 B R 45
BRI EENAE 2 RRESR @ %
SR/ T A2 et M EEFE]
RE7 o

5 —%125,0007% JT 2 /518 B2 B8 0] 37
BEEER ZeER¢MITAY
s & B 18 H 58 | 2 300 [ AT R R 22 4%
ek |27 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B WK M

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 &2 =F——4#=H=+—HIFF/E

40. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

41.

During the year ended 31st March, 2011, the Group
distributed 700,936,289 Hanny shares and recognised
an impairment loss on an associate upon and after
reclassification as held for distribution to shareholders and
gain on derecognition of the associate of HK$829,897,000
on 11th November, 2010.

As detailed in note 36, the Group issued 23,333,333 shares
upon the conversion of the New Notes in an aggregate
principal amount of HK$7,000,000 to the holders of the New
Noftes.

During the year ended 31st March, 2010, the Group
subscribed for rights shares of an associate in proportion
to its shareholding by the capitalisation of HK$23,000,000 of
the amounts due from the associate.

As detailed in note 34, during the year ended 31st March,
2010, the Group issued New Notes in an aggregate
principal amount of HK$128,000,000 to the holders of the
Notes as consideration upon settlement of the outstanding
Noftes.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group operates a defined contribution scheme which
is registered under the Occupational Retirement Scheme
Ordinance for qualifying employees. The assets of the
scheme is separately held in funds under the control of
frustees.

The cost charged to profit or loss represents contributions
paid and payable to the funds by the Group at rates
specified in the rules of the schemes. Where there are
employees who leave the schemes prior fo vesting fully in
the confributions, the contributions payable by the Group
are reduced by the amount of forfeited contributions.

At the end of the reporting period, there were no significant
forfeited contributions which arose upon employees
leaving the schemes prior to their interests in the Group's
contributions becoming fully vested and which are
available to reduce the contributions payable by the Group
in future years.

The Group also joined a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
("MPF Scheme”). The MPF Scheme is registered with the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance. The assets
of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in funds under the control of an independent trustee.
Under the rules of the MPF Scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions to
the MPF Scheme at rates specified in the rules. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the MPF Scheme is
tfo make the required confribufions under the MPF Scheme.
No forfeited contributions are available to reduce the
contributions payable in future years.

40. ERERERSH

41.

BE—_ZT——H=A=+—HILEE K&
[ 5 )K700,936,289% iR BT H WA —F —=F
F+— A+ BHER—BBEQRREHD
HABED R FIRRERER ZREEIEN
M 4% | FHEREL B 2 A A) 2 Wi 25829,897,00075
=

NP FE36PTIL - AEEN LIRBAREEE S
7.000,000/8 7t Z ¥T R B R AT R IEF B A%
1723,333,333[LfZ 17 -

BHE T ZF=A=1+—BHItFERN "
KEEFBE R EWE QR KA
23,000,000/ 7T * % H A% 4 b 1 52 B — el Bt
&N E MR G o

LB ES4FTM  EHE T —ZTF = A
=+—H  KREBEZEITHARZR £ 128,000,000
BLZHEBETEERFEA  EAEBER
BEZEZMRE-

R K48 R EF &

AEBREEREERACATREBMEER
WEHEIGRGEM 2 HRETEl - ZETEIZ B E
MEEAZGRZESBIRE

REBSEPEEZBRAARERZEE 2
BRAME 2L XN FESZ H5 - fER
FER] = A AN B 4R A Y 2 BB A 2 B AR %
Fit 8 ARBEEMNHAS IR R
& BB

RBEHR  YEBFABERREATZEAE
BERATH 2 AR R AR H X FRT I EL
2 BRI R Fe TR 5 [ 0 R SR F R
DRENER BRI -

AEBEREMARGIERERFE ([2ES
El) - BB RERBIE AR
ElRPIERHEATELEERER - ®ES
AEICEEBUNAKE CEE  ABUST
ARG ZESHE - RIFBESE 2R
Al BEREBHARBIZMRATHZLLE
A EIHR - AREAHRERE2ER
BERRBEBESTEFLIEE MR - B
Al I 48 B 8 OR U ik R (AR SR B0 A 1R B
R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31st March, 2011 &2 —F——F=H=+—HIF FE

42. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

On disposal of an associate in previous years, the Group
had given an indemnity tfo the purchaser relating to
unrecorded taxation liabilities, if any, and the affairs and
business of the associate up to the date of disposal.

43. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

(a) The Group as a lessee:

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of
rented premises, which fall due as follows:

42, FREE

ITC CORPORATION LIMITED #£ # £ % % M & R 2 7

RBEFEHE -—MBEQRE  A&EH
HARARRZBRBARB (WA RERELE
Rt EBREYR  METRERERS -

43 EXEBHO R

(o) AEEEREBEA :

RBEMKR - AEEETAIHEZ AR
HAYmEEEBN T ERARKREHR
SRIAAIE - WL FAEZ T

2011 2010

—E——fF —E—ZF

HK$’ 000 HKS 000

FHET FET

Within one year 428 855
In the second to fifth year inclusive S _-_ZFAF (HEEMFBRELENRN) 99 432
527 787

Leases are negotiated, and monthly rentals are fixed,
for an average term of two years (2010: two years).

(b) The Group as a lessor:

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
contracted with tenants for future minimum lease

payments which fall due as follows:

— B FHEMAF (CF—FF W)

REmENREEAM -

(b) AEBEERHEHAA :

RBERR - AEBEEE PR K&
EHEERIATH - XN

2011 2010

S —T-T%

HK$’ 000 HKS 000

FET FET

Within one year 841 3,689
In the second to fifth year inclusive S -_ZFHAF (BEEMFEBELENR) 1,757 2,492
2,598 6,181

The investment properties held
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have committed
tenants for the next two years (2010: two years).
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For the year ended 31st March, 2011 &2 =F——4#=H=+—HIFF/E

44. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At the end of the reporting period, the following assets
were pledged by the Group to secure banking and other
financing facilities:

44 EEEKH

RBERR - AKBDEMTIEE - AR
BRTIEMBEERE :

2011 2010

—E——F —E-ZF

HK$’ 000 HKS 000

FHET FET

(restated)

(& &E71)

Listed securities of associates Bt NAlz EmES - 175,068
Land and buildings T REF 230,000 196,480
Investment properties "EYE 83,000 70,500
313,000 442,048

45. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

After the end of the reporting period, the ITCP Repurchase
Offer as detailed in note 19 has become unconditional in
May 2011. The Group received the New ITCP Notes with
principal amount of HK$70,400,000.

A5 EHREE

SREBIRE - BB S 9F L - EREEERR
OEZENR_Z——FRAZEAERKH - K
&= B B W E| N4 %8 470,400,000 JT Z #iE
HHEZE o

46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 46. BEAETRF

During the year, the Group had transactions with the
following related parties, details of which are as follows:

ZHEBWT

FARAKEENTERAEALTETZIRS

Class of related party Nature of transactions 2011 2010
BEALTZEHR REME —EB——F —ET-EF
HK$’ 000 HKS 000
FET FET
Associates of the Group Rentals and related building management fee
REE 7B E R A charged by the Group 3,737 3,703
AEBKRREE REENEERE
Service fees charged by the Group 2,096 1,689
REEWRRSE
Interest income received and receivable
by the Group 24,948 39,993
72N 5 [ Y ER % e W) B A
A related party Acquisition of shares by the Group 175,726 =
of the Group W B8 7N &2 B Rk 1
NEE—ZEH AT
A director Interest expenses paid and payable by the Group 1,132 -
—BEF REEX N REMMEFRX
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31st March, 2011 &2 —F——F=H=+—HIF FE

46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 46. BEANET R F (#)

Compensation of key management personnel

Only the directors were considered to be the key
management personnel of the Group. The remuneration
of directors was disclosed in note 7. The remuneration of
directors is determined by the remuneration committee
having regard to the performance of individuals and market

EEBEEZHE

EREEWRREASE L ERERR - &

EZEHEMO R E7RHEE -

EEZMETD

MFMEE 2 E@ERABZRERTISE

ZMEE e

trends.
47. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY 47. EBARA 2 EER
2011 2010
—ZE——fF —E-FF
HKS’ 000 HKS’ 000
FETT FETT
Assets EE
Investments in subsidiaries B A RIRE - -
Other receivables B th i U 3R 230 194
Amounts due from subsidiaries I NGIE 2,033,745 2,823,623
Amount due from an associate JE U — R Bt 22 R B 5K I8 - 9
Bank balances and cash WITHGFTRIAS 36 120,328
2,034,011 2,944,154
Liabilities 8&
Other payables H A JE ~F 5RIE 7.219 7.476
Amount due to an associate FEA — Bt & A B 508 - 13
Bank overdrafts RITEX 9,940 9,988
Convertible notes payable A #a i% 245 P A 5B 161,589 180,492
178,748 197,969
1,855,263 2,746,185
Capital and reserves BARFEE
Share capital [N 7.770 7,537
Share premium and reserves B8 15 % (B &k 1,847,493 2,738,648
Total equity BiE 1,855,263 2,746,185
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For the year ended 31st March, 2011 &2 =F——4#=H=+—HIFF/E

48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 48. TEMB LR EH
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31st AR EEMBRARR_ZE——FR_F—
March, 2011 and 2010 are as follows: EE=A=+—HZHEBEWOT :

Percentage of

Issued and issued share capital/
Place of fully paid registered capital
incorporation/ share capital/ held by the attributable
Name of subsidiary registration registered capital Company to the Group
R/ BERTRME HERTRA /ZMEATIL Principal activities
MEDRERE B BRE/ZMHER HAARKE ZAEEEM TEXRH

2011 2010 2011 2010
% % % %

Directly owned
E#KR
All Combine Investments British Virgin Us$1 100 100 100 100 Investment holding
Limited Islands ordinary share REER
HERAHES 1ETERR
Great Intelligence Limited British Virgin Us$1 100 100 100 100 Investment holding
Islands ordinary share REER
HERAHES 1ETERR
Hero’s Way Resources British Virgin US$1 100 100 100 100 Investment holding
Ld. Islands ordinary share REER
HERAHES 1ETERR
[TC Development British Virgin US$15,000 100 100 100 100 Investment holding
Co. Limited Islands ordinary shares REER
RBRZHS 15000%TE AR
[TC Investment Holdings British Virgin US$1 100 100 100 100 Investment holding
Limited Islands ordinary share REER
HERAHES 1ETERR
[TC Management Group British Virgin Uss$2 100 100 100 100 Investment holding
Limited Islands ordinary shares REER
HERAHES ETERK
Large Scale Investments British Virgin Us$1 100 100 100 100 Investment holding
Limited Islands ordinary share REER

RBELEE XL E B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31st March, 2011 #Z2—=F——4F=H=+—HIFF/E

48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

48. T EME LB E R (#2)

Percentage of

Issued and issued share capital/
Place of fully paid registered capital
incorporation/ share capital/ held by the  attributable
Name of subsidiary registration registered capital Company to the Group Principal activities
Bt/ ERARARE HERTRE /EMELREI L
WEARERE 1 it B BRA/ZRER HAAREKE AKEEMS TEEHR
2011 2010 2011 2010
% % % %
Indirectly owned
BEEE
Burcon Group Limited Canada CAD1,000 100 100 100 100 Investment and
mex class A common property holding
shares RERMERE
1,000007C
AT B
Great Intelligence Holdings Hong Kong HK$2 100 100 100 100 Securities trading and
Limited N ordinary shares treasury investment
2B T EBR BAREEREBRE
Great Intelligence Limited Hong Kong HK$2 100 100 100 100 Property holding and
BB ordinary shares investment
2B LB NEBERRE
ITC Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$2 100 100 100 100 Provision of finance
EEEER AR BB ordinary shares RitEE
2B ERBR
[TC Management Limited Hong Kong HK$2 100 100 100 100 Provision of
EHCEERBRAR B ordinary shares management,
2B L EBR administration and

None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital subsisting at
the end of the year or at any time during the year.

All of the above subsidiaries are limited companies.

Other than Burcon Group Limited which operates in
Canada, all of the above subsidiaries have their principal
place of operations in Hong Kong.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results of the Group for the year or formed a substantial
porfion of the assets of the Group at the end of the year. To
give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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financial services and

tfreasury investment

REER  TH R
MBRBREBRE

RERBERKFRNERRE - ZHBRF
BECAEEER -

A LB AR RBRAF -

¥Burcon Group Limited?E il & A4 & 4h -
A LERMBARZ EBKEHEY AR
7 o
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EEABHIAR - EERA - FME M
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
Bt % W =

RESULTS
ey
Year ended 31st March,
BE=ZA=t—HLEE
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
HK$*000 HK$*000 HK$’000 HK$*000 HK$'000
(restated) (restated) (restated) (restated)
—ETLF ZTEENF ZTTNF ZTTF ZE——F
FET FHETT FHETT FHET FET
(& &:351)) (sEE=75) (gE=5) (gE=5)
Revenue A
- Continuing operations — B E T 244,060 155,699 46,453 59,014 36,102
- Discontinued operations — — 4% |F 48 & 2 7% 5177 2,547 = = -
249,237 158,246 46,453 59,014 36,102
Profit (loss) before taxation ki Bl F| (E518) 899,063 323,848 (718.120) (1.192)  (590.579)
Taxation TiIiE (8.695) (10.669) 2,894 (4.,682) (2.136)
Profit for the year from RIEREHERE 2
discontinued operations REE A 29 2 = = -
Profit (loss) for the year RERRN (BR) 890,397 313,181 (715,226) (5.874)  (592,715)
Attributable to: LA A FEfh
Owners of the Company ZAN/NSIEZ ZS N 843,446 251,398 (715,226) (5.874)  (592.715)
Non-conftrolling interests IEFE R R = 46,951 61,783 - - -
890,397 313,181 (715,226) (5.874)  (592.715)

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

EEREE
As at 31st March,
R=A=+—H
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$ 000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(restated) (restated) (restated) (restated)

—EELF —FENF —_FENF —FT-FTF —F--F

TETT TIET TrETT TET FET
(REZ) (BEH) (REF) (BEID

Total assets EERE 6,336,674 3,782,639 3,036,088 3,368,266 2,478,851
Total liabilities BE@EEE (1,942,595)  (322,011)  (319,934)  (315,038)  (349,058)
Shareholders’ funds fERE S 4,394,079 3,460,628 2,716,154 3,053,228 2,129,793
Attributable to: AT AL :

Owners of the Company /NI F =N 2,832,445 3,460,628 2,716,154 3,053,228 2,129,793

Convertible notes reserve —HB AR Z

of a subsidiary AR R IR 55,279 = = = -
Non-controlling interests FE 2 AR A 2 1,506,355 = = = -

4,394,079 3,460,628 2,716,154 3,053,228 2,129,793
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